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Chairman’s Statement

FFMGE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
OKG Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”), | would like to present to the shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) the annual report of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Year”).

The Year was full of challenges in which the Sino-US trade frictions had
led to tariff increase, exchange fluctuations, and triggered uncertainties
and instabilities to enterprise economic growth. And the outbreak of
novel coronavirus epidemic (COVID-19) thereafter had exposed industries
and trades worldwide to unprecedented challenges and risks. In Hong
Kong, social unrest has also affected the business of the Group in some
degree. Given such complex external environment, the Group adjusted
our corporate management policies, planned our business arrangements
rationally in line with the development trend of global financial technologies
and actively exploring new opportunities underlying the austere
conditions.

The Year was also full of opportunities in which the Group had focused on
a wide range of investment opportunities in information technologies and
financial technologies continuously, and benefited from the experience
of the OKC Corporation as our controlling shareholder in the industry.
During the Year, the Group has started to provide technical services
business and has made investments in the fields of digital and information
technology, realizing the implementation of the Company’s development
strategy in the field of information technology and financial technology,
with a view to bringing benefits to the Shareholders in the future. In order
to reflect the change of the controlling shareholder as well as the Group’s
business strategy and demonstrate a more suitable corporate image and
identity positioning, we have changed our dual foreign name in Chinese
and English name to “BIRIZ##12R AR A F)” and “OKG Technology
Holdings Limited”, respectively. The Group has also established multiple
subsidiaries to tap new opportunities in the fields of financial technology
and information technology on a global scale.
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The Group recorded a total revenue of approximately HK$570.3 million
for the Year, an increase of approximately 56.3% from HK$205.4 million
over the same period last year. Among them, foundation works and
ancillary services and construction wastes handling services all recorded
steady growth. Although competition in the construction industry has
continued to be fierce in recent years, construction costs have risen,
and labor supply shortages, the development of infrastructure has
received strong support from the government, so there are signs that the
demand for foundation works has rebounded. Under the Group’s active
business development policy, revenue has been able to maintain growth.
The revenue from the technical services segment was approximately
HK$24.5 million, accounting for 4.3% of the total revenue. The business
transformation of the Group has started.

In October 2019, at the 18th collective study, the Political Bureau of
the CPC Central Committee emphasized the use of blockchain as an
important breakthrough in independent innovation of core technologies. In
April 2020, at the national currency gold and silver and security working
video and telephone conference, the People’s Bank of China proposed
advancing the research and development of legal digital currency
unswervingly. In June 2020, the State Council released the Master Plan
for the Hainan Free Trade Port ( (R B BB AEHZE) ) (the “Plan’).
The Group believes that the Plan will facilitate the Hainan Free Trade
Zone to become a lowland benefited from policies and a highland for
institutional innovations in China’s blockchain industry. The Group pays
close attention to and continuously implements the guiding directions of
national policies, conforms to the economic development trend of the
blockchain industry, and ensures the stable and efficient development of
the Group.

During the Year, the Group strived to the development and application of
technologies underlying blockchain. OKLink Fintech Limited (‘OKLink”,
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) has launched a
blockchain explorer and USDK compliant stable coin business. In the
future, it will successively launch multi-dimensional statistics, analysis and
processing of blockchain data.
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Chairman's Statement

FRNGE

The operating website of OKLink oklink.com was officially launched in
2019. It is the first blockchain information service website of the world
created by listed blockchain big data company. In November 2019,
OKLink was awarded the “Hong Kong Rising Star” honour in the 2019
Hong Kong Technology Fast 20 (Hong Kong TF20) and Rising Star
Program organized by Deloitte, which fully recognized OKLink’s leading
position and tremendous development potential in sub-segment. OKLink
officially released and launched Ethereum blockchain explorer in 2020,
which indicates that OKLink has possessed strong blockchain data
processing and analysis capabilities for the public blockchain of account
model in addition to that of UTXO model. It maintains the consistently
accurate, timely and responsive features of OKLink blockchain explorer,
the Group’s products are highly competitive.

Looking ahead, the Group will steadily operate foundation works and
ancillary services and construction wastes handling services in the
Hong Kong market under the changing market environment. With
the continuous advancement of financial technology, the blockchain
industry will continue to grow, and have a board space for Its industry
development. The Group will maintain its technological leadership in
the blockchain industry. While continuing to explore the mainstream
digital currency explorer business model, it will actively participate in
the construction of the digital asset financial technology ecosystem.
The Group has achieved initial results in its business upgrading and
transformation in the financial technology industry and the blockchain
industry. In the future, the Group will continuously to explore new
opportunities in the fields of financial technology and information
technology based on Hong Kong'’s well-established and open capital
market, and provide the Shareholders with sustainable returns.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to our Shareholders, customers and business partners, and also extend
my heartfelt thanks to all our management and staff for their diligence and
valuable contributions for the Year.

Ren Yunan
Chairman
Hong Kong, China, 26 June 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of OKG Technology
Holdings Limited (formerly known as LEAP Holdings Group Limited, the
“Company’) is pleased to present to the shareholders the annual report
of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2020 (the “Year”).

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 7 January 2020, the name of the Company was changed
from “LEAP Holdings Group Limited” to “OKG Technology Holdings
Limited”. A Certificate of Incorporation on Change of Name was issued by
the Registrar of Companies in the Cayman Islands on 9 January 2020 (the
“Change of Company Name”).

To reflect the Change of Company Name, the stock short name for
trading of its shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) was changed from “LEAP HLDGS GP” to “OKG
TECH” in English and from “AT AR &£ E” to “BUEIZ#” in Chinese with
effect from 9:00 a.m. on 3 March 2020. The website of the Company also
was changed from www.leapholdings.hk to www.okg.com.hk.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s major sources of revenue were from foundation works and
ancillary services, construction wastes handling services, technology
services, money lending business and investments in securities. During
the Year, the Group has commenced the business in provision of
technology services in order to broaden the Group’s source of income.

During the Year, except for the commencement of technology services
business, the Group had no material changes in its business nature and
principal activities.

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services

The foundation works of the Group mainly included site formation works,
excavation and lateral support (“ELS”) works, piling construction, pile
caps or footing construction and reinforced concrete structure works and
ancillary services mainly included hoarding and demolition works and
lease of machinery.

During the Year, revenue from this segment amounted to approximately
HK$325.4 million, compared with approximately HK$258.2 million for the
year ended 31 March 2019, representing an increase of 26.0%. Such
increase was resulted from the increase in number of projects completed
and some new awarded projects started contributing revenue to the
Group during the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BRI i

BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Foundation Works and Ancillary Services
(continued)

Gross profit of this segment during the Year was approximately HK$15.9
million, which decreased approximately 40.7% as compared with
approximately HK$26.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2019. Gross
profit margin of this segment for the Year was approximately 4.9%,
representing a decrease of 5.5 percentage points from approximately that
of 10.4% for the year ended 31 March 2019. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the increase in subcontracting cost.

Construction Wastes Handling Services

The Group is mainly engaged in construction wastes handling services
including the management and operation of public fill reception facilities,
such as public fill banks and temporary construction waste sorting
facilities, for construction and demolition materials.

During the Year, revenue from this segment amounted to approximately
HK$224.7 million, which increased approximately HK$120.1 million
as compared with approximately HK$104.6 million for the year ended
31 March 2019. The increase was mainly due to the increase in revenue
from on-going projects during the Year.

Gross profit of this segment for the Year was approximately HK$23.0
million, which increased approximately 858.3% as compared with
approximately HK$2.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2019.
Such increase was mainly due to a decrease in certain cost of sales
items including waste handling charge and subcontracting cost. Gross
profit margin of this segment for the Year was approximately 10.2%,
representing an increase of 7.9 percentage points from approximately
2.3% for the year ended 31 March 2019. Such increase was mainly due
to the decrease in cost of sales items as mentioned above.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
New Projects Awarded

During the Year, the Group had been awarded 4 new contracts with total
contract value of approximately HK$53.3 million. The details of the new
projects are as follows:

Management Discussion and Analysis

BRI i

R¥OER (#)
HERNER
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Type of Projects Site Location Type of Works

HEER AV E IREH

Foundation and Ancillary Works Yau Tsim Mong district Foundation, ELS and Pile Cap Works

EREETR PN S A TR - 248 K& AR AR &
BRI

Foundation and Ancillary Works Kowloon City district Foundation, ELS and Pile Cap Works

EREETR B &= A TR - 248 KAl AR &
BRI

Foundation and Ancillary Works Yau Tsim Mong district Hoarding Works

EREETR PN Eth T2

Foundation and Ancillary Works Kowloon City district ELS and Pile Cap Works

EREEETR FLEEW &= 2 & AR AR R AETE T2

Projects in Progress

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 11 projects in progress with total
contract value amounted to approximately HK$692.5 million. The details
of projects in progress are as follows:
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Type of Projects Site Location Type of Works

HE AR BN E IRER

Foundation and Ancillary Works Yau Tsim Mong district Foundation, ELS and Pile Cap Works
MEREETE i EN HE TR 248 R AR FAFE R IEIE T2
Foundation and Ancillary Works Kowloon City district Foundation, ELS and Pile Cap Works
HEREETRE JUBEH = HE TR 248 R AR AR R EIE T2
Foundation and Ancillary Works Kwun Tong district Foundation, ELS and Pile Cap Works
WMEREETR Bz AR TR - 248 R AIR RS R HEIE T2
Foundation and Ancillary Works Yuen Long district Foundation, ELS and Pile Cap Works
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KB Ok (&)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Projects in Progress (continued)

Type of Projects
HEER

Site Location

R E

Type of Works
IRER

Foundation and Ancillary Works

WEREETIZ

Foundation and Ancillary Works

WELEETIE

Foundation and Ancillary Works
MEREETE

Foundation and Ancillary Works

WELEETIE

Foundation and Ancillary Works

WEREETIZ

Foundation and Ancillary Works

WENMEETE

Construction Wastes Handling

SRR R Ba 32
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Kwun Tong district

BERE

Sha Tin district
W HEE

Kwai Tsing district
25

Sai Kung district

(=g

Sha Tin district

W&

Kowloon City district

NEWE

Tuen Mun district
BRI E

Demolition Works and Construction of the
Hoarding Works
FBIRKERIEER

Piling and ELS Works
THERZHE LA mAE TR

Piling and ELS Works
THERZHE R AR A TE

Site Formation & Foundation,
ELS, Pile Caps and Tie
Beam Works

HMETELE TR K
Al T - IR R BERIRE

Foundation, ELS, Pile Cap, Slope and
Drainage Works

HE 2 4R R A M AT S 1518
MR RHKERTRE

Foundation, ELS, Pile Cap
and Tree Works
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Fill Bank Operation
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Completed Projects

During the Year, the Group completed 9 projects with total contract value
amounted to approximately HK$394.1 million. The details of completed

projects are as follows:

Type of Projects
BEEHER

Site Location
A B

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Type of Works
IREER

Foundation and Ancillary Works

WEREETIR

Foundation and Ancillary Works

WEREETIR

Foundation and Ancillary Works

WEREETIRE

Foundation and Ancillary Works

WELEETIE

Foundation and Ancillary Works

WELEETIE

Foundation and Ancillary Works

WEREETIE

Foundation and Ancillary Works

WEREETIE

Foundation and Ancillary Works

WEREETIE

Foundation and Ancillary Works
MERERETRE

Wan Chai district

FE

Yau Tsim Mong district

R [

Tai Po district
AR

Southern district

[

Southern district

] [

Southern district

3]

Sha Tin district

W

Kowloon City district

NEHR

Southern district
A =

ELS, Site Formation, Foundation and Pile
Cap Works

IR R B A AT R
B R HE R T2

Hoarding Works
EfR T2

Piling Works
BEIR

Substructure and Raft Foundation Works

T R EAMRETIE

Substructure, Superstructure and Site
Formation Works

TERAETE - L ERAETE Mot AR T R
Iz

Substructure and Superstructure Works
T ERAETE I EEbAEE TR

Foundation, ELS and Basement Slab
Works

15~ 2R K A ) AR I B b A
ITi

ELS and Pile Cap Works
ZAE & A A R TR

ELS and Pile Cap Works
AR R AR M A R A R AR
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Technology Services

On 31 May 2019, the Group and Prime Trust, LLC had entered into a
technology service agreement and an application programming interface
(API) funding platform technology agreement for the development of the
platform for providing USDK services. Our technology services income
mainly includes (1) income generated by developing the USDK smart
contract, managing the USDK smart contract to effect minting and
burning of USDK; and (2) providing technology development and I.T.
infrastructure service.

During the Year, revenue from this segment amounted to approximately
HK$24.5 million. Gross profit of this segment was approximately HK$9.0
million.

Money Lending Business

During the Year, the Group continued to carry out its money lending
business, which maintains a money lender’s licence in Hong Kong, under
the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

During the Year, revenue and gross profit from this segment was HK$5.8
million (2019: HK$2.3 million) and HK$4.8 million (2019: HK$1.5 million),
respectively. The Directors believe the money lending business benefits to
the Group in exploring new opportunities to widen its revenue base and
minimise the risks of the Group overall, in order to enhance the capital use
of the Group for the interests of the Company and its shareholders overall.

Investments in Securities

During the Year, the Group maintained the business segment of
investments in securities in order to diversify the Group’s business.
The Group invested in a portfolio of listed securities in Hong Kong and
overseas.

During the Year, the Group recorded a gross loss in the segment of
investments in securities of approximately HK$10.2 million (2019: HK$0.2
million). The Company reviews the performance of its existing investment
portfolio and evaluates the investment potentials of other investment
opportunities available to the Group as part of the routine exercise with a
view to optimise the expected return and minimise the risks.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue increased by approximately 56.3% from approximately
HK$364.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately
HK$570.3 million for the Year. The increase was mainly resulted from the
increase in number of projects completed with large contract sum and
commenced the new business segment of technology services.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit increased by approximately 39.7% from approximately
HK$30.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately
HK$42.6 million for the Year. Gross profit margin for the Year was
approximately 7.5%, representing a decrease of 0.9 percentage points
from approximately 8.4% for the year ended 31 March 2019. Such
decrease was mainly due to the increase of certain costs of foundation
works and ancillary services and an unrealised loss in investments of
securities.

Other income, gains and losses

Other income, gains and losses of the Group mainly consisted of interest
income and service income. During the Year, other income, gains and
losses of the Group amounted to approximately HK$5.0 million (2019:
HK$4.0 million).

Administrative and other operating expenses

The administrative and other operating expenses of the Group for the Year
amounted to approximately HK$91.4 million, representing an increase of
approximately 71.5% compared with approximately HK$53.3 million for
the year ended 31 March 2019. Such increase was mainly due to (1) an
increase in staff costs and a share-based payment expenses as a result
of the share options granted by the Company during the Year; and (2)
an increase in expenses related to new leased premises as well as the
depreciation associated with the leasehold improvements of the rented
premises.

Finance costs

Finance costs increased by approximately 31.9% from approximately
HK$6.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2019 to approximately
HK$9.1 million for the Year. The increase was mainly due to the increase
in interest expenses arising from the new accounting standard on leases.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Income tax (expense)/credit

Income tax expense of the Group for the Year was approximately HK$3.3
million, compared to income tax credit of HK$0.8 million for the year
ended 31 March 2019, which was mainly due to the increase in gross
profit as discussed in the sections headed “Gross profit and gross profit
margin” above.

Loss for the Year

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$61.6 million for
the Year, compared to a loss of approximately HK$27.2 million for the
corresponding period in 2019. The increase in the loss for the Year was
mainly due to the increase in administrative and other operating expenses
as discussed above and an unrealised loss in investments of securities.

Grant of Share Options

During the Year, the Company granted 262,500,000 share options under
the share option scheme adopted by the shareholders of the Company
on 12 August 2015. Details and movements relating to the share options
granted during the Year are set out in the paragraph headed “SHARE
OPTION SCHEME” on pages 105 to 106 of this report.

Liquidity, Financial and Capital Resources

The Group has funded the liquidity and capital requirements primarily
through capital contributions from the Company’s shareholders, bank
borrowings, internally generated cash flow and proceeds received from
the placing of the Company’s shares (the “Share(s)”).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had bank deposits and balances and
cash of approximately HK$239.6 million (31 March 2019: approximately
HK$332.5 million) and pledged bank deposit of approximately HK$6.8
million (31 March 2019: HK$6.6 million). The decrease was mainly due to
the (1) increase in operating activities including staff costs and expenses
related to new leased premises; and (2) net cash used in investments of
financial assets.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio is calculated based on the amount of total interest-
bearing loans divided by total equity. The gearing ratio of the Group
as at 31 March 2020 was approximately 59.0% (as at 31 March
2019: approximately 42.1%). The increase was mainly due to the
implementation of the new accounting standard on lease liabilities.

Pledge of Assets

The Group’s machinery and equipment with an aggregate net book value
of approximately HK$Nil and HK$0.6 million and motor vehicles with an
aggregate net book value of approximately HK$1.3 million and HK$0.4
million as at 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019, respectively, were
pledged under lease liabilities (2019: finance leases).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has pledged bank deposit of
approximately HK$6.8 million (31 March 2019: HK$6.6 million) to secure
the bank facilities granted to the Group.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any charge on its assets
during the Year.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group, in the ordinary course of its business, is involved in various
claims, suits, investigations, and legal proceedings that arise from time
to time. Although the Group does not expect that the outcome in any of
these legal proceedings, individually or collectively, will have a material
adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations, litigation is
inherently unpredictable. Therefore, the Group could incur judgements or
enter into settlements of claims that could adversely affect its operating
results or cash flows in a particular period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BRI i

FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and PRC and most of the
operating transactions such as revenue, expenses, monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (‘RMB”).
The management monitors the Group foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant currency exposure when the need arise. The
Group have sufficient resources to meet foreign exchange requirements
as and if they arise. Therefore, the Group has not engaged in any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to foreign exchange risk during
the Year.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not have any significant capital
commitment during the Year (31 March 2019: Nil).

PROSPECTS

The internal and external threats to Hong Kong economy in the Year had
brought unprecedented challenges to the Group’s businesses. However,
despite the difficult economic environment, the Group’s revenues from
foundation works and construction wastes handling services related
businesses still recorded an increase of 51.6% during the Year.

As to the coming financial year, it is expected that certain large-scale
public projects will be executed, and there are indications that there is a
recovery in the demand for foundation related works. We will continue
to maintain the current long-term business relationship with our existing
major customers, reach new customers, enter into new markets and
effectively control our expenditures to maintain stability of our operating
costs of the Group.

In the Year, the Company’s controlling shareholder changed to OKC
Holdings Corporation. In order to reflect the change of controlling
shareholder as well as the Group’s business strategy, and demonstrate
a more suitable corporate image and identity, the Company officially
changed its dual foreign name in Chinese and English names to “Bl 71

SEFERE B PR A F)” and “OKG Technology Holdings Limited ”, respectively.
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PROSPECTS (CONTINUED)

The Group is committed to the development of blockchain technologies
and products. OKLink Fintech Limited (“OKLink”, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company) operates its internet portal
oklink.com, as well as WeChat official account and WeChat mini program.
OKLink also officially released the Bitcoin (BTC), Ethereum (ETH), Litecoin
(LTC), Bitcoin Cash (BCH), Bitcoin SV (BSV), Tether (USDT) and Ethereum
Classic (ETC) blockchain explorers. In the future, OKLink will further
develop and release more applications of mainstream public blockchain
explorers. We will also provide multi-dimensional statistics and mining
analysis of blockchain data, in order to provide more comprehensive and
professional data services to enterprise users.

Moreover, the Group also actively seeks the business opportunities in
regulated financial technologies services. OKLink Australia Pty Ltd, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has been registered
as a digital currency trading service provider in Australia. OKLink Trust
Limited (“OKLink Trust”, formerly known as “Leap Development
Enterprise Limited”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, has been granted a Trust or Company Service Provider
(“TCSP”) license and registered as a Trust Company under section 78(1)
of the Trustee Ordinance (Cap. 29), will provide regulated trust business
in Hong Kong. The Group is also actively applying for the Money Services
Operator (“MSO”) license in Hong Kong. In the future, supported by our
above licenses, the Group will launch digital assets custody services and
actively explore other new business models and new revenue drivers.

The Group will continue to explore the investment opportunities in
information technologies and financial technologies in Hong Kong and
overseas, while actively developing innovative businesses under the
fintech regulatory framework of Hong Kong and overseas, to broaden
the source of income of the Group and provide better returns to the
shareholders of the Company.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 March 2020, the Group employed 225 staff (31 March 2019:
148 staff). Total staff costs, including directors’ emoluments for the Year,
amounted to approximately HK$102.7 million (for the year ended 31
March 2019: approximately HK$57.6 million). The salary and benefit levels
of the employees of the Group are competitive and individual performance
is rewarded through the Group’s salary and bonus system. The Group
provides adequate job training to the employees to equip them with
practical knowledge and skills.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

Entering into Technology Services Agreements
with Prime Trust, LLC

On 31 May 2019 (after the trading hours of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)), OKLink Fintech Limited,
an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Prime Trust,
LLC had entered into a technology service agreement and an application
programming interface (API) funding platform technology agreement
for the development of the platform for providing USDK services (the
“Business Development”). Details of the Business Development was
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 2 June 2019.

Entering into Investment Agreement and
Co-operation Agreement

On 6 September 2019 (after the trading hours of the Stock Exchange),
the Group has entered into (i) the Investment Agreement between
Shenzhen OKG Network Technologies Co., Ltd (“Shenzhen OKG”,
formerly known as Shenzhen QNYN Network Technologies Co., Ltd.*
R Fit —##84F R 22 A])) and Beiing CASIA Investment
Management Co., Ltd.* (It R B EEE AR A ) and Mr. Tao
Jianhua (F8 # %) (collectively, the “JV Partners”) in respect of the
proposed formation of the joint venture with the JV Partners; and (i) the
Co-operation Agreement between OKG Global Investment Limited (“OKG
Global”, formerly known as Leap Global Investment Limited) and Institute
of Automation, Chinese Academy of Sciences ( FF E%I £ & 8h{L A 3¢
FT) (“CASIA”) in respect of (1) the licensing of the CASIA IP Rights by
CASIA (“CASIA License”); and (2) the development of the New IP Rights
with CASIA.

Refer to the Investment Agreement, Shenzhen OKG shall contribute
RMB16,000,000 in cash, RMB8,000,000 of which shall be payable within
90 working days after the incorporation of the Joint Venture. As at the
date of this annual report, Joint Venture has not been incorporated.

*

For identification purposes only
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS (CONTINUED)

Entering into Investment Agreement and
Co-operation Agreement (continued)

Refers to the Co-operation Agreement, OKG Global paid CASIA a
consideration of RMB10 million, including RMB8 million for the CASIA
License and RMB2 million for research and development cost of New
IP rights during the Year. The CASIA License has been recognised as
intangible assets.

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios (as defined under
the Listing Rules) in respect of the maximum capital commitment of the
Group pursuant to the Investment Agreement and the consideration of
the Co-operation Agreement are more than 5% but are less than 25%,
the entering into of the Investment Agreement and the Co-operation
Agreement (in aggregate) constitutes a discloseable transaction for the
Company under the Listing Rules and is subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements as set out in Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.
Details of the aforesaid transactions was disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 9 September 2019.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report, the Group
did not have any significant investments held or any material acquisitions
or disposals of subsidiaries or associated companies.
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OTHER INFORMATION

Disposal of Shares by Substantial
Shareholders

On 25 April 2019, each of Thriving Market Limited (“TML") and Mr. Ren
Yunan (“Mr. Ren”) had entered into sale and purchase agreements
(the “Shareholders Agreements”) with a number of purchasers (the
“Purchaser(s)”) respectively in relation to the sale of 614,900,000 Shares
held by TML and 148,810,000 Shares held by Mr. Ren (collectively,
the “Disposals”), representing all Shares held by TML and by Mr. Ren
respectively as of 25 April 2019. TML is beneficially wholly-owned by
Mr. Ren who is an executive Director, the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company.

The completion of the Disposals under respective Shareholders
Agreements took place on or before 2 May 2019. Mr. Ren and TML
did not have any interest in these shares by virtue of the Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong
(“SFO”) on 2 May 2019. Details of the Disposals were disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 26 April 2019 and 2 May 2019.

Registration as Digital Currency Exchange
Service Provider

On 22 November 2019, the Company announced that as of
21 November 2019, OKLink Australia Pty Ltd, an indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, has been registered as a digital currency
exchange service provider with the Australian Transaction Reports
and Analysis Centre. OKLink Australia Pty Ltd has not commenced its
business operation during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report.
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OTHER INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Registration as a Trust Company

On 23 January 2020, the Company announced that OKLink Trust, an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, was notified by the
Registry for Trust or Company Service Providers of Companies Registry in
Hong Kong that, the application of OKLink Trust for a TCSP license was
approved and the TCSP license is granted to OKLink Trust under section
53G of the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
Ordinance, Cap. 615.

On 19 June 2020 (after the trading hours of the Stock Exchange), the
Company announced that, OKLink Trust’s application for registration
as a trust company under section 78(1) of the Trustee Ordinance
(Cap. 29) was approved by the Registrar of Companies and a Certificate
of Registration as a Trust Company has been issued by the Companies
Registry in Hong Kong on 17 June 2020.

OKLink Trust has not commenced to provide trust or company services
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

As at the date of this annual report, the Company does not have any
future plans for material investments or capital assets.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Appointment of Non-Executive Director

Mr. Tang Yue would be appointed as non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 20 July 2020.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EFEEFIS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Mingxing (#& 8 B £ %) (“Mr. Xu”), aged 35, is our
non-executive director. Mr. Xu graduated from the University of Science
and Technology Beijing in 2006 with a Bachelor's degree in Applied
Physics.

Mr. Xu has a decade of experience in the blockchain technology,
information technology and corporate management.

Mr. Xu became the director and chief executive officer of OKC Holdings
Corporation (“OKC”) since February 2015 and became the director and
chairman of Shanghai Xingpan Science and Technology Company Limited
(“Shanghai Xingpan”) (NEEQ: 833166), formerly known as Shanghai
United Testing Co., Ltd. since August 2017. The business scope of
Shanghai Xingpan includes, technology development, technology transfer,
technical services, technology promotion, operational Internet cultural
information services, business management consulting, computer
system services, sales of computer and auxiliary equipment in network
technology industry.

From June 2007 to August 2012, Mr. Xu was employed by Docln Shiji
(Beijing) Technology Limited (2 T t42 (4t ) A4& T AR A 7], known
as “DocIn.com”). Docln.com is a company engaging in the operation
of Chinese online reading platform with a diverse content online library,
including Chinese articles, publications and industry research reports,
providing Internet information services, as well as technology services,
development, consulting, transfer and advertising. His last position was
chief technology officer.

An aggregate of 3,904,925,001 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 73.11% of the total issued share capital of the Company,
are held by OKC. () Mr. Xu’s wholly-owned company named StarXu
Capital Limited (“StarXu Capital”), which in turn holds direct interest
in OKC of approximately 29.26%; (i) StarXu Capital has interest of
approximately 59.24% in SKY CHASER HOLDINGS LIMITED (“SKY
CHASER”), whereas SKY CHASER directly holds approximately 1.45%
interest in OKC (accordingly, Mr. Xu holds approximately 0.86% indirect
interest of OKC through SKY CHASER); and (iii) his wholly-owned
company named OKEM Services Company Limited has direct interest
in OKC of approximately 26.06%. Thus, Mr. Xu holds an aggregate
interest of approximately 56.18% in OKC and therefore is deemed to be
interested in the 3,904,925,001 shares of the Company held by OKC
pursuant to the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”).

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Xu was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Tang Yue (E#%4£) (“Mr. Tang”), aged 49, would be appointed as
non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 20 July 2020.

Mr. Tang graduated from the Concordia College with Bachelor of Arts
degree in 1993. He is currently a director of OKC Holdings Corporation
(“OKC”). Mr. Tang is the founder of X Financial (NYSE: XYF), a leading
technology-driven personal finance company in China, wherein he serves
as the Chairman and CEO since March 2014. Mr. Tang is a renowned
internet entrepreneur and investor in China. Mr. Tang was the co-founder
of eLong, Inc., a leading online travel service company in China, at which
he served as the Chairman and CEO from 1999 to 2006. After that, Mr.
Tang co-founded Blue Ridge China with Blue Ridge Capital, a leading
U.S. hedge fund. Mr. Tang then worked as the managing partner of
Blue Ridge China, a private equity fund that invested in companies in
China from 2006 to 2014. Mr. Tang is a founding member of the China
Entrepreneur Club, a founding member of the Paradise International
Foundation, a member of The Nature Conservancy China Board, and a
founding member of the Beijing SmileAngel Children’s Hospital.

An aggregate of 3,904,925,001 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 73.11% of the total issued share capital of the Company
are held by OKC and OKC is therefore an associated corporation of the
Company for the purposes of Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Tang’s wholly-
owned company, Purple Mountain Holding Ltd., holds direct interest in
3,898,108 ordinary shares, 3,068,409 series seed preferred shares and
1,612,142 series A-1 preferred shares of par value of USD0.0001 each of
OKGC, representing approximately 7.39% of the total issued share capital
of OKC. Thus, Mr. Tang is deemed to be interested in approximately
7.39% of the shares in OKC, an associated corporation of the Company,
pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Tang was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr. Pu Xiaojiang (B BT % %) (“Mr. Pu”), aged 55, is our
non-executive director.

Mr. Pu graduated from the Journalism School of Fudan University with a
Bachelor’s degree of Arts in 1987. He also obtained his Executive MBA
from China Europe International Business School in 2003.

Mr. Pu has experiences in brand management, media, marketing and
financial services industries. Mr. Pu begins to work for OKCoin Technology
Company Limited, a subsidiary of OKC, since April 2019. He was the
vice president of Bluefocus International Limited from April 2016 to March
2019, a subsidiary in Hong Kong of Bluefocus Intelligent Communications
Group Co., Ltd. (It RE X ZEIERERHBBRAR]) (formerly known
as Bluefocus Communication Group Co., Ltd. (1t 7 E & K 2R fE EFE
EERIR (7 B R 2 A]) ) which s listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
with the stock code of “300058” (“Bluefocus”). Bluefocus is a data
technology company, the business scope includes marketing services,
digital advertising and international business, which provides services
in marketing communication and smart technology based on data
technology.

Before that, from August 2013 to March 2016, Mr. Pu was the
vice president of Rifa Securities Limited (formerly known as ‘iSTAR
International Securities Co. Limited’), a subsidiary of China Finance
Online Co. Limited (NASDAQ: JRJC). Rifa Securities Limited is a licensed
corporation permitted to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities) regulated
activity as defined under the SFO. China Finance Online Co. Limited is a
web-based financial services company in China, which provides financial
information services and offer fundamental and technical tools for sales,
earnings, debt management, and growth potentials.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Pu was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ren Yunan ({E18 B %&£ 4) (“Mr. Ren”), aged 44, is our executive
Director, the chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company.

Mr. Ren graduated from Peking University with a bachelor’s degree in law
in 1997 and received a master’s degree in law from Harvard Law School
in 1999. He was qualified to practise law both in Hong Kong and New
York, the United States of America.

Mr. Ren currently holds several directorships in different listed companies,
including an independent non-executive director of Ronshine China
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), stock code:
3301); and a non-executive director of Labixiaoxin Snacks Group Limited
(a company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
1262).

Mr. Ren was a non-executive director and the chairman of AVIC Joy
Holdings (HK) Limited (a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 260) from November 2017 to December 2017.
Mr. Ren was also an independent non-executive director of International
Entertainment Corporation (a company listed on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1009) from May 2017 to July 2018. Mr. Ren
was also an independent non-executive director of Prosperous Future
Holdings Limited (& A & /& 28 B R 22 7]) (formerly known as Future
Development Holdings Limited and China Child Care Corporation Limited
o5 57 TR A R 22 A]) (@ company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 1259) from February 2011 to October 2015 and
its non-executive director from October 2015 to April 2018. Mr. Ren also
acts as the director of wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Ren was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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Biographical Details of Directors

ESEEFE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Zhouxin (ZR X% 4E) (“Mr. Li”), aged 35, is our independent
non-executive Director. Mr. Li graduated from Fuzhou University with a
bachelor degree in finance in 2007 and received an EMBA degree from
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in June 2019.
Mr. Li is a PRC certified public accountant (non-practising) and a certified
management accountant recognised by The Institute of Management
Accountants in the United States of America. Mr. Li also holds the
Certification in Risk Management Assurance accredited by The Institute of
Internal Auditors.

Mr. Li currently serves as a non-executive director of Prosperous Future
Holdings Limited ( 7k 2 & /E K B R 2+ &]) (formerly known as Future
Development Holdings Limited and China Child Care Corporation
Limited 7 ] 57 2 £ B R 72 7]) (stock code: 1259), a company listed
on the main board of Stock Exchange. Mr. Li worked as an auditor and
assistant manager of the audit division at KPMG Consulting (China) Co.,
Ltd. from August 2007 to December 2010. From December 2010 to
November 2011, he served as finance manager at a company listed on
the main board of NASDAQ. Mr. Li is currently the vice chairman of the
8th Executive Committee of the Youth Business Association of Fujian
Province.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Li was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Lee Man Chiu (Z XX % 4) (“Mr. Lee”), aged 47, is our
independent non-executive Director. Mr. Lee graduated from Harvard
College with a Bachelor of Arts degree in 1994. He subsequently obtained
his Juris Doctor degree from Georgetown University Law Center in
1998. Since 1999, he has been licensed and admitted to practice as an
Attorney and Counsellor at Law in all courts of the State of New York. He
is also a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong.

Mr. Lee has extensive experience in the practice of law. He has been in
Asia since 2000 and has practiced in a number of international law firms
including Clifford Chance, Morrison & Foester and Orrick Herrington &
Sutcliffe. He is currently a corporate partner at Dentons Hong Kong and
was a partner at Hogan Lovells and Locke Lord.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Mr. Lee advises on a broad range of transactions, including equity
offerings and listings (in particular, U.S. IPOs and Hong Kong IPOs with
a Rule 144A tranche), private equity and venture capital, cross-border
mergers and acquisitions, and general corporate and banking. Mr.
Lee’s experience includes representing issuers and underwriters in IPOs
and private placement of equity and debt securities and in connection
with the structuring, issuance, and distribution of fixed and floating rate
bonds, high-yield bonds, perpetual securities, convertible debt securities,
asset-backed securities and derivative financial products. Mr. Lee has
also represented listed companies in securities law compliance matters
and buyers and sellers in merger and acquisition transactions and drafted
corporate documents, including contracts, royalty agreements and license
agreements for start-up companies, as well as other documentation for
general corporate and banking transactions.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Lee was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Jiang Guoliang (3 E R %&£ %) (“Mr. Jiang”), aged 43, is our
independent non-executive Director. Mr. Jiang graduated from Peking
University with a bachelor’s degree in law in 1997.

Mr. Jiang is currently the independent director of Zhejiang
Communications Technology Co., Ltd. (002061.SZ), a company with its
shares listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange in the People’s Republic of
China. He is also the independent non-executive director of Weigang
Environmental Technology Holding Group Limited (stock code: 1845),
a company with its shares listed on the Stock Exchange. He is also the
managing partner of Zhe Jiang T&C Law Firm. Mr. Jiang was the vice
president of BOCGI Zheshang Capital Co., Ltd.* (FFERIEEMREESEE S
EIEHBPRAF) from 2010 to 2012. He was also the partner of the branch
office of King & Wood Mallesons in Hangzhou from 2008 to 2010. Before
that, he was a lawyer and the partner of Zhe Jiang T&C Law Firm from
1999 to 2008. He was also worked at Zhejiang Silk Import and Export
Company from 1997 to 1999.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Jiang was not a director in any other listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

* For identification purposes only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The board (the “Board”) of the Company is committed to upholding
a high standard of corporate governance practices and business
ethics in the firm belief that they are crucial to improving the efficiency
and performance of the Group and to safeguarding the interests
of the shareholders. The Board reviews the Company’s corporate
governance practices from time to time in order to meet the expectations
of stakeholders and comply with increasingly stringent regulatory
requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in corporate
governance.

Set out below are the principles of corporate governance as adopted by
the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

During the Year, the Company has applied the principles of and
complied with the applicable code provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices as set out Appendix 14 (the “CG Code”) to the
Listing Rules contained therein except for the following deviation. The
Company periodically reviews its corporate governance practices to
ensure that they continue to meet the requirements of the CG Code.

(1) Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separated and should not
be performed by the same individual.

Since 9 July 2018, Mr. Ren Yunan has been appointed as an
executive director, the Chairman and the chief executive officer (the
“Chief Executive Officer’) of the Company. The Board believes
that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person provides the Company with strong and
consistent leadership, allows for effective and efficient planning
and implementation of business decisions and strategies, and
is beneficial to the business prospects and management of the
Group. Although Mr. Ren performs both the roles of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer, the division of responsibilities between the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer is clearly established. The two
roles are performed by Mr. Ren distinctly.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
(CONTINUED)

(2)  Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code requires that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to
re-election. The non-executive directors and the independent
non-executive directors of the Company have not been appointed
for any specific terms as they are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the Company’s annual general meeting in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard as set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules. In response to a specific enquiry by the Company,
all Directors have confirmed that they complied with the requirements of
the Model Code during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FUNCTIONS

It is the responsibility of the Board to determine the appropriate corporate
governance practices applicable to the Company’s circumstances and to
ensure processes and procedures are in place to achieve the Company’s
corporate governance objectives.

The duties of the Board in performing its corporate governance functions
under the CG Code include:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the Company;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
FUNCTIONS (CONTINUED)

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors of
the Company; and

5 to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

The Company will continue to review and enhance its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME

Each newly appointed Director shall receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors will be continuously updated on the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Directors are also encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. The joint company secretaries update the Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

During the Year and as at the date of publication of this annual report,
all Directors, namely Mr. Xu Mingxing, Mr. Tang Yue, Mr. Pu Xiaojiang,
Mr. Ren Yunan, Mr. Luo Ting, Mr. Zhu Junkan, Mr. Li Zhouxin, Mr. Lee
Man Chiu and Mr. Jiang Guoliang, have participated in continuous
professional training to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in
relation to their contribution to the Board.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
PROGRAMME (CONTINUED)

The training participated by each Director is summarised as below:
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EEHHRSRRERTE(R)

BREE2HNEIIN T3 :

Reading journals/
updates/articles/ Attending seminars/

Directors materials conferences/forums
BT,

BE &R XES HEMEE
= EH a8 Wi
Non-executive Directors
FHITES
Mr. Xu Mingxing (appointed on 11 April 2019) 4 v
RARLEE (RZE-NFEA+—BEEE)

Mr. Tang Yue (would be appointed on 20 July 2020) v

FHEE ( RZZE_SFLA-THHEEEZAE)

Mr. Pu Xiaojiang (appointed on 11 April 2019) 4 v
HELAEE (RZE-NFEA+—BEEE)

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Ren Yunan 4

ERBELE

Mr. Luo Ting (retired on 23 August 2019) v

BREE (RZE-NFNAZT=HEME)

Mr. Zhu Junkan (retired on 23 August 2019) 4

KEMEE (RZZB-NAFNAZT=HRME)

Independent non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr. Li Zhouxin 4 v
FREMEE

Mr. Lee Man Chiu 4 v
FNREE

Mr. Jiang Guoliang 4 v
EREIR -

BHERERERAT 3]
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THE BOARD
Role and function

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, oversees
the Group'’s strategic decisions and monitors business and performance.
The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for day-to-day
management and operation of the Group to the senior management
of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs,
the Board has established three Board committees including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) (together, the “Board Committees”). The
Board has delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities as set out
in their respective terms of reference.

Composition

As at the date of publication of this annual report, the Board of directors
(the “Directors”) currently comprises seven members, consisting of three
non-executive Directors, one executive Director and three independent
non-executive Directors.

The independent non-executive Directors are expressly identified in all
corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The Board comprises the following Directors:

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xu Mingxing (appointed on 11 April 2019)

Mr. Tang Yue (would be appointed on 20 July 2020)
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang (appointed on 11 April 2019)

Executive Director
Mr. Ren Yunan

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Zhouxin

Mr. Lee Man Chiu

Mr. Jiang Guoliang

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors” on pages 22 to 27 of this annual report.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Independent non-executive Directors
(continued)

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its
efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee.

Board Meetings

The Board has eight scheduled Board meetings during the Year.
Additional meetings would be arranged if and when required.

The joint company secretaries of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairman in drawing the agenda of each meeting
and each Director may request inclusion of matters in the agenda.
Generally, at least 14 days’ notice of a regular Board meeting is given
and the Company aims at giving reasonable notice for all other Board
meetings. The Company also aims at sending the agenda and the
accompanying board papers, which are prepared in such form and quality
as will enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it, to all Directors at a reasonable time before the intended date of
a Board meeting.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is responsible
for ensuring that Board procedures are complied with and all applicable
rules and regulations are followed.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of Board and
Board committee meetings, drafts and final versions of which would be
sent to Directors for comments and records respectively, in both cases
within a reasonable time after each meeting. Minutes are recorded in
sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and decisions
reached, including any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views
(if any) expressed. Minutes of the Board and Board committees’ mestings
are kept by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection by any
Director or committee member.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Board Meetings (continued)

If a substantial shareholder of the Company or a Director has a conflict of
interest in a matter (including material transaction with connected persons)
which the Board has determined to be material, a Board meeting will be
held instead of by way of resolution.

Attendance records

During the Year, a total of eight Board meetings and two general meetings
were held and the attendance records are as follows:

EFEE(#])

EEEEHE (H)
HAAREEREREFREFREEEREA
MEE (BEEMEALNEARS)FREAEH
HEE AENFEARABRTEFREE (W
SERBRESR) -

REFERN BITARH\REFSEERMRK
RA®  hECEmT

Board Meetings

General Meetings

Attended/ Attended/

Directors Eligible to Attend Eligible to Attend

HEGERHE HESEKRHE
B EEEgRNRH™ RERKEHRE
Non-executive Directors
FHITES
Mr. Xu Mingxing (appointed on 11 April 2019) 6/8 2/2
BPREE (RZE-—NFEA+—RAEZETE)
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang (appointed on 11 April 2019) 6/8 1/2
HEDLAEE (RZE-—NFEA+—REET)
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Ren Yunan 8/8 2/2
FEBRE
Mr. Luo Ting (retired on 23 August 2019) 5/8 1/2
BELEE(RZZE—NFNAZ+=HEMR)
Mr. Zhu Junkan (retired on 23 August 2019) 5/8 1/2
KEMEE (RZZFE-—NENAZ+T=HEM)
Mr. Cheng Yuk (resigned on 16 May 2019) 3/8 N/A “I~ 3
Bkt (RZE—NFRATNEHFMT)
Independent non-executive Directors
BIFHTES
Mr. Li Zhouxin 7/8 1/2
FREMEE
Mr. Lee Man Chiu 8/8 2/2
TR ELE
Mr. Jiang Guoliang 8/8 2/2
BER&E
Mr. Chan King Chung (resigned on 16 May 2019) 3/8 N/A i
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Access to information

The Directors may seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. The Company will, upon
request, provide separate independent professional advice to Directors to
assist the relevant Directors to discharge their duties to the Company.

The Board is supplied with relevant information by the senior management
pertaining to matters to be brought before the Board for decision as
well as reports relating to operational and financial performance of the
Group before each Board meeting. Where any Director requires more
information than is volunteered by the management, each Director has
the right to separately and independently access to the Company’s senior
management to make further enquiries if necessary.

Appointments and re-election of Directors

Directors were nominated by members of the Board during the Year to
fill casual vacancies or as an addition to existing Board. The Nomination
Committee, in consultation with the Board, determines the selection
criteria and identifies candidates with the appropriate expertise and
experience for the appointments of new Directors. The Nomination
Committee then nominates the most suitable candidate to be appointed
to the Board.

According to the article 112 of the articles of association of the Company
(the “Articles”), any Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office,
in the case of filling a casual vacancy, only until the next following general
meeting of the Company or, in the case of an addition to their number,
until the next following annual general meeting of the Company who shall
then be eligible for re-election at such general meeting.

According to the article 108 of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors shall for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years. A
retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)
Chairman and Chief Executive

Mr. Ren Yunan has been appointed as an executive Director, the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer with effect from 9 July 2018.
He is responsible for formulating corporative and business strategies and
making major operational decisions. With the support of the executive
Directors and the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and
receive adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The Board has at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors, the number of which must represent at least one-third of the
Board, with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting and related
financial management expertise.

The independent non-executive Directors are considered by the Board to
be independent of the management and free of any relationship that could
materially interfere with the exercise of their independent judgments. The
Board considered that each of the independent non-executive Directors
brings his own relevant expertise to the Board and its deliberations. None
of the independent non-executive Directors has any business or financial
interests with the Group nor has any relationship with other Directors.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR ACCOUNTS

The Directors’ responsibilities for the accounts and the responsibilities of
the external auditors to the shareholders are set out on pages 116 to 121
of this annual report.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
Purpose

This policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the board
(the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company.

Vision

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board to enhance the quality of its performance.

Policy Statement

A truly diverse Board will include and make good use of differences in
the skills, regional and industry experience, background, race, gender
and other qualities of Directors. These differences will be taken into
account in determining the optimum composition of the Board. All Board
appointments will be based on merit while taking into account diversity
(including gender diversity).

Measurable Objectives

The nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of the
Company will discuss and agree annually measurable objectives for
implementing diversity on the Board and recommend them to the Board
for adoption.

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity of
Directors, in terms of skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture,
independence, age and gender.

Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will report annually, in the Corporate
Governance Report, on the Board’s composition under diversified
perspectives, and monitor the implementation of this policy.

Review of this policy

The Nomination Committee will review this policy, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of this policy. The Nomination Committee will
discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
(CONTINUED)

Disclosure of this policy

This policy will be published on the website of the Company for public
information.

A summary of this policy together with the measurable objectives set for
implementing this policy, and the progress made towards achieving those
objectives will be disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report of this
annual report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely
Mr. Li Zhouxin (the chairman of the Nomination Committee),
Mr. Lee Man Chiu and Mr. Jiang Guoliang, all of them are independent
non-executive Directors. The principal duties of the Nomination
Committee include, among other things:

° review the structure, size and composition of the Board and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

° review the Company’s board diversity policy and the progress on
achieving the objectives set for implementing the said policy;

° identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;

° assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

° make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive; and

° conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be contained in the memorandum and articles
of association of the Company or imposed by the Listing Rules or
applicable law.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
(CONTINUED)

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held three meetings. The
attendance records of each member of the Nomination Committee are set
out below:

Nomination Committee

REEZES
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REERE ()
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BEEKEBM L FREHRINMT

Meetings Attended/Eligible to Attend
HE HEEREESRNRE

Mr. Li Zhouxin (Chairman)

FREMSE ()

Mr. Lee Man Chiu

FNREE

Mr. Jiang Guoliang (appointed on 16 May 2019)
BERSEE (RZZE—NFRATBEEE)
Mr. Chan King Chung (resigned on 16 May 2019)
RAESEE (RZTE—NFRATRBEEE)

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the following
nomination procedures, criteria and process in the nomination and
appointment of Directors.

Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria in
evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships:

. character and integrity;

° qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

° willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a Board
member and other directorships and significant commitments;

° requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules (as amended from time to time)
and whether the candidates would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules;
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NOMINATION POLICY (CONTINUED)

Selection Criteria (continued)

° board diversity policy and any measurable objectives adopted by

the Company for achieving diversity on the Board; and

° such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.

Directors Nomination Procedures

The Board has the relevant procedures for Directors’ nomination

which are pursuant to the Listing Rules and the Company’s articles of

association as below:

(@) Appointment of New Director

U

(i)

(V)

the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director
and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria
as set out in Selection Criteria to determine whether such

candidate is qualified for directorship;

if the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable);

the Nomination Committee shall make recommendation
to the Board in respect of the appointment of appropriate
candidate for directorship; and

for any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election
as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall evaluate
such candidate based on the criteria as set out in Selection
Criteria to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board shall make recommendation to
shareholders in respect of the proposed election of director at
the general meeting.
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NOMINATION POLICY (CONTINUED)

Directors Nomination Procedures (continued)

(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting

(i)

(iif)

the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall review the
overall contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director including his/her attendance of Board meetings
and, where applicable, general meetings, and the level of
participation and performance on the Board;

the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall also review
and determine whether the retiring director continues to meet
the criteria as set out in Selection Criteria; and

the Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed
re-election of director at the general meeting.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration

Committee”) comprises three members, namely Mr. Lee Man Chiu

(the chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Li Zhouxin and

Mr. Jiang Guoliang, the majority of the Remuneration Committee are the

independent non-executive Directors which complied with rule 3.25 of

the Listing Rules. The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee

include, among other things:

o consult the chairman of the Board and/or chief executive about

their remuneration proposals for other executive Directors;

° make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and

structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration

and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for

developing remuneration policy;

o review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals

with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
(CONTINUED)

° make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management;

° make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

° consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Company and its subsidiaries;

° review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms
and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

° review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct;

° ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration; and

° conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be contained in the memorandum and articles
of association of the Company or imposed by the Listing Rules or
applicable law.

The Remuneration Committee may consult the Chairman about their
proposals relating to the remuneration of other executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration industry practices and
norms in compensation, in addition to the performance relative to the
industry and the performance of the individual Directors. The Company
reviews the remuneration package annually taking into consideration
of the market practice, competitive market position and individual
performance.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
(CONTINUED)

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings. The
work done by the Remuneration Committee during the Year includes the
following:

1. determining the policy for the remuneration of executive Directors;
2. assessing performance of executive Directors; and

3. approving the terms of an executive Director’s Service Contract.

The attendance records of each member of the Remuneration Committee
are set out below:

Remuneration Committee

FMEES
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2. FHERITEREMNRR R

3. WHEHTERREAONHMENK-

FMEZE XK EMHELCEIHINNAT

Meetings Attended/Eligible to Attend
HE HEERHESRNAE

Mr. Lee Man Chiu (Chairman)
FXRBEE(FE)

Mr. Li Zhouxin (appointed on 23 August 2019)
FEAMEE (RZE-NFNAZT=ZAEZE)
Mr. Jiang Guoliang (appointed on 16 May 2019)
BERAE (RZZE-—NEFRATNBEZE)
Mr. Luo Ting (retired on 23 August 2019)
BEFE (RZE-NFNAZT=ZHERME)
Mr. Jiang Guoliang (appointed on 16 May 2019)
BERAE (RZZE-—NFRATNBEZE)
Mr. Chan King Chung (resigned on 16 May 2019)
BREBALEE (RZE—NFERA+TNAEMT)

2/2

N/A A3

172

2/2

172

172

BRI EEERER A A

=2z

TEEH

43



44

Corporate Governance Report
EEEIGHRES

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) in accordance with the requirements of among Listing
Rules with terms of reference aligned with the provision of the CG Code
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee is
to serve as a focal point for communication among other directors, the
external auditors, and the management as their duties relate to financial
and other reporting, internal controls and the audits; and to assist the
Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing an independent review
of financial reporting, be satisfying themselves as to the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal controls and as to the efficiency of the audits.
The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Li Zhouxin (the Chairman of the Audit Committee),
Mr. Lee Man Chiu and Mr. Jiang Guoliang. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include:

° to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditors, and to approve and review the remuneration and
terms of engagement of the external auditors;

° to review and monitor the external auditors’ independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards;

° to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditors
to supply non-audit services;

° to monitor the integrity of financial statements and the annual report
and accounts and half-year report, and to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them;

° to discuss the internal control system with management of our
Group to ensure that the management of our Group has performed
its duty to have an effective internal control system; and

° to develop and review our Group’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board
and monitor our Group’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate any activity
within its terms of reference and the authority to obtain outside legal or
other independent professional advice if it considers necessary. It is given
access to and assistance from the employees and reasonable resources
to discharge its duties properly.

During the Year, the Board had no disagreement with the Audit
Committee’s view on the re-appointment of the external auditors. The
financial statements for the Year have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings including to
review the interim financial results of the Group for the six months ended
30 September 2019 and to review the Group’s financial result for the year
ended 31 March 2019 for submission to the Board for approval, review
the internal control and risk management systems of the Group, oversee
the audit process and make recommendation on the re-appointment of
the external auditors.

The attendance records of each member of the Audit Committee are set
out below:

Audit Committee
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Meetings Attended/Eligible to Attend
HE HEERHESRNAE

Mr. Li Zhouxin (Chairman) (re-designated on 16 May 2019)
FRAMEE (FE) (RZE—NERA+BEAD)
Mr. Lee Man Chiu

FXBEE

Mr. Jiang Guoliang (appointed on 16 May 2019)
BERAE (RZZE-—NFRATNBEZE)

Mr. Chan King Chung (resigned on 16 May 2019)
BREBALEE (RZE-—NFERA+TNAEMT)
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities for consolidated financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 116 to 121.

Annual audit fees of the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year payable to the external auditors are approximately HK$1,150,000
(for the year ended 31 March 2019: approximately HK$1,150,000). In
addition, approximately HK$260,000 (for the year ended 31 March 2019:
HK$360,000) was incurred for other non-audit services.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant authorities)
of risk management and internal control to the Audit Committee, who
oversees management in the design, implementation and monitoring of
the risk management and internal control systems.

Main features of the risk management and
internal control systems

The risk management framework of the Group and main responsibilities of
the members in the framework are described as follows:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL REEERRAIBEG (&)
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Main features of the risk management and EREERADEFIFHENETERHE
internal control systems (continued) (#&)

Member Main Responsibilities

RE FERE

The Board ° Set up goals for risk management strategy, assess and determine the nature and
B5g extent of risk acceptable to achieve the strategy goals;

Audit Committee
BZEZEY

RUEBREEHEHEAR FELETEREEEFTUAINRLRIEEMIZE

° Establish and maintain a proper and effective risk management and internal control
systems; and

BN RAEREE R R E IR R AR IS E R

° Review the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems annually.

TR R E I K A BB I I 8 A ARk

° Assist the Board in overseeing the risk level and the design and performance of the risk
management and internal control systems;

1 BhEE S B B2 L K P DA R L B B TR T PN AR 1 6 R B AR ET R BT IB R

° Discuss the risk management and internal control systems with the management,
ensure the management has fulfilled its responsibility of establishing effective systems;

HEREENmERERERABENNE BREEBCETREZLARNGIE

o Ensure that the internal audit function has sufficient resources for operation and has a
proper position, review and supervise its performance;

RN ETBEAERENEREFELEE NN  BEREBEEMK:

o Keep updated of various major risks confronted by the Group and the risk
management status, make decisions for effective risk control;

EHMASEEENSAEEARR KRR BRI EH B R 6 R R

o Report the risk status of the Group and issues to be concerned or improved to the
Board on a regular basis;

EHMEFTEREAEENRARKANEFRINTENMEE

o Facilitate risk management and assessment, regularly appoint relevant accountable
persons to implement risk assessment;

fRERREE LG FHEEHEEEE NETRRE:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL REERRAIPIEG (&)
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Main features of the risk management and EEEERADBEFIFHENTERFE
internal control systems (continued) (#&)

Member Main Responsibilities

RE FEME

° Organise and promote the establishment of the risk management system at the group
level;

EEEDEEEENRREEERRR

° Review material risk assessment report and various risk management reports;
EEEAEETHRERSERRERRE

Audit Committee (continued) ° Review major risk management measures, rectify and deal with the decisions made or
BEzZzEg (#) actions adopted by relevant organisations or individuals beyond the risk management
system;
BEBNEAREIRHEE A EREIRHE B S E AR E R E IR 88 R A IMREE R
HRITH

° Engage relevant persons to organise and coordinate various departments and projects
to carry out identification and assessment of significant risks at the group level,
summarise and analyse such information, submit risk assessment and various risk
management reports; and
EFEAERASEBRASHPIRIER HRERBENENRBRETHMN &M I
BERDTEL BREABFERSHEARERE RS &

° Carry out risk management for other major issues.
HEMBEANMEETRRER-
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL REEERRAIBEG (&)
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

Main features of the risk management and EREERADEFIFHENETERHE
internal control systems (continued) (#&)
Member Main Responsibilities

BE

Management of subsidiaries
MEARERE

TERE

Ensure that the subsidiaries carry out the risk assessment in compliance with the risk
assessment manual formulated by the Group;

FEOR B I8 2 B 9% BR N 5% [0 1 T A LB R A2 T i 1T LB R A

Review and approve the risk assessment results of the subsidiaries in respect of the
business;

ERRAENBARHEBNRRGEER:

Ensure that the subsidiaries implement effective risk management;
BRIBARERARNRERERE:

Monitor the principal business risks confronted by the subsidiaries and the
effectiveness of relevant risk management measures; and
EEMEARHEN T 2EBRR MEERREEREENE R &

Allocate resources such as fund and workforce to the subsidiaries for implementation
of the risk assessment projects.
B ARREEBERTEEENER W& ANE-
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

Bz EER AERIEH (1)

CONTROL (CONTINUED)

The process used to identify, assess and

RAREE  FEREEERRABNE

management of principal risks F

The risk management process of the Group is described as follows: REEMREREERREFMET

Risk identification

[\ ez 78k

Risk analysis
[7LBg 5> A

Risk response
[ s rE

Control measures
PEHIE 5

Risk control
[ ez 122 46

Risk management report

[E B B IR R
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identify the current risks confronted.
A\ B Al Y = o

conduct analysis on the risk including the impact extent and possibility of occurrence.
HYERERBEENTRMETRRIN -

choose a proper risk response method and develop a risk mitigation strategy.
BRI E 8 E R P R 75 =0 2 7 B (R L B e SRS

propose up-to-date internal control measures and policy and process.
Fic 61 35 By B P 048 R4 e M R B AR -

continuously monitor the risks identified and implement relevant internal control
measures to ensure the effective operation of the risk response strategy.
548 BRI 38R [ B 3 e AR B Y 7 D45 11 e T R [ B B T SR S 0 B B AT o

summarise results of risk assessment and analysis and internal audit, formulate and
report an action plan.
REE RS R DT RAEERT AR - BIETTE)ET S0 AN ARE R



RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL (CONTINUED)

The process used to review the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control
systems and to resolve material internal
control defects:

The Group establishes a risk management information and
communication channel that is functional within the whole basic risk
control procedure, connects different levels in the reporting system and
different departments and operation units, so as to ensure timely, accurate
and complete communication of information, laying a solid foundation for
the monitoring and improvement of risk management.

Different departments and business units of the Group regularly inspect
and examine their own risk management process in order to locate
the shortcomings and remedy the situation if possible. Their inspection
and examination reports are delivered to the Group’s risk management
department in time.

The Board further considers that (i) there was no material issue relating
to the Group’s risk management and internal controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions of
the Group; and (i) that there were adequate staff with appropriate and
adequate qualifications and experience, resources for accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting functions, and adequate training programmes
had been provided during the Year.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

The Company has engaged Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline and
Mr. Shi Shaoming as the joint company secretaries. In compliance with
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Wong Po Ling, Pauline and Mr. Shi
Shaoming have undertaken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the Year.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board approved and adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”) which outlines general principles for the determination and
payment of dividend to its shareholders (the “Shareholders”). Dividends
or distributions by the Company shall be determined and declared in
accordance with the applicable laws and regulations, the Articles and
the Dividend Policy. The Board may amend any provision in the Dividend
Policy if it considers necessary.

Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, that, in recommending or declaring
dividends, the Company may declare and pay dividends to the
Shareholders by way of cash or by other means that the Board considers
appropriate. It is the policy of the Board, in recommending dividends, to
allow the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits, and at the
same time, to ensure the Company to retain adequate reserves for future
growth. The Company’s decision to declare or to pay any dividends in
the future, and the amount of such dividends will depend upon, among
other things, the current and future operations, financial condition, liquidity
position and capital requirements of the Group, as well as dividends
received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in turn
will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a
dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject
to the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and payment of
dividends by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the
laws of Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong Kong, the Company’s articles
of association and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Whilst this Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the
financial and cash-flow position of the Group, the Board will continue to
review this Dividend Policy from time to time and the Board may exercise
its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify this
Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary. There is no
assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any particular amount
for any given period. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a
legally binding commitment by the Company that any dividend will be
paid in any particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the
Group’s business, performance and strategies. The Company also
recognises the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of
information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the
informed investment decisions.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains the
website at www.okg.com.hk, where up-to-date information on the
Company’s business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available for
public access. Latest information on the Group including annual and
interim reports, announcements and press releases are updated on the
Company’s website in a timely fashion.

The 2020 annual general meeting of the Company (‘AGM”) will be held
on 27 August 2020. The notice of the AGM will be sent to Shareholders at
least 20 clear business days before the AGM.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a
special general meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the company secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meeting

Shareholders are welcomed to suggest proposals relating to the
operations, strategy and/or management of the Group to be discussed
at Shareholders’ meeting. Proposal shall be sent to the Board or the
company secretary by written requisition to the company secretary at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit 902-903, 9th
Floor, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
(CONTINUED)

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the company secretary or relevant personnel by
mail to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Unit
902-903, 9th Floor, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway
Bay, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

To reflect the change of name of the Company, the consolidated version
of the amended and restated memorandum and articles of association
(not formally adopted by the shareholders of the Company at the general
meeting) has been published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company on 26 June 2020.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no significant change on the
Company’s constitutional documents.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in () foundation works and ancillary
services and construction wastes handling services; (i) money lending
business; (iii) technology services and (iv) investment in securities. During
the Reporting Period, the Group has commenced the business in
provision of technology services in order to broaden the Group’s source of
income.

While striving for performance, the Group pursues business sustainability
by being a responsible corporate citizen and is committed to maintaining
high standards of business practices in relation to environmental
protection, social responsibility and corporate governance.

ABOUT THE REPORT

This report is the “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
(collectively “the ESG Report”) published by the Group, which discloses
the Group’s measures and performance on sustainable development
topics in a transparent and open manner, in order to increase
stakeholders’ confidence and understanding on the Group.

Reporting Standards

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the “ESG Guide”) of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) set out
in Appendix 27 of Main Board Listing Rules. The ESG Report provides
a simplified overview on the environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) performance of the Group. The information in the ESG Report
is derived from the Group’s official documents and statistics, as well as
the integration and summary of monitoring, management and operational
information provided by subsidiaries of the Group.

Reporting Year

All the information in the ESG Report reflects the performance of the
Group in environmental management and social responsibility from 1 April
2019 to 31 March 2020 (the “Reporting Period”). This ESG Report is
released annually by the Group for public review so as to improve the
transparency and responsibility of information disclosure.
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ABOUT THE REPORT (CONTINUED)
Reporting Scope

The ESG Report focuses on the Group’s key business activities carried
out in Hong Kong, which include the segments of foundation works
and ancillary services and construction wastes handling services,
which represent the Group’s major source of revenue and income.
After the comprehensive completion of data collection system and the
Group’s deepening in its ESG work, the Group has identified certain
environmental, social and governance issues (‘ESG issues”) relevant to
the Group, which have been assessed by considering their materiality and
importance to the Group’s principal activities and stakeholders as well as
the Group. Those identified ESG issues and Key Performance Indicators
(“KPIs”) have been disclosed in the ESG Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Stock Exchange has set forth four principles for reporting in the
ESG Guide: Materiality, Quantitative, Balance and Consistency, which
should form the basis for preparing the ESG Report. As The Stock
Exchange emphasizes, stakeholder engagement is the method by which
materiality is assessed. Through stakeholder engagement, companies can
understand wide-ranging views and identify material environmental and
social issues.

The Group believes that effective feedback from stakeholders not
only contributes to comprehensive and impartial evaluation of the
environmental, social and governance performance, but also enables the
Group to improve the performance based on their feedback. Therefore,
the Group has engaged in open and regular communication with
the stakeholder groups including shareholders and investors, clients,
employees, suppliers, subcontractors and government. Over the years,
the Group has continued to fine-tune our sustainability focus, addressing
pressing issues. The table below shows how the Group communicates
with key stakeholder groups and their respective concerns.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

Stakeholders and engagement methods

Stakeholders
HHE

Shareholders and
Investors

BRREEEE

Clients

®F

Employees

’E

Suppliers
e

Sub-contractors

DHE

Government

BT

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Interests and concerns

MR EE

Return on investment and dividends
RE B R E

Corporate strategy and governance
PERBERER

Risk mitigation and management

[ B e B 2 B

Robust operation management
BREKEER

Full compliance with laws and regulations
ZHEETERELER

Sustainability performance of operations

LENFERR

Compensation and benefits
M K A2 A

Occupational health and safety
BREREARZR

Career development opportunities
BEEREES

Corporate culture and well-being
RNRAIXAE R gt

Long-term partnership
RS IERHBIER

Ethical business practices
BREEEER

Supplier assessment criteria

HEEFEHIREE

Effective project management
BROER B

Occupational health and safety
BERRELD

Ethical business practices
BEEETER

Sub-contractors assessment criteria

£ HERHE R

Laws and regulation compliance

ERERER

RIF-HEREIGHRS

HinESHE (1])

FERSELTR

Engagement channels

SHRE

Annual General Meeting

REBFERE

Interim and annual reports, corporate
websites

PHARE KR AL
Announcements, notices of meetings,
circulars

RNE - RGBE -BH

Interim and annual reports, corporate
websites

RHIRE KR A

Regular meetings and communication

EHEENAR

In-house training programmes

WNEBIE FIET 2
Performance reviews and appraisals
RIS KT E
Promote career development and
enhance competence at all levels

HBRFHERIIESEEENEF

Procurement processes
KERRE

Audits and assessments
EizNET

Annual health, safety and environment
seminars

FERR ZE2RREWSE

Training sessions

HFIRIE

Regular progress meetings
THEESR

Audits and assessments

FZ KA

Review latest laws and regularly
inspection

BERRINERRENRE

BREHERERAR
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57



58

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIF-HEREIGHRS

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

Stakeholders and engagement methods
(continued)

The business of the Group affects different stakeholders, and
stakeholders have different expectations on the Group. The Group will
maintain communication with stakeholders continuously, collect opinions
of stakeholders through different forms more extensively, and make
substantive analysis more comprehensively. At the same time, the Group
will enhance the reporting principles of materiality, quantification, balance
and consistency, in order to define the content of the ESG Report and
presentation of the information that is more in line with the expectations of
stakeholders.

ENVIRONMENTAL

The Group is aware of its responsibility and required commitment to
the environmental sustainable development of its on-going operations.
The Group supports “Green Environment” ideas, comply with the
requirements of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (‘HKSAR”)
laws, and specific guides in the industry, and are committed to the social
responsibility of protecting the environment as a responsible corporation.
The Group has implemented policies and taken measures to ensure the
business and operation to be energy, water and resources saving.

The Group had not been subjected to any reported violation in relation
to its emissions and waste discharges or other environmental issues
during the Reporting Period. The Group did not note any material non-
compliance with environmental laws and regulations during the Reporting
Period.

A1. Emissions and waste

The Group understands that construction projects may generate
pollution and impact to the environment undoubtedly. In order to
govern the environmental management and minimize the impact
caused by the Group’s operations, the Group has formulated
relevant policies relating to environmental management and
established an environmental management system in accordance
with 1SO14001, which has been integrated into daily operations.
The Group is strictly committed to complying with requirements
stipulated in the relevant local environmental laws and regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

The Group has a dedicated department to coordinate and
implement environmental protection measures and objectives, and
to address environmental issues. The Group carries out a series
of environmental management measures at construction sites,
covering planning, materials procurement and various construction
procedures. The Group has also adopted measures concerning
noise, dust, pollution discharge, waste, energy, carbon emissions
and biodiversity to ensure that all business activities are strictly in
compliance with local laws and regulations.

In specific, the Group has also adopted the relevant procedures
and guidelines relating to construction waste management, in order
to govern the management and disposal process of construction
wastes and maximize the reuse and recycling.

The Group strives to constantly improve its environmental
management system, in order to minimize negative impacts on the
environment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
would have a significant impact on the environment or on the
Group.

Exhaust Gas Emissions

Exhaust gas emissions from construction sites may cause nuisance
to both construction workers and communities nearby. During
the construction and demolition process, air pollutants including
nitrogen oxides (“NOx”), sulphur oxides (“SOx”) and Particulate
Matter (‘PM”) are generated by construction machines and
vehicles, which consume diesel and other fossil fuels.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

BRIR (#])

A1. Emissions and waste (continued) Al. BERI R Y (48)
Exhaust Gas Emissions (continued) BERBEM (&)
Exhaust Gas Emissions Performance Summary RN X E
2020 2019

Type of exhaust gas Unit Quantity Quantity

—E-EF —E-AF
BRER By = HE
NOx kg 3,332.41 2,169.24
=Rl et T
SOx kg 0.33 074
ey T
PM kg 239.61 155.98
R T

For the level of exhaust gas incurred by the Group in FY2020, the
exhaust gas have been increased slightly comparing to FY2019,
due to the frequent travel between construction sites and dumping
sites compare to last Reporting Period.

For the construction business, air pollution is one of the key
concerns on environmental protection. Related operational
procedure is established to control air pollution and emissions
of dust, fumes, smokes, obnoxious gases and other air-borne
particulates within the legal limits and tolerable limits of the affected
persons.

For dust emissions control, vehicles carrying sand, debris or other
materials likely to generate dust are fully covered with canvas before
leaving the site. Besides, all vehicles are jet-washed prior to leaving
the site. Wet work method should be used during cleaning of higher
units/floors to reduce dust. The storage areas for sand, cement and
aggregates are located as far as possible from sensitive receptors
such as public housing, school, hospital and hostel etc. Stockpile
of sand and aggregates etc. at concrete batching plant is sheltered
with canvas if possible to prevent dust pollution. To control the
emissions of fumes and obnoxious gas, proper disposal and
removal of unwanted air-conditioner is needed and use of halon-
containing fire-extinguishers is prohibited. All gas cylinders should
be kept at a safe place and all the precaution should be taken
during hot work/activities. Air quality of sites is monitored to ensure
the effectiveness of the mitigation measures.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Exhaust Gas Emissions (continued)

Exhaust Gas Emissions Performance Summary (continued)

To further manage exhausts gas emissions, construction related
plants and vehicles are properly maintained to ensure compliance
with related standards. All applicable machineries are certified with
Non-Road Mobile Machinery (‘“NRMM”), which are recognised as
more environmental friendly and emission-compliant operations.
The Group has also installed air pollution control equipment on gas
discharge ports of compressors, crawler cranes and generators.
Designated employees are employed to conduct regular
maintenance and monitoring work on machines and vehicles to
ensure no heavily polluted black smoke are emitted. Marked Ultra-
Low-Sulphur Diesel (“MULSD”) are used for the diesel-operated
constructional plant on site. Random testing of sulphur content
is performed for the plant. Records of MULSD consumption and
testing are properly kept.

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

The Group is committed to maintaining the quality of the
environment, using clean energy, reducing pollution and waste
during operation to reduce and even eliminate the adverse impact
on the environment from operating activities and emissions.
Over the years, the Group has been committed to environmental
protection and has adopted a number of appropriate measures
and monitoring methods to ensure that its responsibility for
environmental protection has been fulfilled.

In the business operation, the Group actively advocates energy
conservation and emission reduction by continuously increasing
investment in environmental protection. Through the use of clean
energy and other measures, the Group reduces the generation of
exhaust pollutants from the source to avoid environmental pollution.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued) A1l.

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions (continued)

GHG Emissions Performance Summary (continueq)

R (&)

BE R REY (%)

BERE (DRERE]) R (E)

HEREHKXKBHE ()

2020 2019
2020 Intensity? - 2019 Intensity? -
GHG scope’ Unit Quantity  unit per project Quantity  unit per project
_ ? —_= $ :g—ﬂiﬁ
—ECER BE- “E-nF BE-
REREEE By gE BEBEEEN gE SEBEEEN
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)
ERRERES N (HEN)
- Diesel and petrol consumption Tonnes 60.33 3.02 101.11 4.81
- SR BT ERE U
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2)
EEREREHN (HE2)
- Electricity consumption Tonnes 30.01 1.50 121.87 5.80
-ENEH 1
Other indirect GHG emissions (Scope 3)
HivmRERBHEN (HES)
— Electricity used for processing fresh water, Tonnes 30.64 1.63 11,824.20 563.06
sewage and others
- REAK K REMAERNE S 1
Total GHG emissions Tonnes 120.98 6.05 12,047.18 573.68
RERBAHENE i
According to the figures above, there is significant decrease of GHG BE LT S _FTFUFREREH
emissions in FY2020. It is mainly due to less construction projects WEKERD - IEEHHE’\\? geeaci=l
RERERE S EE-EmEE R ERE

are under the execution stage, resulting in a notable decrease in
Scope 3 — other indirect GHG emissions.

Besides, one of the ongoing construction projects was temporarily
stopped due to change of design and consultant. Therefore,
less electricity for processing fresh water and sewage has been
incurred.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions (continued)

GHG Emissions Performance Summary (continueq)

Note:

1. GHG emissions data is presented in carbon dioxide equivalent and was
in reference to, including but not limited to, the reporting requirements
of the “GHG Protocol Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard”
issued by the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council
for Sustainable Development, “Summary of Emission Factors for the
Guidance for Voluntary Corporate Greenhouse Gas Reporting 2015”
issued by Ministry for the Environment of New Zealand and the HKEX —

KPIs: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs.

2. As at 31 March 2020, the total number of the completed and ongoing
construction projects of the Group was 20 (2019: 21 projects), which

would also be used for calculating other intensity data.

In addition, climate change has been an increasing concern for
parties including the Government of HKSAR, general public and
investors. The Group has thereby responded through limiting
carbon footprints of its construction activities. The Group also
strives to use regionally sourced materials produced within 800km
from the construction sites, where applicable, in order to reduce
exhaust gas and GHG emitted from freight transportation.

Consumption of electricity is proved to cause indirect GHG
emissions through its generation process. The Group has
implemented measures as stated in section A2 “Energy Efficiency”
below in order to reduce energy consumption, and thereby
minimizing carbon footprint.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Hazardous Wastes

Due to the nature of the projects being participated during
the Reporting Period, the Group does not generate significant
hazardous wastes. However, the Group still strives to mitigate the
hazardous wastes generated from the operation process as much
as possible.

Sewage Disposal and Management

Wastewater generated from different construction sites without
proper treatment may block nearby drains and cause pollution.
As a result, the Group takes further necessary steps to monitor
and maintain wastewater quality. The amount of wastewater
consumption during the Reporting Period is stated at Aspect A2
“Water Efficiency Management”.

The sewage produced from construction sites that need to be
discharged would first be treated at the sewage treatment tank, to
ensure it meets the requirements of the sewage discharge license
and would subsequently be discharged through sewage drains.

Nonpoint source water pollution is often caused by land runoff,
seepage and drainage after precipitation and construction works.
To avoid leakage of wastewater to nearby communities, temporary
drainage network has been established on site to systematically
collect all discharges. Designated workers are appointed to
properly manage the drainage system and ensure that there are no
blockages of drains and sewers caused by debris and sediments.
Sandbags are placed along the site boundary to prevent any
leakage of surface runoff where possible.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)
A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Waste Disposal and Management

Wastes are well managed on-site. To ensure waste management
process is both environmentally acceptable and in full compliance
with statutory and contractual requirements, waste handling,
transportation and disposal procedures are implemented. The
Group provides guidance and instruction on waste management
to all site staff. The Group has adopted a number of measures to

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IR HBREISHRS

R (&)
A1, SRR ()

BONEERER

THFRBRMOEZEEE - RERENE
BRERRIZENAENREOHRTE
AEBEEMHREYERE EXNEERE A
SEEMERRMERSE TIRHEE
NIETR - REB D RNZ B EIA B IZREY)
MEERIZ BRETRRY:

manage the disposal process of the waste, including but not limited

to:

S According to the relevant waste management policies of
the Group, all departments and workshops classify the solid

REBEASERBEENEEBR &5
FIMERSELNEREDETD

wastes generated and take measures for their comprehensive
utilization to reduce disposal pressure. For example, inert and
non-inert waste are identified before disposal;

The subsidiaries of the Group engage qualified waste
collectors to collect all kinds of domestic and construction
waste. These wastes collected are disposed at the
designated landfill and treatment facilities; and

Non-hazardous waste should be recycled and utilized as far
as possible. Non-hazardous waste and hazardous waste that
cannot be reused and recycled will be entrusted to a qualified
waste disposal company for disposal.
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RIF-HEREIGHRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Waste Disposal and Management (continued)

In its operation, the Group inevitably generates waste. However,
with effective waste disposal strategies and policies, the Group
has minimized the environmental risks and impacts caused by
the waste. During the Reporting Period, the consumption volume
generated by the Group is set out as below:

BiE (#)
A1, BRI R B ()

BNEEREE (H)

FEREBET  AKE A % E LR
W) o SN T - IR AE B RO R W BE TR SR B Ko X
R AEECKEVASRORERR MY
LRERE -NMESHPEA NEEELN
HEEHEIIMT

2020 2019
2020 Intensity - 2019 Intensity -
Types of non-hazardous waste Unit Quantity  unit per project Quantity  unit per project
ZECER “E-hE
—ECER BE- “E-nF BE-
BEBEYESR B gE BEEEEQ 4 SEEREQ
Inert construction and demolition (‘C&D") Tonnes 150,081 7,504.03 19,058 907.52
waste disposed to public fill facilities
(including sands, bricks and concrete)
MAERRERENERFREY WE
(RHEY BMERL)
Non-inert C&D waste disposed at landfill (bamboo, Tonnes 376 18.79 208 9.90
plastics, glass, wood and other organic
materials)
AR5 R B MR IR Y e
(178K BB AV REMB MR
Mixed construction & demolition waste Tonnes 2.63 - S
BRIFEEYD e

According to the figures above, the non-hazardous waste have
been significantly increased in FY2020. It is mainly due to the Group
had involved more deep excavation works which incurred much
larger quantities of inert C&D materials.

The Group has been proactively looking for solutions to minimize or
even avoid generation and disposal of wastes. The Group has then
applied the 4R principles of waste reduction — i.e. reduce, reuse,
recycle and replace — where feasible. For example, to reduce waste,
all construction activities are specially planned by professionals
to minimize and avoid unnecessary resources input throughout
the piling process. To reuse materials, construction workers are
directed to reuse construction materials whenever possible in the
same project or in other projects of the Group. For example, extra
steels are reused to produce construction materials and to support
temporary construction works on site.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)
A1. Emissions and waste (continued)

Waste Disposal and Management (continued)

Other measures for handling wastes include:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

- Placing recycle bins around the Group’s offices, properties

and construction sites to collect general wastes such as

cardboards, metals and plastic containers, and hence

encouraging recycling practices.

A2. Use of Resources

A2,

The Group continues with initiatives to introduce resource

efficiency and eco-friendly measures to the Group’s operations,

and is committed to optimizing the use of resources in all of its

business operations. With a view to enhance efficiency of the

use of resources, the Group had incorporated the concept of

environmental protection into the process of site construction

operations and office administration.

Regarding to the usage of materials conservation, employee in sites

should:

S Prevent overflow or spillage when transferring diesel;

Keep timber, rebar, cement and other materials in good
condition;

Reduce, reuse and recycle papers, timber and other
materials where possible;

Power off compressors, generator sets, bar-bending
machines, etc. when not in use and regular maintenance of
equipment/machinery is required to increase the efficiency;

Switch off air-conditioners, lights, fans and radios etc. when
not in use to reduce electricity consumption. Water at the
vehicle-washing bay shall be reused and re-circulated.
Workers/sub-contractors shall switch off the pump and turn
off the running hose when not in use; and

Use ECO mode of all applicable construction machines.
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R HEBKREIGHE

ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED) IR (48)

A2. Use of Resources (continued) A2. ERAA (&)

68

In addition, the Group also promotes to its employees in office the
concept of efficient use of resources, included but not limited to:

Keep doors and windows closed when air conditioners are
in operation, and maintain the optimal temperature at 25.5
Degree Celsius;

S Encourage the staff to save water and reduce domestic
sewage in toilet;

- Turn off all lights, computers, office equipment and air
conditioners when no one is in office;

- Use double-sided printing instead of single-sided printing;

- Implement the 3R principle, which is “reducing, reusing and

AN ARBETRERLAEREREERE
MABHBR BRETRR:

— BB RISMEMEE R
BREERAEERK255E:

-  BEETENRKERDHRIAK:

BAEARLER BEMEE-

&
==]
B BRARBERZER:

13

—  EREEITEmIEEETE

- BRI ER MEEARER

recycling”; and BAIRA: R

= Make use of scanned or electronic copies, in the ordinary - R—REBKBREY FAFHEKE
course of business. =N

Energy Efficiency BER M E

Energy policy has been developed to set energy conservation
as one of the Group’s fundamental policies. All employees must
implement the adopted measures, including the purchase of
energy-efficient products and services, and assume responsibility
for the Group’s overall energy efficiency. By building up an energy
management system, the Group develops and regularly reviews its
energy objectives and targets to continuously enhance the Group’s
energy performance.

The Group’s energy management system is applicable to:

AEE T FIERREER  HEMENARE
MBEARRKZ — BB T HBERITRERE
e BIERESRERERRRS  LH A
SENBRHREAXEE - BEEYRRE
IR A KB I E KE BT BEIR B AR A
IR URERE AR BHRERAER

AEBEMREREERFERR

- The construction of buildings; -  BEEYRES:
= Construction of site formation, roads and drainage and — ST EER PKRMETIEN
foundation works; and B

= Building activities to keep, restore and improve the facilities of
buildings and surroundings.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2020 Annual Report

-  BERPURE  RERKZEEY
NEEREE R



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIF-HEREIGHRS

ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED) EiE (&|)

A2. Use of Resources (continued) A2. ERFIA (&)
Energy Efficiency (continued) BERME (&)
The energy management system is implemented with annual review e REERA ST FETRN ARBE
to assist in achieving its energy saving objectives and targets. BEisE B R RIBE
Moreover, monthly monitoring of the usage of electricity and water SEoh - AR E T A ERIKE R EM R A E
and other materials is implemented. Unexpected high consumption RIBER - R BN S ERE  BEZIBN
of electricity will be investigated to find out the root cause and take EITHE  SHRBAREWRITE &5 o

preventive measures.

Other energy efficiency initiatives include: HaRARRNERIERIE:

-~ Managing fuel and electricity usage through deployment of — FERRESHRE BEMREKEE
high efficiency equipment; and A &

- Using Lighting Management System to control power voltage — FRARATERGIEHERERELE-

and save energy.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s consumption in petrol, REHRAN - AEEH - 508 RENHE
diesel and electricity were: FEIBRET
2020 Intensity - 2019 Intensity -
2020 Unit per 2019 Unit per
Energy type Unit Quantity project Quantity project
“ECEF CECZERE- “E-hE ZE-NEBE-
RRER By gE SEEREN g& SEEEEN
Petrol litres 22,281 1,114.06 8,487 404.14
il A
Diesel litres - - 38,307 1,824.14
S A
Electricity kWh 58,846 2,942.30 238,952 11,378.67
W) THE
According to the figures above, the overall consumption in diesel, RIR e T - Sed UM R E DR ELEE
petrol and electricity decreased slightly in FY2020 and it mainly ﬁ;mf S TFEUFEM TR DEER
attributed to less projects are under the execution stage comparing P B3RS AR RAOEB ERMIT
to last Reporting Period. Besides, the execution staff training about PEERFREL - IbON BE THERBBERRA A
the environmental friendly approach is also the reason for the drop. RSB T BERREA -

BRI EEERER A A
—E_ZEER
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

RIR(]|)

A2. Use of Resources (continued)

Water Efficiency Management

The Group strives to use water efficiently in every aspect of
business. The Group takes water management very seriously and
closely monitors water use at construction sites. Hence, the Group
set up water recycling systems at most construction sites. During
the Reporting Period, the water consumption volume (is also being
treated as the amount of sewage discharge) of the Group’s office
and project sites offices is set out as below:

2020 Intensity -

A2. ERAA (&)

Ak¥mER

EHI K BB - AEE+ D ERK
BREE BYEERZET MK it
AEBEASBHBRETHRBKEREH
R -NmEREA AEERAERIER
WM ERNAKE (TR A5 KN
B)E}IImMT

2019 Intensity -

2020 unit per 2019 unit per

Water consumption Unit Quantity project Quantity project

SgogE “PoEEEE- C$-AEF CE-AEERE-

Rk B gE SREEEEQ g8 SEEEEN

Water cubic meters 14,334 716.70 13,719 653.29
K UK

Compared to last Reporting Period, the water consumption remains
at a reasonably low level slightly. The Group will keep on monitoring
the water consumption volume and strive to remain the intensity at
a low level.

Packaging Materials
The Group does not produce any finished products. Therefore, the

Group does not consume significant amount of package materials
for product packaging.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A3. Environment and Natural Resources

Although the Group has minimized the impact on the environment
and natural resources, as an ongoing commitment to good
corporate citizenship, the Group endeavours to minimise negative
environmental impact of the business operations and its investment
portfolios, in order to achieve a sustainable development for
generating long-term values to stakeholders and community as a
whole.

The Group regularly assess the environmental risks of the business
and adopt preventive measures as necessary to reduce the risks
and ensure the compliance of relevant laws and regulations.

Noise Abatement

Noise nuisance is often caused by construction works, especially
during foundation piling operations. Therefore, the Group strictly
monitors and controls noise levels, and complies with such relevant
laws and regulations.

The Group will carefully identify any Noise Sensitive Receiver
(e.g. hospitals, educational institute, court of law, etc.) before
commencement of any construction works. Due care is exercised
by implementing more noise abatement measures and maintaining
more stringent noise control standards.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

A3. Environment and Natural Resources

(continued)

Noise Abatement (continued)

Due to the nature of percussive piles which involve the driving of
piles by percussive means (e.g. hammering), this type of piling
works is perceived to generate a substantial amount of noise and
vibration while the machines are in operation. Careful scheduling
of noisy piling works during less sensitive hours is engaged to
minimise noise nuisance to nearby neighbourhood. The hours of
operation which allow to perform foundation works are set out in
the Construction Noise Permit issued by the government. Under
certain circumstances, the Group may apply for special extension
to carry out works during prohibited hours but such special
extension would only be granted on the basis that the works
carried out will not disturb others, e.g. for construction sites located
at remote areas with no nearby residents. Although the Group
strictly adhere to the restricted hours of operations stipulated in
the Construction Noise Permit, complaints from nearby residents
regarding disturbances caused by operation of the machinery may
be received. Under such circumstances, the Group will work with
the relevant authorities and the person making the complaint with
the aim of introducing measures (e.g. installing sound proofing) to
mitigate the disturbances caused.

Machinery and equipment with Quality Powered Mechanical
Equipment (“QPME”) labels recognized by the Environmental
Protection Department are proved to be quieter, more
environmental-friendly and efficient as opposed to standard
equipment. The Group ensures that QPME labelled machineries
and equipment to lawfully operate in every construction site.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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SOCIAL
B1. Employment and Labour Practices

The Group is convinced that employees are the vital factor for the
success of an enterprise. The Group treats all employees the most
valuable assets of the Group and also the most intimate and reliable
partners of the Group in promoting sustainable development.
Through establishing a comprehensive employment management
system, the Group provides employees with a competitive,
attractive, fair and inclusive working environment. The Group makes
every effort to let all employees fully unleash their value, and create
a workplace where employees feel satisfied and relaxed.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related laws and
regulations (i.e. Employment Ordinance) in Hong Kong that would
have a significant impact on the Group.

Recruitment and Remuneration

The Group strictly follows relevant employment laws of Hong
Kong through the establishment of Human Resources Policy. The
Group offers an array of benefits on top of those required by laws
and regulations in Hong Kong to cater for the personal needs
of our employees and care for their physical and psychological

development.

Working environment °

THERE

Benefits o

& A medical care, etc.;

RIF-HEREIGHRS

it &

B1.

BRERETESR

AEBREEREDEERINERTR-
AEERE—NEITEREEREEW
BE BRAKEHRPHEFRNE L&
MEAENBH - BEEIXHNERE
BHE AEEAREBREART N W
N RFAROTERE - AKRER RS
—fIREMERDBHEOREE  EE—(E
T BT REZRERRRNES -

RBESER  REBY THAENEBFE
HAKEREAFEZANBREERER
HEEEFOER (BIERIED) 2B -

BERHM

AEBEBBEHEANERBRBERETE
BREEERER AEBERHEBREENE
R TE PSR ZAEAR A - LA 2 1B B HIfE A
FE BOEEMNSLER-

Provide site workers with shower rooms and common rooms;
BB T ARBKAERKEE:

Provide meal allowance, business trip allowance, overtime compensation,

REBRZEN LEHY TEERKFHE BRREES:

Physical and psychological development e
of employees
EBEFLER .

MBXUERBERD: &

e Conduct training course such as emotional management, occupational

safety, etc.

Regularly host various sports activities, book sports venues for workers;
EHABRERERY REIRIESSE:
Host cultural and sports events; and

BRBHEEE BEXLZE2EHRIRE-

The Group hires employees through open recruitment, fair
competition and strict appraisals and recruits workers on a selective
basis. The Group also continues to strengthen local young talent
recruitment in Hong Kong by selecting suitable fresh graduates
through recruitment activities and employment fairs in universities.

REEFEBRFRES - QP MBS
ARABEREREEFNET -AKETB
BAERREHLBESRESENERE
BEL BENREBRMEFASBEL
fe

BB R AR A A
—g-2rrR

73



74

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R HEBKREIGHE

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B1. Employment and Labour Practices

(continued)

Promotion and Career Development

The Group cherishes and care for the employees. Therefore, the
Group attracts outstanding talents to join its workforce through
establishing a comprehensive promotion system so that the
workforce can thrive and grow from strength to strength.

The Group regularly conducts industrial benchmarking evaluation
and salary surveys for adjusting the remuneration level and
decisions on promotion in a timely manner. The Group adopts a
responsibility system for operational and management objectives,
and has developed systematic business indicators as an important
basis for annual performance and career development assessment.
Supervisor also discusses the performance with employee in
facilitating an effective 2-way communication for advancement.
Based on the evaluation result, the Group offers rewards to
employees in encouraging continuous improvement.

Communication Channels

The Group pays great attention to communicate between the
management and employees at all levels as the Group believes
that good communication will help to enhance the employees’
sense of belonging, boost work morale and create a harmonious
workplace. The Group maintains regular communication with
employees through overall progress reporting, career development
assessment, seminar for new joiners, mailbox for recommendation,
and employee satisfaction survey. Survey forms are distributed
in understanding employees’ opinions on work responsibility,
working environment, organization and employee relationship,
compensation and benefits, etc. The Group also encourages
employees at all levels to contribute valuable insights on the
Group’s business operations and corporate culture through various
channels to their respective superiors, the person-in-charge or the
human resources departments of their respective entities or the
officers-in-charge at all levels.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B1.

B2.

Employment and Labour Practices
(continued)

Gender Equality and Anti-discrimination

Equal opportunities and anti-discrimination are one of the core parts
of the Group corporate culture. The Group strives to establish and
maintain a diversified, inclusive and non-discriminatory working
environment as the Group appreciates different backgrounds and
professional experience of all employees. In Employees’ Handbook,
the Group undertakes that all employees, regardless of gender,
age, nationality and race, are entitled to equal job opportunities and
benefits, covering training, promotion, transfer, dismissal, layoff,
employment conditions, etc.

The Group has also formulated the policies to provide clear
and specific guidelines on prohibition of any direct or indirect
discrimination and harassment concerning gender, marital status,
pregnancy, disability, family status, race, etc. Employees are
welcome to report any suspected cases through the whistleblowing
mechanism to protect the rights and interests of each employee.

Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy
working environment. Therefore, the Group has adopted an
occupational health and safety system in accordance with relevant
occupational health and safety laws, rules and regulations. It is
managed by safety department for the benefit of employees and
sub-contractors’ employees. In order to recognize the potential risk
in the daily operation, the Group conducts regular risk assessment
to provide employees with a healthy and safe working environment.

With effect from March 2015, the Group’s occupational health and
safety has been implemented in compliance with the requirements
of OHSAS18001:2007 international standards.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with health and safety-related laws and
regulations (i.e. Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance) in Hong
Kong that would have a significant impact on the Group.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B2. Health and Safety (continued)

Safety Management

The Group has developed the policies for safety and health
management, and formulated specific work guidelines according
to various scopes and procedures of construction to guarantee the
safety and health of all employees, sub-contractors and the people
affected by any relevant construction works.

The Group has formed corporate safety management committee
which chaired by the Directors to formulate safety policies and to
supervise its implementation. Top and senior management are also
required to attend safety conferences to discuss safety policies.

The Group’s safety officer is responsible for setting up safety plans
for workers before carrying out their duties in construction sites,
inspecting machines and equipment to ensure they are safe to
be used, carrying out regular safe walks to maintain safe working
environment and site tidiness and handling safety incidents and
keeping safety records.

The Group also arranges regular internal safety audit. For example,
the Group offers equipment to comply with the safety requirements.
The Group also monitors and supervises compliance with health
and safety system to ensure compliance with statutory and
contractual requirements and consider and implement appropriate
improvements for the existing system.

Safety Training

The Group provides regular safety training to the staff, including but
not limited to:

- Providing appropriate safety training and instructions
generally and for use of new working methods and
equipment;
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B2.

B3.

Health and Safety (continued)

Safety Training (continued)

- Providing all new employees at construction sites with
safety and health training, which covered the Group’s safety
and health policy, organizational structure for construction
site safety, safety code of conduct for construction site
employees, engineering characteristics and potential
risks, emergency response procedures and other relevant
guidelines on safety management; and

- Carrying out safety hazard clearance, emergency drills, safety
advocacy and other related activities on the construction
sites.

Employee Health Management

The Group offers comprehensive health care coverage for entire
employee such as health benefits. The Group also organises work-
life balancing activities for employees, implemented green projects
at office and carries out other activities to promote healthy living
practices. Health and safety communications are provided to
employees to present the relevant information and raise awareness
of occupational health and safety issues.

Development and Training

The Group believes that fostering and retaining talent are a core
part of ensuring sustainable development and strengthening its
competitiveness and regards staff as a strategic partner. Therefore,
the Group strives to provide support for employees’ career
development and personal value enhancement through systematic
training programmes.
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RIF-HEREIGHRS

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B3. Development and Training (continued)

Training and Development Policies

In order to improve employees’ level of skills and knowledge and
maximize their potentials, the Group has organised workshops,
seminars and training programmes for employees covering various
aspects. Employees are also encouraged to enroll in external
study opportunities and job-related courses to enrich themselves
through acquiring higher professional skills and qualifications.
Training courses and seminars designated by the Company are fully
sponsored. Employees are also supported by granting special fully-
paid leave for training.

Training Management

The Group has developed relevant policies in controlling the training
related procedures to ensure the effectiveness of the training
program. A training plan is developed by management based on
the requirements from various departments and employees and
special technical employees are granted the necessary training for
acquiring the related technical licences. Management examines
the effectiveness of training programs, and provides improvement
plans. The facilitators should acquire the required qualifications in
delivering the training, for example, understanding the knowledge
and procedures of the operating sectors, and related laws,
regulations and standards.

Training Programmes
The Group provides sufficient training to employees on quality,

environmental rules, and occupational safety to enhance
employees’ awareness, skills, and knowledge.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B3. Development and Training (continued)

Training Programmes (continued)

New employees shall undergo an orientation by the various
department heads to ensure that they are familiar with the
management system for quality, environmental, health, and safety
issues:

- Consequences of their work activities on workplace safety
and health including identifiable hazards, possible accidents/
incidents;

- Importance of conforming to the site staff manual (quality,

environmental, health and safety) to prevent potential
consequences including accidents or incidents due to
deviation from specific procedures such as safe work

procedures; and

- On-the-job training under the guidance of senior staff for a
period to be decided by the respective department heads will
be provided for the new employees.

Furthermore, the Group provides different forms of training, not only
internal training, but also external special courses to equip staff
with professional skills and abilities to cater for the actual needs
of different departments and individuals. Safety induction course,
risk assessment and safe work procedure briefing are included in
internal training. External courses include occupational first aid,
safety and health management and equipment operation courses,
etc. Course contents include ISO140001, ISO9001 trainings,
construction laws and good industry practices, etc.
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B4.

BS.

Labour Standards

Prevention of Child Labour and Forced Labour

A set of procedures has been established to prevent employment
of child labour or forced labour through carefully reviewing the
personal information of job candidates and clearly explaining the
employment conditions to them.

The Group is well aware of the Group’s responsibility of monitoring
the compliance of sub-contractors in their employment of
construction workers. The Group has assigned officer responsible
for labour relations on each site to check the identities of workers
through an electronic access control system to ensure that each
worker meets the statutory requirements for on-site construction.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with child and forced labour-related laws
and regulations (i.e. Employment of Children Regulations, The
International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, Employment
Ordinance, etc.) in Hong Kong that would have a significant impact
on the Group.

Supply Chain Management

The Group understands the importance of supply chain
management in mitigating the indirect environmental and social
risks. The Group is aware of the environmental and social practices
of the suppliers/ sub-contractors, and tries to engage suppliers/
sub-contractors with responsible acts to the society in view of
green supply chain management.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B5. Supply Chain Management (continued)

Supply Chain Management Structure

In order to ensure that the Group suppliers and sub-contractors
have met clients’ and the requirements regarding quality,
environmental and safety standards, the Group formulated
standard and stringent procedures in selecting suppliers and
sub-contractors. The Group procurement manager maintains an
approved supplier and sub-contractor list. Assessments are carried
out for suppliers and sub-contractors at least on an annual basis
by contract managers and project managers. Regular meetings will
be held with sub-contractors to introduce and remind them to meet
all necessary requirements. The materials purchased from suppliers
and works performed by sub-contractors will be checked and
monitored on a regularly basis. Suppliers or sub-contractors may
be suspended or removed from the approved supplier and sub-
contractor list if they are failed to fulfil the Group’s standards.

Environmental and Social Responsibility of Suppliers/Sub-
contractors

The Group works closely with its sub-contractors and suppliers
who are committed to high quality, environmental, health and
safety standards. The Group strives to ensure that suppliers
and sub-contractors conform to the quality, environmental,
occupational health and safety requirements of the company. In
controlling the purchasing system, potential suppliers and sub-
contractors who can meet the qualification requirement to supply
goods and services will be identified by quantity surveyors or
purchasers. The suppliers or sub-contractors should at least
have a certified quality and environmental, health and safety
system (e.g. ISO9001, ISO14001, OHSAS 18001, etc.). Qualified
suppliers and sub-contractors will be maintained in an approved
supplier and sub-contractor list. The performance of suppliers and
sub-contractors will be reviewed annually by the Group.
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BS.

B6.

Supply Chain Management (continued)

Environmental and Social Responsibility of Suppliers/Sub-
contractors (continued)

Suppliers’ and sub-contractors’ other environmental and social
performances are also considered as a selection criteria for
establishing long-term relationship. Suppliers and sub-contractors
should not violate any related environmental and labour laws in
Hong Kong. The termination of suppliers and sub-contractors
relationship may be incurred by any substantial violation of laws and
regulations. The performance of suppliers and sub-contractors is
examined through regularly with onsite inspection, and the Group is
willing to provide guidance on improving their current practices.

Fair and Open Procurement

The Group has also formed rules to ensure that the suppliers and
sub-contractors could participate in competitions in an open and
fair way. The Group should not have differentiated or discriminated
treatment on certain suppliers and sub-contractors; the Group
would strictly monitor and prevent all kinds of business bribery; and
employees or personnel having any interest relationship with the
suppliers or sub-contractors should not be involved in the related
business activity.

Product Responsibility

Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for projects
are utmost important for sustainable growth of the Group. The
Group believes completing works that meet or exceed employer’s
requirements is crucial not only for building safety, but also for
job reference and future business opportunities. In order to
ensure delivering high quality services and sustainable projects to
customers, the construction process of the projects is controlled
and monitored regularly. The Group has been in strict compliance
with related laws and regulations in Hong Kong.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)
B6. Product Responsibility (continued)

Quality Management

The Group has established a formal quality management system
in accordance with the requirements of ISO9001:2008, OHSAS
18001:2007 and 1SO14001:2004 to develop a sustainable
performance oriented culture to pursue continuous improvement
on quality rather than adopting a short-term and project based
approach. Process control procedures has also been established
to ensure that the works meet the contractual specification and the
environmental, health and safety requirements. To pursue further
improvement, the Group’s Quality Management System is reviewed
at least annually by the management.

To ensure the Group’s works meet the required standards, the
Group normally assigns a responsible officer on a full-time basis
at each of the construction sites to monitor of the quality of works
done by staff at the front line and sub-contractors (as the case
may be). The project manager who generally makes daily visits
to construction sites is responsible for monitoring works quality
and progress of works and ensuring that works are completed
according to schedule. Furthermore, weekly meetings are held by
project team with management to monitor each of the projects’
progress and discuss identified issues. The Group’s management
monitors closely the progress of each of the projects to ensure the
works:

S are met with client’s requirements;

- are completed within the time stipulated in the contract and
the budget allocated for the project; and

S are complied with all relevant codes and regulations
applicable to the works.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B6. Product Responsibility (continued)

Business Ethics

The tendering process must be done in a fair manner to protect
the interests of the Group and clients. Employees responsible
for tendering must comply with the Competition Ordinance by
refraining themselves from exchanging or communicating any
sensitive information with competitors, participating in price fixing,
imposing restrictions on clients and abusing the dominant market
position. Relevant requirements on confidentiality and compliance
with Competition Ordinance have also been set out in the Group’s
Code of Conduct.

Customer Service

The Group cares about clients’ feedback and their satisfaction
on the Group’s performances. In order to provide good quality
of service, the Group strives to understand the needs of clients.
The Group also strives to provide the best services in supporting
the Group’s clients. Customer Service Officer offers the required
assistance to clients on the application of services with their
professional knowledge.

Quality Department continues to send official customer satisfaction
surveys to the Group’s clients for reviewing the performances.
The review covered the Group'’s tendering and quantity surveying,
project management, material and resources control, workmanship,
environment, safety and security performances, etc. Through
regular interaction with clients, the project manager and engineer
will gather information on their perception of the services.

The Group also handles complaints from clients by amending
the non-conformity within targeted timeframe, by complying with
statutory regulations, clients’ requirements and internal rules and
policies.
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SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

B6.

B7.

Product Responsibility (continued)

Customer Privacy Protection

The Group is committed to ensuring that all confidential or special
information provided by clients, employees and business associates
remains strictly confidential. The Group is entered into confidential
agreements with clients and sub-contractors. Without their
authorization, such information will not be disclosed to any third
party or made available to public.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
incidents of non-compliance with laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group, concerning health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to services
provided and methods of redress.

Anti-Corruption

The Group does not tolerate any corruptions, frauds and all other
behaviours violating work ethics. The Group values and upholds
integrity, honesty and fairness in how the Group conducts business.

Internal Control

The Group has established a formal Code of Conduct to help
to define appropriate methods in handling conflict of interests,
accepting advantages, leakage of confidential information, etc.
to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and other
relevant laws and regulations. All employees should decline an
offer of advantage if acceptance of it could affect their objectivity in
conducting the Group’s business. Employees will be subjected to
disciplinary actions if they are found violating the Code of Conduct
after investigation. Disciplinary actions include verbal or written
warnings, demotion and dismissal, and the case may be reported
to law-enforcement authorities for possible prosecution, depending
on the situation.

To further mitigate business frauds, the Group appoints
professional consulting firm to evaluate the Group’s internal control
effectiveness, detecting potential deficiency, and identifying areas of
improvement. Internal Audit Report is distributed to the Group for
remediation.
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B7.

B8.

Anti-Corruption (continued)

Whistleblowing Policy

In order to further achieve and maintain the highest standards
of openness, probity and accountability, the Group has also
implemented a whistleblowing policy. This policy allows all
employees of the Group as well as independent third parties (e.g.
clients, suppliers, sub-contractors, creditors and debtors) who
deal with any employees to report any possible improprieties,
misconducts, malpractices or irregularities in matters of financial
reporting, internal control or other matters to the Audit Committee
anonymously. Reports and complaints received will be handled
in a prompt and fair manner. Such policy also aims at protecting
whistleblower from unfair dismissal, victimization and unwarranted
disciplinary actions. Any person who is found to have victimized or
retaliated against those who have raised concerns under this policy
will be subjected to disciplinary sanctions.

Anti-Corruption Training

Representatives from the Independent Commission Against
Corruption are also invited to hold anti-corruption talks with specific
issues relating to the Group’s businesses to further enhance anti-
corruption system.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any litigation
involving the allegation of corruption of the Group or its employees.

Community Investment

The Group is committed to emboldening and supporting the public
by the means of social participation and contribution as part of
its strategic development, and to nurture the corporate culture
and practices of corporate citizen in the daily work life throughout
the Group. The Group focuses on inspiring employees towards
social welfare concerns. The Group would embraces the human
capital into the social management strategies to sustain the
Group’s corporate social responsibility as a part of the strategic
development of the Group.
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B8. Community Investment (continued)

Maintaining a Good Relationship with Neighbours

The Group understands that any construction project will have an
impact on the surrounding environment and the lives of nearby
communities. The Group cares about the communities adjacent
the projects. Hence, the Group aims to reduce the impact of
the construction process on the surrounding communities by
carrying out environmental management on sites. Public relations
management projects are also carried out on the Group’s sites by
communicating with the residents, businesses and passers-by near
projects to maintain a harmonious relationship with neighbours.
A list of the site staff and their contact details are posted on the
hoarding panels of the Group’s sites to facilitate stakeholders’ direct
contact with the site staff in handling inquiries and complaints on a
timely manner.

Community Participation

The Group participates in community activities, for example,
donations, volunteering services, sponsorships, etc. With the active
participation in community events to help the needy. The Group
also regularly communicates with local charities to understand
community’s needs. The Group believes it helps to connect with
the local community, and maintain a mutually beneficial relationship
to the society as a whole.

Raising Awareness of Employees

The Group’s employees are encouraged to donate to recognized
charitable institutions in order to help grass-roots community or
those in need, so that they can gain education and care. The Group
also encourages employees to suggest areas of contribution based
on their personal experiences in the community.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

INDICATORS

Aspect A1: Emissions

A1EE : HER

Performance indicator

REER

Emissions

E2954

Non-hazardous waste

BEBRW

88 OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Total NOx emissions (kg)

BRI DNOYEEHE (T32)

Total PM emissions (kg)
BEERPMBERE (T7=)

Total SOx emissions (kg)

B AL (SONHEME (T3=)

Total GHG emissions (tonnes)
BERBAHERE (W)

Intensity of GHG emissions per project

(tonnes)
BEBEEMAZERBHREE (BB)
Inert C&D waste (tonnes)

fEEIRZREY (WR)

Non-inert C&D waste (tonnes)

B ZRE Y (WR)

Mixed C&D waste (tonnes)
REFEREY) (HE)

Intensity of inert C&D waste per
project (tonnes)

BEREBOBEEREEDTE
(W)

Intensity of non-inert C&D waste per
project (tonnes)

BEREE OFEBEREEDTE
(W)

Intensity of mixed C&D waste per
project (tonnes)

1155 B RS IREENEE

Mg

BERRER
2020 Data 2019 Data
S E L U
6 g
3,332,41 2,169.24
239.61 155.98
0.33 0.74
120.98 12,047.18
6.05 573.68
150,081 19,058
376 904
53 -
7,504.03 907.52
18.79 9.90
2.63 S

HKEx ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI
BRI -
HERER
mEECIRER
BERIEE
KPI A1.1
RABRAE K
FEIZAT A
KPI A1.1
RGBS
FEIZAT A
KPI A1.1
FBIZEATA
KPI A1.2
RABRAE N
E1EA1.2
KPI A1.2
RABRAE K
FEIZA1.2
KPI A1.3
RGBS
FEIZA1.3
KPI A1.3
FBIZA1.3
KPI A1.3
RABEAE N
FEIZA1.3
KPI A1.3
RABRAE K
FEIZA1.3

KPI A1.3
RS AE R
FEIZA1.3

KPI A1.3
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE RERRER(E)
INDICATORS (CONTINUED)

Aspect A2: Use of resources
A2fEH : EIREMA

Performance indicator 2020 Data 2019 Data HKEx ESG
Reporting
Guide KPI
REER —E-EF ZE-NE  BXARE
& i HERER
HEECIER
BRIER
Electricity Total electricity consumption (kKWh) 58,846 238,952 KPI A2.1
B BEEE (TER) AR E R
HIFEA2.1
Intensity of electricity consumption 2,942.30 11,378.67 KPI A2.1
per project (KWh) RABE N
BEBENEEERE (TRE) FEIEA2.1
Diesel Total diesel consumption (litres) - 38,307 KPI' A2.1
Ey:: mehEEE (BF) BBE K
FEIRA21
Intensity of diesel consumption per S 1,824.14 KPI A2.1
project (litres) RGBS
BEBEEMEHERERE (AFA) HBIRA2.1
Petrol Total petrol consumption (litres) 22,281 8,487 KPI A2.1
by BAHEREE (D) AR E R
HIFEA2.1
Intensity of petrol consumption per 1,114.05 40414 KPI A2.1
project (litres) RABE N
BEEENTVHERERE EIRA2.1

(2F)
Water Total water consumption 14,334 18,719 KPI A2.2
(cubic meters) RABRE N
7K #RAKE (SLF77K) EiEA2.2
Intensity of water consumption per 716.70 653.29 KPI A2.2
project (cubic meters) RABE N
BEEENAKERE (LK) E1RA2.2
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Directors’' Report
EEEWRSE

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in provision of foundation works and ancillary services, provision
of construction wastes handling services, technology services, money
lending business and investments in securities. During the Year, the Group
has commenced the business in provision of technology services in order
to broaden the Group’s source of income.

During the Year, except for the commencement of technology services
business, the Group had no material changes in its business nature and
principal activities.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and outlook of the Group for the Year are set out in
the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 7
to 21 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial condition, results of operation, business and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The
followings are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group:
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

The Group has a concentrated customer base
and any decrease in the number of projects
with the Group’s top five customers would
adversely affect the Group’s operations and
financial results

A significant portion of the Group’s revenue was derived from a small
number of customers during the two financial years ended 31 March
2020. The Group’s top five customers’ revenue contribution for the
Year was approximately 83.2% (2019: 73.7%) of our revenue, while the
Group’s largest customer accounted for approximately 34.8% (2019:
20.9%) of our revenue. The Group did not enter into any long-term service
agreement or master service agreement with its customers. Furthermore,
the Group’s service contracts for all foundation works and ancillary
services projects and construction wastes handling projects are on a
project-by-project basis. As such, there is no assurance that the Group
will be able to retain its customers upon expiry of the contract period or
that they will maintain their current level of business with the Group in
the future. If there is a significant decrease in the number of projects or
size of projects in terms of contract sums awarded by the Group’s top
five customers to the Group for whatever reasons, and if the Group is
unable to obtain suitable projects of a comparable size and quantity as
replacement, the Group’s financial conditions and operating results would
be materially and adversely affected. Besides, if any of the Group’s top
five customers experiences any liquidity problem, it may result in delay or
default in settling progress payments to the Group, which in turn will have
an adverse impact on its cash flows and financial conditions. The Group
cannot guarantee that it will be able to diversify its customer base by
obtaining significant number of new projects from its existing and potential
customers.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

The Group determines the price of its tender
or quotation based on the estimated time

and costs to be involved in a project, yet the
actual time and costs incurred may deviate
from the Group’s estimate due to unexpected
circumstances, thereby adversely affecting its
operations and financial results

The Group determines the price of tender or quotation based on its
cost estimate plus a certain mark-up margin. The actual time and costs
incurred by the Group, however, may be adversely affected by various
factors, including (i) the specifications, underground conditions and
difficulties of the potential project; (i) the duration of the potential project;
(i) the site location and the conditions and adjacent risk of building
structures nearby; (iv) the resource availability; and (v) our previous
experience with the customer. Significant changes in any of these or other
relevant factors may lead to delay in completion or costs overrun by the
Group, and there is no assurance that the actual time and costs incurred
by the Group would match its initial estimate. Such delays, cost overruns
or mismatch of actual time and costs with the Group’s estimates may
cause its profitability to be lower than what the Group expected or may
expose it to litigation or claims from customers in case of delays. The
Group normally sets an extra mark-up margin on top of its estimated
costs to cater to the possible unfavourable factors above, yet too high a
margin may render the Group’s tender or quotation uncompetitive. There
is no assurance that the Group will always be able to price its tender or
quotation competitively, and if the Group fails to do so, its customers
may opt for the Group’s competitors, thereby resulting in a decrease in
the number of projects awarded to the Group. Even if such a mark-up
margin is accepted and agreed by the Group’s customer, there can be no
assurance that the Group can be fully compensated for the occurrence of
the unfavourable factors above. This would adversely affect the Group’s
operations and financial results. Meanwhile, if the mark-up margin set by
the Group is too low, the gross profits may not be able to cover other
potential loss arising from any unfavourable circumstances during project
implementation. The Group’s profitability in the project would hence be
adversely and materially affected.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

The Contractual Arrangements may not be
as effective in providing operational control
as direct ownership. Beijing OKG or its
Registered Shareholders may fail to perform
their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements.

Neither the Company nor Shenzhen OKG Network Technologies Co.,
Ltd. (“Shenzhen OKG”, formerly known as “Shenzhen QNYN Network
Technologies Co., Ltd.) has any equity ownership interests in Beijing
OKG Network Information Co., Ltd. (“Beijing OKG”, formerly known as
Beijing YNQN Network Information Co., Ltd.). Through the Contractual
Arrangements that Shenzhen OKG has entered into with Beijing OKG,
the Company and Shenzhen OKG exercise effective control over Beijing
OKG and obtain substantially all of the economic benefits. However, the
Contractual Arrangements are not as secure as direct ownership over
Beijing OKG and may not be as effective in providing control over Beijing
OKG as direct ownership.

Beijing OKG has the Internet Content Provider (“ICP”) license to
provide internet content, to operate the portals and to provide value-
added telecommunications services in PRC. If Beijing OKG violates
the Contractual Arrangements, we might have to take legal action to
compel them to perform their respective contractual obligations. Any
legal proceedings could result in the disruption of our business in PRC
and result in substantial costs to us. There can be no assurance that the
results of such legal proceedings would be satisfactory to us.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

If the PRC government determines that these
Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our
business could be materially and adversely
affected.

We believe that the Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG do not
infringe existing PRC laws, regulations, or other mandatory requirements
under PRC law. However, there can be no assurance that the Contractual
Arrangements will be deemed by the relevant governmental or judicial
authorities to be in compliance with the existing PRC laws and regulations
or the relevant governmental nor judicial authorities may in the future
interpret the existing laws or regulations with the result that such
Contractual Arrangements would be deemed to be in compliance of the
PRC laws and regulations.

PRC regulations currently limit foreign ownership in PRC companies that
provide value-added telecommunication services (excluding on-line data
processing and transaction processing services, also called operating
e-commerce), which include operating the Internet content platform,
to 50%. In addition, foreigners and wholly-foreign owned enterprises
are currently not eligible to apply for required licenses for operating
the Internet content platform in the PRC (excluding a limited number
of sectors for wholly-foreign owned enterprises located in Shanghai
Free Trade Zone). We are a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. We and Shenzhen OKG are foreigners and wholly-
foreign owned enterprises under PRC laws and accordingly are ineligible
to apply for the relevant licenses to operate the internet content. In
order to comply with foreign ownership restrictions, we hold our ICP
license and provide internet content through Beijing OKG. As a result of
the Contractual Arrangements, the Group can govern the financial and
operating policies of Beiing OKG and to obtain substantially all economic
benefits from the activities conducted by it. Accordingly, the financial
position and operating results of Beijing OKG are included in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as if it was the Group’s subsidiary.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

If the PRC government determines that these
Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our
business could be materially and adversely
affected. (continued)

In addition, in July 2006, the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of the PRC (the “MII") issued the Notice Strengthening
the Administration of Foreign Investments in Value-added
Telecommunications Services (the “MIl Notice”). The MIl Notice requires
that ICP license holders or their shareholders directly own the domain
names and trademarks used by such ICP license holders in their daily
operations. The MIl Notice further requires each ICP license holder to
have the necessary facilities for its approved business operations and to
maintain such facilities in the regions covered by its license. In addition,
all the value-added telecommunication service providers are required
to maintain network and information security in accordance with the
standards set forth under relevant PRC regulations. The MIl Notice
prohibits ICP license holders from leasing, transferring or selling its ICP
license to any foreign investors in any form, or providing any resource,
sites or facilities to any foreign investors for their illegal operation of
telecommunications business in the PRC. The MIl Notice has imposed
a more stringent regulatory environment on foreign investment in value-
added telecommunication business, which introduces an increased risk
of the Contractual Arrangements being challenged by the relevant PRC
regulatory authorities. Therefore, we cannot rule out the possibility that
the relevant PRC regulatory authorities may require that we unwind the
Contractual Arrangements as a result of their increased attention on
companies such as ours following the introduction of the MIl Notice.

In addition, there are substantial uncertainties regarding the interpretation
and application of current or future PRC laws and regulations.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

If the PRC government determines that these
Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG
do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, our
business could be materially and adversely
affected. (continued)

If the Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG and its Registered
Shareholders are adjudicated to be in violation of any existing or future

PRC laws or regulations, the relevant regulatory authorities would have
broad discretion in dealing with such violations, including:

° require the nullification of the Contractual Arrangements;
° revoke the ICP license of Beijing OKG;

° require us to discontinue the business operations of Beijing OKG
or place restrictions or onerous conditions on such business

operations;
° shut down our oklink.com website;
° levy fines on us and/or confiscate the proceeds generated from the

operations under the Contractual Arrangements;

° impose additional conditions or requirements which we may not be
able to comply with;

° require us to restructure the relevant ownership structure or
operations; and

° take other regulatory or enforcement actions that could be harmful
to our business.

The imposition of any of the above-mentioned consequences could result
in a material and adverse effect on our ability to conduct our business.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect
to the interpretation and implementation of
the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (the
“FIL”) and how it may impact the viability of
our current corporate structure, corporate
governance and business operations.

On March 15, 2019, the Standing Committee of National People’s
Congress promulgated the FIL, which became effective on 1 January
2020. However, there remains substantial uncertainties regarding
the interpretation and the implementation of the FIL and the relevant
government authorities may have broad discretion in interpreting the law,
especially, among other things, the nature of contractual arrangements,
the promulgation schedule of both the “negative list” under the FIL
and specific rules regulating the organization form of foreign-invested
enterprises within the five-year transition period.

The contractual arrangements have been adopted by many PRC-based
companies, to obtain necessary licenses and permits in the industries
that are currently subject to foreign investment restrictions in the PRC.
While the FIL and its implementation regulations do not define contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment explicitly, we cannot assure
you that future laws and regulations will not provide for contractual
arrangements as a form of foreign investment. Therefore, there can be
no assurance that our control over Beijing OKG through the Contractual
Arrangements will not be deemed as foreign investment in the future.

Our ICP license and the provision of internet content are subject to
foreign investment restrictions or prohibitions and are currently on the
Negative List. If our Contractual Arrangements are deemed as foreign
investment, our Group may not be able to operate Beiing OKG through
the Contractual Arrangements and we would lose our rights to receive
the economic benefits of Beijing OKG. As a result, the financial results of
Beijing OKG would no longer be consolidated into the Group’s financial
results and we would have to derecognize their assets and liabilities
according to the relevant accounting standards. We may recognize an
investment loss as a result of such derecognition.
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KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
(CONTINUED)

We may lose the ability to use and enjoy the
benefits of the assets held by Beijing OKG that
are important to the operations of our business
if it goes bankrupt or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

Beijing OKG holds our ICP license that is material to our business
operations. The Contractual Arrangements with Beijing OKG contain
terms that specifically obligate their Registered Shareholders to ensure
the valid existence of Beijing OKG and that Beiing OKG may not be
voluntarily liquidated. However, should the Registered Shareholders
breach this obligation and voluntarily liquidate Beijing OKG, or should
Beijing OKG declare bankruptcy, the ICP license may be revoked and
its assets may become subject to liens or rights of third-party creditors,
we may be unable to continue some or all of our business operations in
the PRC, which could materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the Year in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

As at 31 March 2020, the Company has reserves available of
approximately HK$263,616,000 (as at 31 March 2019: approximately
HK$315,133,000).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the date of
publication of this annual report were:

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Xu Mingxing (appointed on 11 April 2019)

Mr. Tang Yue (would be appointed on 20 July 2020)
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang (appointed on 11 April 2019)

Executive Directors

Mr. Ren Yunan

Mr. Luo Ting (retired on 23 August 2019)
Mr. Zhu Junkan (retired on 23 August 2019)
Mr. Cheng Yuk (resigned on 16 May 2019)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Zhouxin

Mr. Lee Man Chiu

Mr. Jiang Guoliang

Mr. Chan King Chung (resigned on 16 May 2019)

Pursuant to the article 108 of the Articles of Associations (the “Articles”)
Mr. Li Zhouxin and Mr. Lee Man Chiu shall retire from office by rotation
at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”). Pursuant to the
article 112 of the Articles, Mr. Tang Yue shall hold office until the AGM.
They shall being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as Director at
the AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

As at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors, including those to be
re-elected at the forthcoming annual general meeting, has a service
contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
the payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed below as at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors and
their respective associates nor the chief executive of the Company had
any interests in the relevant securities (as defined under Note 4 to Rule
22 of the Takeovers Code), or had any interests or short positions in the
Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and shares,
underlying shares and debentures of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”), which are required to be
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests and short positions in which they are deemed
or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which are required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein or have been, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”) in
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”), notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Name of director Capacity/Nature (Long/Short) Held/Interested interest
BE/BERERN

] Bt/ E HE/ %R RB#E BEAAML

(Note?)

(Bt zE2)

Mr. Xu Mingxing (“Mr. Xu”) Interest in a controlled corporation Long 3,904,925,001 (Note') 73.32%
RAZEE ([HhEE]) REHEE R HE (P

Note: P&

(1) An aggregate of 3,904,925,001 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 73.32% of the total issued share capital of the Company, are held
by OKC Holdings Corporation (“OKC”). (i) Mr. Xu's wholly-owned company named
StarXu Capital Limited (“StarXu Capital”), which in turn holds direct interest in
OKC of approximately 29.26%; (i) StarXu Capital has interest of approximately
59.24% in SKY CHASER HOLDINGS LIMITED (“SKY CHASER”), whereas SKY
CHASER directly holds approximately 1.45% interest in OKC (accordingly, Mr.
Xu holds approximately 0.86% indirect interest of OKC through SKY CHASER);
and (iii) his wholly-owned company named OKEM Services Company Limited has
direct interest in OKC of approximately 26.06%. Thus, Mr. Xu holds an aggregate
interest of approximately 56.18% in OKC and therefore is deemed to be interested
in the 3,904,925,001 shares of the Company held by OKC pursuant to the SFO.

2) The percentage is calculated on the basis of 5,325,870,000 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2020.
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B &P AR AR OKCHTHE B #93,904,925,001 R AR
ARG PR
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
AND OTHERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2020, so far as is known to the Directors, the following

persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had

interest or short position in Shares or underlying Shares which fell to be

disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provision

of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:
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RO PR IRIBE F M E GO EXVEEFE2K3
DERAMARE MR P IENEEIORR 3K
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Position Number of Shares Percentage of
Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature (Long/Short) Held/Interested interest
BE/REER
RREE/ &8 5t/ M8 WE/ %R HRGEE ERESH
Note?
fize
OKC Holdings Corporation Beneficial owner Long 3,904,925,001 73.32%
(“OKC”) (Note')
OKC Holdings Corporation ExBEBA 59)
(foKe ) (PFE")
Note: B &
(1) An aggregate of 3,904,925,001 shares of the Company, representing (1) 4 #£3,904,925,001 R AR AR (BER AR
approximately 73.32% of the total issued share capital of the Company, are held AE BT AN 2 814973.32% ) HOKC Holdings
by OKC Holdings Corporation (“OKC”). (i) Mr. Xu's wholly-owned company named Corporation ([OKC |)# B« ()if k£ 2 2 E R A
StarXu Capital Limited (“StarXu Capital”), which in turn holds direct interest in (% AStarXu Capital Limited ([StarXu Capital | ) )
OKC of approximately 29.26%; (i) StarXu Capital has interest of approximately TAOKCHE B #)29.26% & # # % : (i)StarXu Capital
59.24% in SKY CHASER HOLDINGS LIMITED (“SKY CHASER”), whereas SKY FASKY CHASER HOLDINGS LIMITED ([SKY
CHASER directly holds approximately 1.45% interest in OKC (accordingly, Mr. CHASER | ) # A £759.24%## 2 * 1 SKY CHASERE
Xu holds approximately 0.86% indirect interest of OKC through SKY CHASER); B BOKCHI 491.45% 2 (A L« 4R 58 A B B SKY
and (iii) his wholly-owned company named OKEM Services Company Limited has CHASEROKCH 5 #90.86% M # # %5 ) © K (i EH %
direct interest in OKC of approximately 26.06%. Thus, Mr. Xu holds an aggregate AOKEM Services Company Limitedf) & & A 7] A
interest of approximately 56.18% in OKC and therefore is deemed to be interested OKCHER #)26.06% B m  EUt - R EE HIEE
in the 3,904,925,001 shares of the Company held by OKC pursuant to the SFO. OKCHY#156.18% 21 » iR 1R 78 75 I i & 15 DI 4R
AN OKCFT#% A #93,904,925,001 JE AR A BIA% 15 /0 #E
B
©) The percentage is calculated on the basis of 5,325,870,000 shares of the  (2) ZEAHUR-ZZE_ZEF=A=+—BARRFZE

Company in issue as at 31 March 2020.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified by any

person (other than the Directors of the Company) who had interests or

short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as at

31 March 2020 which were required to be disclosed to the Company

under Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

B17%175,325,870,000/% A E A£G H »
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PLEDGE OF SHARES BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

During the Year, the Group did not have any pledge of shares by
controlling shareholder.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this report, at no time during the Year
were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in
or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company and any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights in any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the
Company any of its subsidiaries, its parent company, or its parent
company’s subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an entity
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly and
indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2020 or any time during the Year, nor
was there any other transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group’s business between the Company or any of
the Company’s subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Directors shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the
Directors currently in force.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier and the five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for 13.2%
and 38.7% respectively of the Group’s total purchases for the Year.
Revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for 34.8% and 83.2% respectively of
the Group’s total revenue for the Year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any material beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

Employees

The Group recognises employees as its valuable assets. The Group
provides competitive remuneration package to attract, motivate and
retain appropriate and suitable personnel to serve the Group. The Group
has also adopted an annual review system to assess the performance of
its staff, which forms the basis of the Group’s decisions with respect to
salary raises and promotions.

Customers

A majority of the Group’s five largest customers have good business
relationship with the Group and the Group will therefore endeavor to
accommodate their demands for the Group’s services to the extent its
resources allow in order to capture more opportunities for larger scale
projects in the future. The Group’s experience as a quality subcontractor
in handling foundation works and construction wastes handling projects
also give business advantage to the Group’s customers to ensure
projects are executive in accordance with their quality standard.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS
(CONTINUED)

Suppliers and subcontractors

The Group encompasses working relationships with suppliers and
subcontractors to meet the Group’s customers’ needs in an effective
and efficient manner. The Group has set up an approved list of suppliers
and it selects the suppliers from the list based on the quality of materials,
timeliness of delivery, previous experience and length of partnership with
the supplier, competitiveness of the price offered and reputation of the
supplier.

Subject to the Group’s capacity, resources level, types of construction
works, cost effectiveness and complexity of the projects, the Group may
subcontract certain works to other subcontractors. The Group maintains
an internal list of approved subcontractors and carefully evaluate the
performance of its subcontractors and selects them based on the
experience, quality of works, timeliness of completion for past projects,
reputation in the industry, past performances, cost and the Group’s
relationship with them.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained the sufficient public float as required under
the Listing Rules during the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION
OF THE COMPANY'’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year and up
to the date of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, none of the
Directors are considered to have interests in a business which competes
or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of
the Group.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Details of the material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and
associated companies of the Group are set out in the section headed
“Significant Investments, Material Acquisition and Disposal” on pages 18
to 19 of Management Discussion and Analysis.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) with effect from the Listing Date. The terms of the Share
Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules. The main purpose of the Share Option Scheme is
to motivate employees to optimise their performance efficiency for the

benefit of the Company.

As at 1 April 2019, the total number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme was 526,200,000, representing 10% of the entire
issued share capital of the Company.

On 18 October 2019, the Company announced the granting of share
options (the “Share Options”) to certain eligible employees (or company
wholly beneficially owned by such employee(s)) of the Group (the
“Grantees”) to subscribe for an aggregate of 262,500,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.005 each (the “Share(s)”) in the share capital of the
Company, subject to the acceptance by the Grantees, pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 12 August 2015.
Exercise of the Share Option(s) is subject to the Company’s approval. The
exercise price of the Share Options granted was HK$0.205 per Share
and the validity period of the Share Options would be for 1 year from
18 October 2019 to 17 October 2020 (both days inclusive). The offer of
a grant of share option may be accepted upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.

Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

Details of movements in the options under the Share Option Scheme
during the Year and options outstanding at the beginning and at the end
of the Year were as follows:

RRBxIERTE (48)

BARFEANBREGEIE T Z AR R ARE
ENRAFERSAITEERE 2 28 2 B0
T

Number of share options
Exercise
price of Share price
At Share immediately
At 31 March Exercise period of Options before the
Date of Grant ~ Owners/Grantees 1 April 2019 Granted Exercised Lapsed Cancelled 2020 Share Options HK$ grant date
A A BRE 2
ZB-NF “BIEE g4 R BSA
RAAH BEA/BBEA mA-A 2R [Xix:d B&¥ gF# =A=t+-A BRETES BT RE
18 October Cheng Yuk - 8,000,000 (1,500,000) - 6,500,000 18 October 2019 to 0.205 0.200
2019 - current employee of 17 October 2020
the Group (former
executive director)
ZT-hEF g ZE-hETRTNRZE
TATNR -ASERES 2R+ AT+A
(M#TES)
18 October Current employees of - 254,500,000  (62,370,000) - 192,130,000 18 October 2019 to 0.205 0.200
2019 the Group 17 October 2020
—T-hF REERER ZZ-NETATARE
+A+NA 2R+ AT+A
- 262,500,000  (63,870,000) - 198,630,000

Up to 31 March, 2020, a number of 131,250,000 share options were
vested, including 63,870,000 share options which were exercised,
and remaining exercisable share options were 67,870,000. As at
31 March, 2020, the remaining number of unvested share options was
131,250,000.

The weighted average share price for share options exercised during the
year ended 31 March 2020 immediately before the dates of exercise was
HK$0.25 per share.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to the Share Option
Scheme, no equity-linked agreements were entered into for the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and the laws of Cayman Islands.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefits schemes are set out in note 8 to the
consolidated financial statements.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2020 Annual Report

BEE T -TF=F=+—H" £%(131,250,000
BT RE 863,870,000 BT 2B
[i% # f 8% T ] 17 {5 B8 AR 4 /67,870,00017 °
T EFZA=+HA AREBERESRTH
B A131,250,00017 ©

BE-_Z_TF=-A=+—"BULFEADTERE
Pt 2 hnAE 7 B (B BT B HIAT R EA0.25
BITe

R 2 f 89 10

PR AN Rt BB AR AT B PTE IR BN MAFREA
I B R] S7 AR AN #8817 5 o

BEBRME

AEERANRHASREERETHERLEER
REE RS -

iR ¢k 58 FU 5

RKENABNFBEHN GRS P RRMES -



CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to approximately HK$555,000 (2019: HK$240,000).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
BY INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the independent
non-executive Directors and the Company considers all Directors to be
independent.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of our Group are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s emolument
policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance of the Directors and senior management
and comparable market practices.

The Company has adopted Share Option Scheme as incentive to eligible
employees, details of the schemes are set out in the section headed
“Share Option Scheme”.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, there were no connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting,
announcement or independent shareholders’ approval requirements
under the Listing Rules. Details of significant related party transactions
undertaken in the usual course of business are set out in note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements. None of these related party
transactions constitute a discloseable connected transaction as defined
under the Listing Rules.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Shenzhen OKG Network Technologies Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen OKG”
formerly known as “Shenzhen QNYN Network Technologies Co., Ltd.”),
an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has entered into a
series of contractual arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements”)
with Beijing OKG Network Information Co., Ltd. (“Beijing OKG” formerly
known as Bejjing YNQN Network Information Co., Ltd,), pursuant to
which the Company would gain effective control over, and receive all
the economic benefits generated by, the businesses operated by Beijing
OKG.

The principal businesses of Beijing OKG is engaged in the provision
of internet content, the value-added telecommunications services and
holding the Internet Content Provider (the “ICP”) license which businesses
are either restricted or prohibited for foreign investment in accordance
with the Special Administrative Measures (Negative List) for Foreign
Investment Access (the “Negative List”). Beijing OKG is significant to
the Group as it hold the requisite licenses, approvals and permits that are
material for the Group’s business in the PRC, including the ICP license.

Information on the Contractual Entities and
their Registered Owners

Beijing OKG was established as a limited liability company in the PRC
on 23 April 2019. The registered shareholders of Beijing OKG were
Ms. Luo Min and Mr. Li Guangpeng, holding 99% and 1% of its interest,
respectively. On 21 April 2020, Ms. Luo Min and Mr. Li Guangpeng
transferred all their interests in Beiing OKG to Mr. Ren Yudong and
Ms. Xi Ling. Mr. Ren Yudong and Ms. Xi Ling, holding 99% and 1% of its
interest, became the new registered shareholders of Beijing OKG (Ms. Luo
Min, Mr. Li Guangpeng, Mr. Ren Yudong and Ms. Xi Ling, collectively, the
“Registered Shareholders”).

Through the Contractual Arrangements, the results of operations and
assets and liabilities of Beijing OKG are consolidated into the results of
operations and assets and liabilities of the Company under HKFRS as if it
was subsidiary of the Group.

Beijing OKG has not yet generated revenue during the year ended
31 March, 2020, and its total assets as at 31 March, 2020 was
approximately HK$16,000.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Shenzhen OKG and Beijing OKG entered into an exclusive business
cooperation agreement (the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement”) on 23 April 2019 pursuant to which Beijing OKG
agreed to engage Shenzhen OKG as its exclusive provider to provide
Beijing OKG with technical consultation and services, including but not
limited to, network information technology management and support,
technical consultation, promotion planning and market promotion,
technology and software research and development, management
consultancy necessary for the operations of Beijing OKG and Beijing OKG
agreed to pay service fees to Shenzhen OKG according to the Exclusive
Business Cooperation Agreement. Without the prior written consent of
Shenzhen OKG, during the term of the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements, Beijing OKG shall not directly or indirectly accept from any
third party services which are the same or similar to the services under the
Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements may be terminated by
Shenzhen OKG by giving Beiing OKG 30 days prior written notice of
termination and shall be terminated upon the transfer of the entire equity
interests in Beijing OKG to Shenzhen OKG or its designated person
pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement.

Exclusive Option Agreement

On 23 April 2019 and 21 April 2020, Shenzhen OKG, Beijing OKG and
the Registered Shareholders entered into the exclusive option agreement
(the “Exclusive Option Agreement”) pursuant to which Shenzhen OKG
has the irrevocable, unconditional and exclusive right to purchase, or to
designate one or more persons/entities to purchase, from the Registered
Shareholders all or any part of their equity interests in Beijing OKG and
from Beijing OKG all or any part of the assets of Beijing OKG at any time
in Shenzhen OKG’s absolute discretion in accordance with the provision
of the Exclusive Option Agreement and to the extent permitted by the
PRC laws and regulations. The consideration in relation to purchasing
shares or assets from the Registered Shareholders shall be RMB1 or the
lowest price as permitted under the applicable PRC laws and regulations.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
(continued)

Exclusive Option Agreement (continued)

The rights may be exercised at any time within effective period of the
Exclusive Option Agreement. The Exclusive Option Agreement became
effective upon execution and shall remain effective during the continuance
of Beijing OKG. The Exclusive Option Agreement shall be terminated upon
the transfer of the entire equity interests in Beijing OKG to Shenzhen OKG
or its designated person pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement.

Equity Pledge Agreements

On 28 April 2019 and 21 April 2020, Shenzhen OKG, Beijing OKG and
the Registered Shareholders entered into the Equity Pledge Agreement
(the “Equity Pledge Agreement”) pursuant to which the Registered
Shareholders granted a first priority of security interest in their respective
interests in the registered capitals of Beijing OKG as collateral security
for securing the performance of their obligations under the Contractual
Arrangements or for any and all of the secured indebtedness under the
Contractual Arrangements. During the pledge period, Shenzhen OKG is
entitled to receive any dividends arising from the equity interests in Beijing
OKG held by the Registered Shareholders.

The Equity Pledge Agreements shall remain effective until all the
agreements (other than the Equity Pledge Agreements) underlying the
Contractual Arrangements have been terminated.

Power of Attorney

On 23 April 2019 and 21 April 2020, Shenzhen OKG and the Registered
Shareholders executed a power of attorney (the “Power of Attorney”),
pursuant to which the Registered Shareholders irrevocably authorized
Shenzhen OKG to exercise their shareholders’ rights in Beijing OKG,
including without limitation, the rights to () attend shareholders’ meetings,
(i) exercise voting rights, (i) appoint directors, supervisors and senior
management, (iv) sign and file documents with relevant governmental
authorities or regulatory bodies, and (v) authorize to exercise any of the
shareholders’ rights on the winding-up or dissolution of Beijing OKG.

The Power of Attorney became effective upon execution and shall remain
effective during the continuance of Beijing OKG. It shall be terminated
unilaterally by Shenzhen OKG by giving prior notice.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
(continued)

Spouse Undertakings

The spouse of each of the Registered Shareholders, where applicable,
has signed an undertaking on 23 April 2019 and 21 April 2020 (the
“Spouse Undertakings”). Pursuant to the Spouse Undertakings, each of
the spouses of the Registered Shareholders irrevocably undertakes that:

(i) the spouse has been made fully aware of and unconditionally
and irrevocably consented to the entering into the Contractual
Arrangements among the respective Registered Shareholders,
Shenzhen OKG and Beijing OKG;

(ii) the spouse will not claim any interests or rights in the equity of
Beijing OKG and the Registered Shareholder shall be entitled to
dispose of the equity interests in accordance with the Contractual
Arrangements without his/her consent;

(i) the spouse shall be bound by the Contractual Arrangements and
take all necessary actions to ensure the appropriate implementation
of the Contractual Arrangements; and

(iv)  in the event that the spouse obtains any interests in Beijing OKG,
he/she will be subject to and abide by the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements as if he/she was a signing party to such Contractual
Arrangements, and at the request of Shenzhen OKG, he/she will
sign any documents in the form and substance consistent with the
Contractual Arrangements.

Reasons for adopting the Contractual
Arrangements

The Company and its indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen OKG,
as foreign investors, are prohibited from holding equity interests in the
Beijing OKG, which provides internet content and holds ICP license for
which foreign investment is prohibited or restricted. In order to conduct
the business in China through Beijing OKG, the Group, through its
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary, Shenzhen OKG, entered into the
Contractual Arrangements.

Directors’ Report
EFBRS

SR (K)
BRRHZHE (F)

B A8 A o

EFERR RS (WER)ER =S —hFNA
T =ERERZEEFNA T —HEL A&
o ([EBAR]) - RIBRBAR SERLKRRZ
B 48 7S A B EH 0 23

() EEEFEDMEBLEMESTE TR
BHREELRER ORYIHERIE 8 AL R
MEBITLZAHREE:

(i EESTERRIERENERBRENER
RN MBRRRBRBSOLY AR
RABEBREZIFR T EREEBHE

(i) EBEAXAOLRFORLRN—IIBET
BUAEREHNLTHELER: &

(v) fHEEESIEREREE 2 (s AJE
HERRIALBE T E KR R B
REBANZHZEET  MERIITER
B BN BRBEFBEATARATES
MZH—B2 X

RAEHNRHEZER

ARBREREZENE QBRI ERE§E
(ERINEIREE) WAL F R RERERE (52
HEBEABTAFEE LR HISNERENICP
IR ) 2 Bt - AB B I R RN h BIR R 2
% AEEZEBEBK2EWEBARIRIITER
ERITLAKTHE

BB R AR A A
—g-2rrR

111



112

Directors’ Report
EFBHRS

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual

Arrangements, including:

U

(i)

(iv)

The Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in providing
operational control as direct ownership. Beijing OKG or its
Registered Shareholders may fail to perform their obligations under
the Contractual Arrangements.

If the PRC government determines that these Contractual
Arrangements with Beijing OKG do not comply with applicable PRC
laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their interpretations
change in the future, our business could be materially and adversely
affected.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation
and implementation of the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (the
“FIL", (P2 ARFEMBISNEIZEE) ) and how it may impact the
viability of our current corporate structure, corporate governance
and business operations.

We may lose the ability to use and enjoy the benefits of the assets
held by Beijing OKG that are important to the operations of our
business if it goes bankrupt or becomes subject to a dissolution or
liquidation proceeding.

For further details, please refer to the section headed “Key Risk and the

Uncertainties” on pages 90 to 98 of this annual report.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Actions taken by the Group to mitigate the
risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

The Group has adopted following measures to ensure the effective
operation of the Group with the implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements and the Group’s compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements:

(i) major issues arising from the implementation of and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary,
for review and discussion as and when they arise;

(i) the relevant business units and operation divisions of the Group
will report regularly, to the senior management of the Company
in relation to compliance and performance conditions under the
Contractual Arrangements and other related matters;

(i)  External legal advisers or other professional advisers will be
engaged, if necessary, to assist the Board to deal with specific
issues arising from the Contractual Arrangements and to ensure
that the operation and implementation of the Contractual
Arrangements as a whole will comply with applicable laws and
regulations;

(iv)  the Board (including the independent non-executive Directors) will
ensure that Beijing OKG shall retain and continue to hold all relevant
intellectual properties, required for the purpose of maintaining and
renewing its operating licenses and permits as required by relevant
PRC government authorities, and going forward and to the extent
permissible under PRC laws and regulations;

(v)  the Board (including the independent non-executive Directors) will
ensure the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in
the ordinary and usual course of business of our Group, are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable so far as our
Group is concerned, and in the interest of our Company and its
Shareholders as a whole; and

(v  independent non-executive Directors will continue to play
an independent role on the Board by reviewing the effective
implementation of the procedures and controls referred to above
and compliance with the Contractual Arrangements.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to declare any final dividend for the Year
(2019: Nil).

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited has acted as the auditors of the
Company for the Year. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors
for the coming year will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group’s operations at work sites are subject to certain environmental
requirements pursuant to the laws in Hong Kong. The laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group include, among
others, Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Air Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission)
Regulation (Chapter 311Z of the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control
Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Water Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Disposal
(Charges for Disposal of Construction Waste) Regulation, Dumping at Sea
Ordinance (Chapter 466 of the Laws of Hong Kong, Environmental Impact
Assessment Ordinance (Chapter 499 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
Boilers and Pressure Vessels Ordinance (Chapter 56 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

In order to comply with the applicable environmental protection laws,
we had implemented an environmental management system which
was certified to be in compliance with the standard required under ISO
14001:2004. Apart from following the environmental protection policies
formulated and required by our customers, we have also established
our environmental management policy to ensure proper management
of environmental protection and compliance of environmental laws and
regulations by both our employees and workers of the subcontractors on
among others, air pollution, noise control and waste disposal.

During the Year, our Group did not record any non-compliance with
applicable environmental requirements that resulted in prosecution or
penalty being brought against our Group.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2020 Annual Report

KHURR

EX2CERTERFAZEARARE (ZF
—NEFE)

& B e

BEetMmEBAERATNCRAFEREEIA
RAERZEED - R FERRE RZBENRE
ERREERITHRRBFAG LRE -

BREBRRRRBR

BREFEE) AEEXRITHHEIAETE TR
REE BT EREAEEFTEATENERR
BRI (E RIS RE FHERBD (FEEDE
3NE) (ZRISAEH GEERBESEM) (H
BORO (BAEEGIEINZE) - (R E E 5
) (FEEHIFBA008) - KI5 R E Hl &)
(BREDIFEIE) (BEYRE KD (F&E
fI5E364%) BEYMRE GEEEMEERE) R
5] 8 LIEEEHED] (BREDIF4665 )  IRIE
B ED (FHBIEDIE499% ) K i lE K B H)
RGP (BB EDIFEE6E)

RTETERNEBEREZ RMEEKERE
ARG WO HEBFISO 14001:20043R FIZHEMN R
F-BRTNEPHIERRTERIRFRERKI -
BB EREERECK BREERSESE
WIANZZEEER (KRB =R 52 RE
ZEH UREYERESFENRRET  WET
RRRIR AR RIER

RAFEER  AEEY B2 RETAERRERD
G B AR ER B AR R &7



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 28 to 54 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

During the Year under review, there was no material breach or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of Group.

EVENT AFTER THE YEAR
Appointment of Non-Executive Director

Mr. Tang Yue would be appointed as non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 20 July 2020.

On behalf of the Board

Ren Yunan

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Hong Kong, China

26 June 2020
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BT &3t EH A RAF
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE MEMBERS OF OKG TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS LEAP HOLDINGS GROUP LIMITED)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of OKG
Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known as LEAP Holdings Group
Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) set out on pages 122 to 236, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

HEETER
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BN FTNAHRARETSRETEE

Recognition of revenue and costs from construction contracts and contract assets

BERENELNR R REIREVEE

Refer to Notes 2.21, 5, 7 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements

B2HGRA U BHmRERME2.21 -5 - 7Rk19

We identified recognition of revenue and costs from
construction contracts and contract assets as a key
audit matter as significant management’s estimations
and judgements are involved in the determination of the
outcome of construction contracts and the progress towards
completion of construction works.

BB EREESNEEN KRG RKARGREER—
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Our audit procedures in relation to recognition of revenue
and costs from construction contracts and contract assets
mainly included:
FHRRELESNEENPRR IR ERENEENETIZ
FEEBRRE:

° Reviewing the contract sum and budgeted costs to
respective signed contracts and budgets prepared by
management;
EHRNERITANNGHNSERBEXNRULE
BEGMNTESE:

° Understanding from management about how the
budgets were prepared and the respective progress
towards completion of construction works were
determined;

MERE T RIARRNEERAMETREETIES
BOERE

° Evaluating the reasonableness of progress towards
completion of construction works by obtaining
the certificates issued by customers or payment
applications confirmed by internal surveyor;
FRERE PR HMNES KA EMERN TR
R RETIETHEENS BT

o Testing the actual costs incurred on construction
works;

AR EETRREENERMKA:

° Assessing the reasonableness of the budgets by
comparing the actual outcome against management’s
estimation of similar contracts; and
FRLBERERRERBHAUS QM
BENEEE: &

° Assessing the appropriateness and adequate of
the disclosures made in the consolidated financial
statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the
biographical details of directors and five years financial summary (but does
not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ report, and
the corporate information, chairman’s statement, management discussion
and analysis, corporate governance report, environmental, social and
governance report and directors’ report, which are expected to be made
available to us after that date..

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior
to the date of this auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the corporate information, chairman’s statement,
management discussion and analysis, corporate governance report,
environmental, social and governance report and directors’ report, if we
conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to
communicate the matter to the Audit Committee.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2020 Annual Report
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Lo Kin Kei.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Kin Kei

Practising Certificate Number: P06413
Hong Kong, 26 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mellnEhE @

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2020 2019
—E-EHF —NhF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
=3 FET FET
Revenue iy 2% 5 570,320 364,906
Cost of sales BHE KA (527,728) (334,423)
Gross profit EH 42,592 30,483
Other income, gains and losses Hab g A - WS & B 5 4,978 4,011
Administrative and other operating ITH M b A &5 X
expenses (91,407) (63,302
Impairment losses on financial assets and & REER S HDEEZ
contract assets A EE (5,375) (2,367)
Operating loss K EE (49,212) (21,175)
Finance costs BB KA 6 (9,131) (6,868)
Loss before income tax B FT{S B Al ES 18 7 (58,343) (28,043)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fris®i (%) & 10 (3,259) 808
Loss for the year attributable to AARHEEAELEFAER
owners of the Company (61,602) (27,235)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hithzm (F58) WA
Item that may be reclassified subsequently H & AJpEE# 7 2187~
to profit or loss: EH -
Exchange differences arising from MEBINEBEE S
translation of foreign operations PEN =% (2,120) 1,490
Total comprehensive loss for the RARHEEABEFR
year attributable to owners of the SHEEESE
Company (63,722) (25,745)
Basic and diluted loss per share BREAR#BEESE 11 HK cent (1.17)%84l  HK cent (0.52)% 1l

Details of dividends are disclosed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial A% BB R 4E

statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated K&~ Bff 51 /&
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

tn e M FSHA

As at 31 March 2020 A=—Z-_ZEF=A=+—H

2020 2019
—EB-EF —NEF
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BiaF FET FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W WE k& 14 48,822 28,033
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 36,158 =
Intangible assets mEE 16 7,571 430
Prepayment AR 18 1,050 =
Deferred tax assets BEETHIEEE 25 450 663
94,051 29,126
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E M EBIRR 18 127,385 124,410
Contract assets EHNEE 19 104,429 90,742
Financial assets at fair value through EATFEFABEZ
profit or loss TREE 20 27,645 9,044
Amount due from a related party FEU — % BEsE 5 5RIA 28,34 2,980 =
Tax recoverable AT Y [E 71 401 2,230
Pledged bank deposit BHEAIRITE R 21 6,753 6,611
Bank deposits and balances and cash RITERREHRUARIR S 21 239,571 332,495
509,164 565,532
Total assets BEHAE 603,215 594,658
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves BEXR#E
Share capital &% A 22 26,629 26,310
Reserves i 274,514 315,372
Total equity AR 301,143 341,682
LIABILITIES aE
Non-current liabilities kRBEME
Borrowings B 24 - 153
Lease liabilities HEARE 15 12,047 =
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIBEE 25 3,255 2,205
15,302 2,358

BURt R s Hﬁﬁf‘ﬁ/& Al

TEEH
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e IR %

As at 31 March 2020 A=—Z-_ZF=A=+—H

2020 2019
—E-EHF —NhF
Note HK$’000 HK$’'000
Bia FET FHETT

Current liabilities REBAEE
Trade and other payables B 5 M E M EMRR 26 90,806 92,772
Contract liabilities BREE 19 1,610 -
Amount due to a former subsidiary FE — RIS B A R A 27 10,641 10,641
Amount due to a related party B —% Fﬁ@ﬁm 28 14,776 -
Loan from a related party —ZEEFER 29 141,750 143,438
Borrowings BE 24 - 179
Lease liabilities HEaE 15 23,931 =
Current income tax liabilities BEAFTIS R & & 3,256 3,588
286,770 250,618
Total liabilities B8 302,072 252,976
Total equity and liabilities EnkBEHEE 603,215 594,658
Net current assets BREBEE 222,394 314,914
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABERABERS 316,445 344,040

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for  4RAEFBHRENR -_ZE_ZTF A+ HEES

issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2020 and are signed on its

behalf by:

EREXE
Mr. Ren Yunan
Director

EFE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2020 Annual Report
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FOEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LN E PN

Share-

based
Share Share  payment Capital Merger Translation  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings equity

MR

AEBZ
BRE  ROEE (AREE EXRE AHEE ERRE RKRERA BER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT TR THT THT THT THT THT

(Note 22) (Note a) (Note b)
(Biitz2) (Hizta)  (Miitp)
Balance at 1 April 2018 RZZ—-\ENA—-BHER 26,310 212,067 - 7,922 1 - 121127 367427
Loss for the year FRERE - - - - - - (27,235 (27,235)
Other comprehensive income FREMZEKRA
for the year - - - - - 1,490 - 1,490
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ERZEHRA / (E1E)
for the year Bz - - - - - 1,490 (27,235) (25,745)
Balance at 31 March 2019 RZE-AF=ZA=+—-HHK
#® 26,310 212,067 = 7,922 1 1,490 93,892 341,682
Balance at 1 April 2019 —“NE@A—AM
ES 26,310 212,067 - 7,922 1 1,490 93,802 341,682
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - (61,602) (61,602
Other comprehensive loss FREMZASE
for the year - - - - - (2,120) - (2,120)
Total comprehensive loss FANZEEERESE
for the year - - - - - 120 (61,6029 (63722
Share-based payment expenses  MARK() AEH 2 M FFE % - - 10,090 - - - - 10,090
Exercise of share options PR 319 15,585 (2,811) - - - - 13,093
Balance at 31 March 2020 R-B-ZE=A=1+—-HW
@& 26,629 227,652 7,279 7,922 1 (630) 32,200 301,143
Notes: Kiiz -

a. The capital reserve represents the deemed capital contribution from the a. BAREEEBEERAATRBEEE  B@EHRBEEAAT
Company’s shareholder in relation to listing expenses reimbursed to the Company BEFEN TR -

in prior years.

b. The merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the  b. EHRBREEARARRRANBRAREBEFEE
shares issued by the Company in exchange for the nominal value of the share HEANRA 2 EEMBETROOEER 2 Z85E-

capital of its subsidiaries arising from the reorganisation in prior years.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated FEMI 2 MiE Bz S ir A M SRR EE 2 — 215 -

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HeIRENEER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2020 2019
g 32 —hF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
taE FERT FAET
Cash flows from operating activities RETERERE
Net cash (used in)/generated from K (TR EBEZ
operations He 558 30(a) (28,595) 19,953
Income tax paid EATFTSH (500) (4,545)
Interest paid on bank overdrafts RITEXZ 2 ERAE (1) M
Net cash (used in)/generated from LeEsEE (FrA)
operating activities EEZREFH (29,096) 15,407
Cash flows from investing activities RETEBRERE
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant ~ H &Y% HE K&
and equipment RIBFRE A 2,430 936
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B E¥% « 5 K& (38,341) 6,417)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries, net 1 & [ & A al FT{5FUAE
of cash disposed HmBReELERe 34 (338) 400
Purchases of intangible assets ﬁ% BEERFEEE (8,804) -
Increase in non-pledged fixed deposit R=EAEINE
maturing over three months AR TE BB T FUE (1,500) -
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BB AT EFFAEBZHZ
through profit or loss THREE (195,579) (18,224)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at H & iz A FEF AIBH 2
fair value through profit or loss TREEFBRIE 181,747 11,721
Interest received B U F & 2,462 1,564
Net cash used in investing activities RETBHFAZESFE (57,923) (10,020)
Cash flows from financing activities METHHEESRE
Net proceeds from issue of shares BT 2 TR FE 13,093 -
Increase in amount due to a related party & — % B8 75 FRIEE N 14,404 =
Repayment of lease liabilities ERHERRE (22,478) -
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEBEBEZEMME (2,380) -
Interest paid on loan from a related party —&ZEEHERXZ DA E (8,438) -
Repayment of finance leases EBEREHEE = (4,609)
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEE (25) (294)
Interest paid on finance leases MEREZEMNFE = (109)
Interest paid on bank borrowings RITEEZEMAFE = @8)
Net cash used in financing activites REEEBFA2RESHE (5,824) (5,020)

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2020 Annual Report




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2020 2019
e —
Note HK$’000 HK$ 000
Bt FET FHET
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and RERBESLEEY (BL)
cash equivalents 3 hNFER (92,843) 367
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes ERFH o HE (1,581) 1,490
Cash and cash equivalents FURERRSEEY
at beginning of year 332,495 330,638
Cash and cash equivalents atend of HEXBEERBELZEY
year 238,071 332,495
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents BE&RBEESZEY DN
Cash at banks RITHRE 21 176,596 221,362
Non-pledged fixed deposit maturing R=ZBEAREEZ
within three months EEATHER 21 61,061 111,107
Cash on hand FHEE® 21 414 26
238,071 332,495

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated FEMI 2 MiE Bz S ir A M SRR EE 2 — 215 -

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ml-ﬁ

S il F5 ¥R M 53

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -TF=-A=+—BILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION AND
BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
with effect from 2 September 2015. lts parent company is OKC
Holdings Corporation, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability and controlled by Mr. Xu Mingxing. The
address of the Company’s registered office is Clifton House, 75 Fort
Street, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.
The address of the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong is Unit 902-903, 9th Floor, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 7 January 2020, the English name of the Company
has been changed from “LEAP Holdings Group Limited” to “OKG
Technology Holdings Limited”, and the Chinese name of the
Company changed from “ATMEZEREBBR AT to BIRIEH#
TRR AR A A", A Certificate of Incorporation on Change of Name
was issued by the Registrar of Companies in the Cayman Islands
on 9 January 2020.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in provision of foundation works and ancillary
services, construction wastes handling services, technology
services, money lending business and investments in securities.
During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group has commenced
the business in provision of technology services in order to broaden
the Group’s source of income.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) which is also the functional currency of the
Company, unless otherwise stated. These consolidated financial
statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors
on 26 June 2020.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2020 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M R R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the “HKICPA”). In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except as
otherwise stated in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

2 FEEHFREBE

RAZEGAMBREMRA LIRSS
BEREIINT - BIESBRI A ZFEBRD
ERERRIBE2RFE-

2.1

mEEE

ARBR AU REIRIBEE LG
fAg ([EEEFEAE])BMA
BEVBREER ([BEMBRSE
QRS I HEMBHRRE
R ERE S EMRAREER
AMRDIREHEREE - 528 ]
RIDBRBEERAEZRE EATE
TR AL B BRI

REFBUWHREENRRESE /T
BRAERETHRE G EN
FEEEEERAASENGTBR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e Bl FR ¥R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the
first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16

HK(FRIC)-Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Leases

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle

Except as described below, the application of the

new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year

has had no material impact on the Group’s financial

performance and positions for the current and prior

years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M R R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHBKEE (F)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE (&)
2.1.1 Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs 211 EAFIEBUEREEAR
(continued) HEFTA (&)
HKFRS 16 Leases BB B ERFE 160 E
The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time RAEERAFEGREARE
in the current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 B R R E165% - BB B
Leases (‘HKAS 17”) and the related interpretations. EIREEAFIRIRE B S
STERIE17RAE ([HEERT
RIE17R]) RIEERE -
Definition of a lease MEZTER
The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply AEBEREESR HBA
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified FERBRSHENFITRRE
as leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(FRIC)-Int 4 B (BRI BsREREEE S
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease REBARET —HLHELE
and not apply this standard to contracts that were not EHEM#BAAHEE 28 HE
previously identified as containing a lease. Therefore, RAAEBVREERFI65 M
the Group has not reassessed contracts which already HBTWIERNAESHE
existed prior to the date of initial application. SRR EA L AER] - H it -
NEE W ES T EEVRIE
AEHZABEEFEZEH-
For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 MRZZTE-NFEA—HzkZ
April 2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in (X IIva EMK WZER AEH
accordance with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 JERIRRBE B KRG ER|E
in assessing whether a contract contains a lease. 16 FTEAEREEZERE

HE—EAHNRETEEHEE

BRI R AR A
R grey 131
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e Bl FR ¥R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2141

Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs
(continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in
HKFRS 16, the Group is not required to make any
adjustment on transition for leases in which the Group
is a lessor but account for these leases in accordance
with HKFRS 16 from the date of initial application and
comparative information has not been restated.

Upon application of HKFRS 16, new lease contracts
entered into but commence after the date of initial
application relating to the same underlying assets
under existing lease contracts are accounted for as
if the existing leases are modified as at 1 April 2019.
The application has had no impact on the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position at 1 April
2019. However, effective 1 April 2019, lease payments
relating to the revised lease term after modification are
recognised as income on straight-line basis over the
extended lease term.

Before application of HKFRS 16, refundable rental
deposits received were considered as rights and
obligations under leases to which HKAS 17 applied
under trade and other payables. Based on the
definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such
deposits are not payments relating to the right-of-use
assets and were adjusted to reflect the discounting
effect at transition. However, the adjustment to present
value is insignificant at the date of Initial application, 1
April 2019.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M R R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2 FEEHRFREBE ()

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 REEE (&)

2.1.1 Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs 211 EAFIEBUEREEAR

(continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessor (continued)

Based on the assessment of the directors of the
Company, the application of HKFRS 16 as a lessor
has no material impact to these consolidated financial
statements as at 31 March 2020 and for the year
ended 31 March 2020.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial
application, 1 April 2019.

As at 1 April 2019, the Group recognised additional
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets at amounts
equal to the related lease liabilities by applying HKFRS
16.C8(b)(ii) transition. Any difference at the date of
initial application is recognised in the opening retained
earnings and comparative information has not been
restated.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2141

Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs
(continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach
under HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied
the following practical expedients to lease previously
classified as operating leases under HKAS 17, on
lease-by-lease basis, to the extent relevant to the
respective lease contracts:

(i) relied on the assessment of whether leases
are onerous by applying HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets as
an alternative of impairment review;

(ii) elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities for leases with lease term ends
within 12 months of the date of initial application;

(i) excluded initial direct costs from measuring
the right-of-use assets at the date of initial
application; and

(v used hindsight based on facts and
circumstances at the date of initial application
in determining the lease term for the Group’s
leases with extension and termination options.

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases
previously classified as operating leases, the Group
has applied incremental borrowing rates of the relevant
group entities at the date of initial application. The
weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied
by the relevant group entities range from 2.5% to
5.6%.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M R R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs

2 FEEHRFREBE ()

2.1 mBLEE ()

211 ERAFHTEBMBREREAR

(continued) HIERTA (&)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continueqd) BB BHEERE165HE
(%)
As a lessee (continued) tEEEBEA ()
At 1 April
2019
R-ZZE—NF
A—H
HK$'000
FET
Operating lease commitments RZE—NF=ZA=1T—B%E
disclosed as at 31 March 2019 B 45 & T A E 19,241
Add: Adjustment as a result of a different treatment of Al : 4% |FIRIZHET B R 32
termination option EXZRAE 44,345
Less: Practical expedient — leases with B A ATREE A —TH A
lease term ending within 12 months R E X ER B BT 121
from the date of initial application ARGZRNEE (513)
Change in allocation basis between lease and MEREHELS 2
non-lease components o Bl B2 &) (773)
62,300
Less: Total future interest expenses B AR PR A B RS e s (4,151)
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant incremental FAFE BB I 15 S 2 RIS 165
borrowing rates upon application of HKFRS 16 BIRABEEERFERAER
HE&RE 58,149
Add: Obligations under finance leases recognised mR-—E-—NAF=RA=+—8H
at 31 March 2019 (Note) REEVE G AE
(Bfet) 307
Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 RZZE—HFMA—H
WHEEaE 58,456
Analysed as DT
Current TR ED 22,086
Non-current ERED 36,370
58,456
BRI EEERER AR

—E_ZEER
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
2.1.1 Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs
(continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own use
as at 1 April 2019 comprises the following:

2 FEEIHRFRBE ()

2.1 mBEE ()

211 ERAFHTEBMBREEAR

HERTA (&)

BB B EERE 165 HHE
(%)

tEREBEA (&)

R-E—hFUA—-BEER
R R EEREEAKN

T
Right-of-use
assets
FEREEE
HK$’000
FHET
Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases P FEFR B S B 15 TS ZE A
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16 FloRaERE@EEE
HENEREEE 58,149
Amounts included in property, plant and BIEB BT ERIE175
equipment under HKAS 17 FAME -BERREC SR
— Assets previously under finance leases (Note) —BERRMEEEE T ZEE
(Het) 951
59,100
By class: B
Office premises BN S 58,149
Motor vehicle E 362
Machinery and equipment W3S K& A5 589
59,100

Note: In relation to assets previously under finance leases, the
Group recategorised the carrying amounts of the relevant
assets which were still under lease as at 1 April 2019
amounting to approximately HK$951,000 as right-of-use
assets. In addition, the Group reclassified the obligations
under finance leases of approximately HK$154,000 and
approximately HK$153,000 to lease liabilities as current

and non-current liabilities respectively at 1 April 2019.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M R R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.1 Application of new and amendments to HKFRSs
(continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at 1 April 2019. Line items that were not

2 FEEHRFREBE ()

21 EEEE(F)

211 EAFTEBUBREEANR

HIERT A (8)
BB BHREERE 16T THE
(%)

HR-_ZB-NFOA—HHER
EMBRRARANERNSRIE
HTIHE RXEHTEN

affected by the changes have not been included. HETNBEEEA-
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported at HKFRS 16
31 March at 1 April
2019 Adjustments 2019
RZE-NF
R-Z-h%& BA—H
=ZA=+-H BEERHY
BARRK RERERIE 165
HEREE RE HEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TAR TER TER
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment I ER S 28,033 (951) 27,082
Right-of-use assets FREEE - 59,100 59,100
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabiities HEERE - 36,370 36,370
Borrowings R 153 (153) -
Current liabilities REBEE
Lease liabilties MEEE - 22,086 22,086
Borrowings BE 179 (154) 25
Note: GEE

For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating activities
under indirect method for the year ended 31 March 2020,
movements in working capital have been computed based on
opening consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 April

2019 as disclosed above.

REREREERBE_ZT_ZTF=A
=t RLEEENKLEBMERE
mEME  2EESEE IR LA
KER-_Z-NFNA—AZHIER
BMBHRRRE

BRI E R R ERAT
SE=%EEH
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 16

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2020 Annual Report

Insurance Contracts'

Definition of a Business?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
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Definition of Material*
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R M R R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1.2 New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

e Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning
of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June
2020.

In addition to the above new and amendments to
HKFRSSs, a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting was issued in 2018. Its consequential
amendments, the Amendments to References to the
Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.21

Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

(a)  Business combinations

The Group uses the acquisition method to
account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred. |dentifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The Group recognises any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the recognised amount of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

@

©®)

Business combinations (continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value
of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling
interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of
a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the profit or loss.

Inter-group transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between
group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Transaction with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-
controlling interests as transactions with equity
owners of the Group. For purchase of non-
controlling interests, the difference between
any consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.21

222

Consolidation (continued)

(b)  Transaction with non-controlling interests
(continueq)

When the Group ceases to have control or
significant influence, any retained interest in the
entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount
for the purposes of subsequently accounting
for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity
are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This
may mean that amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss account.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwiill.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.2
2.3

24

Subsidiaries (continued)
Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the steering committee that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(@) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the
Group's presentation currency.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

24
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.4 Foreign currency translation
(continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the end of that reporting period;

(ii) income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and

expenses are translated at the rate on the dates

of the transactions); and

@iy all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of any net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming
part of the net investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss,
as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHBKEE (F)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

M- BERBE

2.5 Property, plant and equipment 2.5

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount
of any component accounted for as a separate assets is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives or lease term,
where applicable, as follows:

Y% B K 5%t TO AR R L BANIRL R
AERZRESE (NF)RZF
R-BERABREREZEFRAEER
EERRX -

125 818 B A R R BN S E
MARNEER - BIEB MR AEE 5 A] 5
FER G HBERADT G AEREREB
BERERR—IBBELEE (HEA) -
TERB LB E AR EMAARE D &Y
FREVE N T IARER - P Hith 12 &
RERARPEE £ ISR AR

-

ME - BELRENTERAUTH
flEt Al B B AE B (B ) %
H AR ERED B EERIREER

sy

=5

— Leasehold improvements ~ Over relevant lease term ~-HEMEEE REBRERR

— Furniture, fixtures and office 20% —HA-RER 20%
equipment PAERE

— Machinery and equipment  20% —HERRE 20%

— Motor vehicles 20% -E 20%

— Vessel 20% & 20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.5

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment
(continued)

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Intangible assets

Separately acquired intangible assets are shown at historical
cost. Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Intangible
assets have a finite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of intangible
assets over their estimated useful lives.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or
intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M R R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2 FEEHRFREBE ()

2.8 Leases 2.8 #HE

Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2019

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentive receivable;

° variable lease payments that are based on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

° the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.

B-ZE-NFEUA-BBERZER
BUE

HERRSERREE YHEHEER
ERHRAKSEERZ BREREER
f&e

AMFREE e EE RIFHEHERAS
c AEEIZREE MIFHE AN
HFM%iﬁW”WAWﬁEﬁM
HENIFHE AR

HH D P U>

AEELHEERRENSAREE
B BRREEETHAEAK
BB HE :

s BEENK(BEEELNEE

) BEEREKEER
=

. EREESAESHTREEN
3 FRA R B B B A BN
FIEMSHE

o AREERFIHEEERTE
ANE Ok

s MAKBEABETEIIEWEE
B RSB EENTTEE:
&

o HWHEHRRAEETEZE
B B RIERE SR -

RIBAIEREREBERARIELAHE
ENFRITAARENFTE-

BREHERERAR
—E-SEEH

147



148

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e Bl FR ¥R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.8 Leases (continued)

Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2019
(continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group. the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with
similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

° where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received;

° uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by
the Group, which does not have recent third party
financing; and

° makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable
lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not
included in the lease liability until they take effect. When
adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate
take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted
against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M R R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHBKEE (F)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

2.8 Leases (continued) 28 HE (&)

Accounting policies applied from 1 April 2019
(continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

° the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received,;

° any initial direct costs; and

° restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a
lease term of 12 months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the lease
term on the same basis as lease income. The respective
leased assets are included in the consolidated statement
of financial position based on their nature. The Group did
not need to make any adjustments to the accounting for
assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the new leasing
standard.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e Bl FR ¥R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.8 Leases (continued)

Accounting policies applied prior to 1 April 2019

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessors are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases
(net of any incentives received from the lessors) are charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.

The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment.
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group
has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised
at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value
of the leased property, plant and equipment and the present
value of the minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges. The corresponding rental obligations, net of
finance charges, are included in other short-term and other
long-term payables. The interest element of the finance cost
is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M R R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 FEEHRFREBE ()

2.9 Financial assets 20 EWMEE
Classification SHE
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following AEEBESHMEENBANTHE
measurement categories: eyl
. those to be measured subsequently at fair value . HE#ZmAFEFE (BRETA
(either through other comprehensive income (“OCI”) or Ememk= (THa2mEK

through profit or loss); and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for

Bk >

i) eiEeE) R

S SR A E B o

p
}%:

RTERRESRHEERRER

managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of BHFH 2 EBER -

the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either MEAFEFAEZEEMS  WER
be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity EiESt ABSREMEEmKEE 5
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on WIRHIEBEBE 2R R LA ZIREM
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the T EBERTAEEERSTRYIPER
time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment FRrYEHE AT EIE R i A EE A
at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”). Hiermbzs (EAFEFAEMD

2HENE]) 2 eRMEEMREREA
The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when EEEEAEEEEREEENER
its business model for managing those assets changes. RANER TeHEBIREETE

ik
Recognition and derecognition TR R AL TR
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are FENEeMEEEEDDNRSHH
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group (R EEEAFEEZEAEMNRE) T
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are NER-ENfemEEWIRERE
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from PREMKE IS CEEE MAE
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred BB B EAENTERR TR HRER
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and EER-AIRIIBRAEREE-
rewards of ownership.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e Bl FR ¥R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses)
together with foreign exchange gains and losses.
Impairment losses are presented as separate line item
in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M R R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

o FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognised in OCl is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains/
(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in other gains/(losses) and impairment
expenses are presented as separate line item in the
statement of profit or loss.

° FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within other gains/(losses) in the period
in which it arises.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

Measurement (continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in
OCl, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement of profit
or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M R R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.10 Trade and other receivables

2.11

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
services performed and loans granted to customers in the
ordinary course of business. If collection of trade and other
receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified
as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current
assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade and
other receivables with the objective to collect the contractual
cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts (if
any).

2.12 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of
tax, from the proceeds.

2.13 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not,
they are presented as non-current liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.13 Trade and other payables (continued)

2.14

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to
employees via the share option scheme.

Employee options

The fair value of options granted under the share option
scheme is recognised as an employee benefits expense with
a corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the
options granted:

° including any market performance conditions (eg the
entity’s share price);

° excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (eg profitability, sales
growth targets and remaining an employee of the entity
over a specified time period), and

° including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (eg
the requirement for employees to save or hold shares
for a specific period of time).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2 FESHBKEE (F)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

214 LI BER > 3 (&)

2.14 Share-based payments (continued)

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period,
the entity revises its estimates of the number of options
that are expected to vest based on the non-market vesting

B HEEBEHE (AmemAEE
FEBIGMENHRE) R - S EMES
R BRESRIBIFTIHEBENRS
RIHERT YRR BRE R EREN
flat - ATEERIERT R that (B &

and service conditions. It recognises the impact of the BaPrPE W ERETEEN
revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, with a FHEE o

corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Group transfers the
appropriate number of shares to employee. The proceeds
received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are
credited directly to equity.

2.15 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.16 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

2.17 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of each reporting period in the countries where the Group
operates and generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluate positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to
the tax authorities.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.17 Current and deferred income tax
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(continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method,
on temporary differences, arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred taxation liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.18 Employee benefits

@

(i)

(iii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of each
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Retirement benefits

The Group operates a defined contribution plan
and pays contributions to a privately administered
pension insurance plan on a mandatory, contractual
or voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid.
The contributions are recognised as employee benefit
expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably
committed to a termination when the entity has a
detailed formal plan to terminate the employment of
current employees without possibility of withdrawal.
In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy, the termination benefits are measured
based on the number of employees expected to
accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12
months after the end of each reporting period are
discounted to present value.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
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2.18 Employee benefits (continued)

(iv) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered
by employees and a reliable estimate of such obligation
can be made.

2.19 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when: the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amounts have been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligations. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.20 Contingent liabilities and contingent

2.21

assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resource will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements. When a
change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow
is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
events not wholly within the control of the Group.

Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements when an inflow
of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually
certain, an asset is recognised.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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(CONTINUED)
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2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer
to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which it will be
entitled using either (a) the expected value method or (b)
the most likely amount, depending on which method better
predicts the amount of consideration to which the Group will
be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2020 Annual Report

2 FEEIHRFRBE ()

221 MR ()

BERF TR W 5 - ST 2K BRIE 1T
ZERZTTE

EHE

TERTANEENERESERED
ERFER ZIERRBEANE
BEEELSRILR‘TEPORBEE
1B 18 5 70 7R A TR B AR 7% 2R g a8 MK
A T A R B R E B IR T
R YRR

ECE

HREEAUEREZANME  ANEE
A @B EEEK O)RAENERE
HETEEERIEHRESTE  THI
RN TETT AR T T TR AR @
BRRBHRESE-

""""" 1&@?2%;&%%51 E‘%)\* 518
T MELA I B AR K AT B 1 & 7 B A 2
Rfﬁﬁ 782 TEARA I%Efﬁﬁtﬁ?&ﬁv B
HARBEEAKE QR -

W& wE SR AREEHIEHR S
B (BEE MR R B RT
TR 2T AEERRR S
HRIFHE 2 R BA R SR 45 BP0 2 138
88



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M R R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.21 Revenue recognition (continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its construction
contracts. The Group first assesses whether these costs
qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of other relevant
standards, failing which it recognises an asset for these costs
only if they meet all of the following criteria:

the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the Group can specifically
identify;

the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the assets relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.22 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which
it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

2.23 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements and the Company’s financial statements in the
period in which the dividends are declared by the directors
in case of interim dividends or approved by the Company’s
shareholders in case of final dividends.

2.24 Dividend income

Dividends are received from financial assets measured
at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL”). Dividends are
recognised as revenue in profit or loss when the right to
receive payment is established.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.25 Interest income
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Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in
the net gain/(loss) on change in fair value of these assets.

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as part of other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset
except for financial assets that subsequently become credit-
impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

2.26 Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

0] has control or joint control of the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or of a parent of the Group.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.26 Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

U

(i

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities exposed it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and price
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

Market risk

()

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and
is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising mainly from
transactions in RMB. Foreign exchange risk arises from
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities and net investments in operations in the PRC.
The appreciation or devaluation of the RMB against the
HK$ may also have an impact on the operating results
of the Group.

In addition, the Group’s foreign exchange position is
monitored on an ongoing basis in order to minimise
the impact from the fluctuation of foreign currency
rate. The Group currently does not maintain a foreign
currency hedging policy. However, management
monitors the foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

Interest rate risk

Other than bank balances with variable interest rate,
the Group has no other significant interest-bearing
assets with variable interest rate. Management does
not anticipate significant impact to interest-bearing
assets resulted from the changes in interest rates,
because the interest rates of bank balances are not
expected to change significantly.

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings.
Borrowings obtained with variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk which is partially
offset by cash deposited at variable rates. The Group
has not hedged its cash flow interest rate risks.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2019, if the interest rate on all variable-
rate borrowings had been 100 basis points higher/
lower with all other variables held constant, the Group’s
loss after income tax for the year would have been
increased/decreased by approximately HK$1,000,
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense on

borrowings with floating interest rates.

(i) Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising from certain
investments held by the Group are classified in the
consolidated statement of financial position as financial

assets at fair value through profit or loss.

For listed equity securities, if the quoted price of the
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
had appreciated/depreciated by 10% with all other
variables held constant, the Group'’s loss after income
tax for the year would have been approximately
HK$459,000 (2019: Nil) lower/higher as a result of
gains/losses on change in fair value of the financial

assets at fair value through profit or loss.

For unlisted investment fund, assuming that the unit
price of the fund increased/decreased by 10% and
all other variables held constant at the end of the
reporting period, the Group’s loss after income tax
would decrease/increase by approximately HK$34,000

(2019: Nil).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

3 MEERBEEE (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from trade and other receivables,
contract assets, amount due from a related party, pledged
bank deposit and bank deposits and balances and cash.
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations as
at the reporting dates in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets and contract assets is the carrying amount
of those assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In respect of cash at banks, the credit risk is considered to
be low as the counterparties are reputable banks. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of cash at banks are assessed to be
close to zero and no provision was made.

In respect of trade and other receivables and contract
assets, individual credit evaluations are performed on all
customers and counterparties. These evaluations focus on
the counterparty’s financial position, past history of making
payments and take into account information specific to
the counterparty as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the counterparty operates. Monitoring
procedures have been implemented to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual
trade and other receivable and contract assets balance at the
end of each reporting period to ensure adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.

As at 31 March 2020, there were two (2019: three)
customers which individually contributed over 10% of the
Group’s trade receivables, loan receivables and contract
assets. The aggregate amounts of trade receivables, loan
receivables and contract assets from these customers
amounted to 34% (2019: 45%) of the Group’s total trade
receivables, loan receivables and contract assets as at 31
March 2020.

3.1

BgE R EE (&)

FERR

FERR EEXQT%&E@EW%
R BREE BR—BEE)
Eﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁﬂ%&ﬁﬂﬁm m%
MRBRE - W F o REERS BB
REHOEREREERANEER
TREE AEEFEHNREEER
ke Rz EEER G VBRI ERZ
IR BRE(E ©

RBTHEME  ARZUFHER
BRT - HEERARERARE -F
- RITHRE 2 BRMEREER RGN
HEETEUEERRE-

HE S REMEWRRARENEE
mE BEHMARTE REFH#ET
BRME BT - 2 F A FTREF
AR BIRR B EN RS E
BEFAOEEERAREEF KL
EHBAMAEIRS B EBEERET
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises

the following categories:

FERR (&)

MERREE ()

3.1 MBEMREE (&)

FEBRKEERBRITRIERBIEIN

TR

Trade receivables/

Other

Category  Description contract assets financial assets
ESRKER

£h it BNEE HitemER

Performing  The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any past-due Lifetime ECL- 12-month ECL
amounts not credit-impaired

Rk RSUFAMENRRE BXEEMEARE BERMEREEER 12{8R

-BEERE EBEEEE

Doubtful There has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL-

not credit-impaired not credit-impaired

75t BVSBRAREERRENE LT EABHEHEESE EARBENEERE

~EEERE -EEERE

In default There is evidence indicating the asset is credit impaired Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL-

credit impaired credit impaired

EH BEBBEREECRERE BABNEREESE EAEBENEEEE

—=ERE -FERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and Amount is written off Amount is written off

the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery
A BREBETEBARAREMARASETEEE RO gt mEeE MEeE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M R R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
Group’s financial assets and contract assets which are

MEREEE (1§)

31 M¥ERBEE (H)
EEER ()

TR FBRETEREEERNE
ZEREECREERENEEZREER

subject to ECL assessment: [BLBg S 1E
Gross carrying
31 March 2020 Notes Internal credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
128 A EERH
—E-ZEF=HA=+—H Mt WERME AREAR BHEEEE IREEAHE
HK$’000
FHET
Trade receivables 18 Performing Lifetime ECL 61,478
E) LN BA+ BEBEHEAEEESE
In default Credit-impaired 3,619
EH =8 RE
Contract assets 19 Performing Lifetime ECL 73,552
BREE B &+ BEBHREBEEEE
In default Credit-impaired 36,231
EBH EERE
Loan receivables 18 Performing 12m ECL 42,066
FEWE 3 & 49 12{8 A HEE &S
Other receivables 18 Performing 12m ECL 14,516
H A U BR R B &+ 1218 A HEE &S
Amount due from a related party 28 Performing 12m ECL 2,980
JE W — 2 B 38 05 FRIR BAH 1218 A HE E B8
Pledged bank deposit 21 Performing 12m ECL 6,753
EHRIRRITIER fB 49 1218 A B HIE EE1E
Bank deposits and balances 21 Performing 12m ECL 239,157
RITER KA & 49 12{8 A HEE &S
Bﬁﬂ%%@?ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ@ Gl

—E-SEEH
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MERKEERE ()
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 B¥EKREZE (&)
Credit risk (continued) EERK (&)

Gross carrying

31 March 2019 Notes Internal credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
1218 7 st EE (&8 HA
—E-NE=A=+—H Mt REBE AR TREEEEE REEERE
HK$'000
FHET
Trade receivables 18 Performing Lifetime ECL 57,631
E) LN &+ REBHEBEEEE
In default Credit-impaired 4,959
) =B RE
Contract assets 19 Performing Lifetime ECL 91,775
BREE & & BEBHEBEEEE
In default Credit-impaired 985
) EERE
Loan receivables 18 Performing 12m ECL 34,466
FEWE 3K fB 49 12{8 AR HEEEE
Other receivables 18 Performing 12m ECL 24,485
H A e U BR R & & 12{8 A HEEEE
Pledged bank deposit 21 Performing 12m ECL 6,611
EHRIRIRITIER B AR 1218 A HEEE1E
Bank deposits and balances 21 Performing 12m ECL 332,469
RITER K AR fB 497 128 AFEHEEEE

174 OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2020 Annual Report



3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R M R R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

3 MEERBEEE (&)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables and contract assets. To measure the ECL,
trade receivables and contract assets have been assessed
individually with significant balances and the remaining
balances are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics. The contract assets relate to unbilled work in
progress and have substantially the same risk characteristics
as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The
Group has therefore estimated the expected loss rates for the
trade receivables and the contract assets on the same basis.

The Group has performed historical analysis and identified
the key economic variables impacting credit risk and ECL. It
considers available reasonable and supportive forwarding-
looking information. The Group also makes periodic
assessments on the recoverability of the receivables based
on the background and reputation of the customers,
historical settlement records and past experience.

3.1 HB¥EBREE (&)

FERR (&)

AEBRAEEVBREELFESR
Bt ERMEREEE XM
BEIREERNRANEERERS
HIEMEERE - R ERNEES
B EHREEREAENEED @R
AL B ERGE  MBRBRRELR
EERBREEETOE - ENEER
RABENTEIREH A REE
AR A D E 5B AR KA G K
BRSO RSBl AEEER
MREEEFESREEREANE
EMFEMBELRX.

AEECETREEON LEEXE
EERBLIEREEEEN 2R
B -HEETRANAEAAIRIEN
AEEN AKETREEFNESR
REE BLAETHRBELR:
TE HART b FE M SR IR O T I [

BB R AR A A
—g-2rrR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MEREER (&)
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 B¥EKREZE (&)
Credit risk (continued) FERE (&)
The loss allowance for trade receivables, contract assets and BSRBER AaHEERERER
loan receivables were determined as follows. ZIEEBEETHD T
Weighted
average
expected Gross Expected
credit loss carrying credit Net carrying
rate amount loss amount
mEF
BHEE BHEE
BRX BEEE BE RHFE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT THET FTHER
At 31 March 2020 R-ZB-ZEE=R=1+—H
Trade receivables S EWERR
Provision on individual basis R REAER 5.96% 65,097 (3,878) 61,219
Contract assets BHEE
Provision on individual basis BEREERE 4.88% 109,783 (5,354) 104,429
Loan receivables EWER
Provision on individual basis REREERE 3.01% 42,066 (1,267) 40,799
Weighted
average
expected Gross Expected
credt loss carrying credit Net carrying
rate amount loss amount
TS
BEEE BHEE
BEX BERE BB REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET AT T
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=A=+—H
Trade receivables SRR
Provision on individual basis RIERIEERE 3.21% 62,590 (2,009) 60,581
Contract assets BREE
Provision on individual basis RERIEERE 2.18% 92,760 (2,018 90,742
Loan receivables ERER
Provision on individual basis RERIEE 2 B 3.42% 34,466 (1,179) 33,287
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MERBEE(#)

(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

The closing loss allowances for trade receivables, contract
assets and loan receivables as at 31 March 2020 and 2019
reconcile to the opening loss allowances as follows:

Trade

receivables

Loan Lifetime ECL

receivables  (not credit-

12m ECL |mpa|red)

g5 }}E g QE TA

EWE: EEEHES

128 AFH FEBR
FEEE (REERE)

HK$'000 HK$'000

3.1 MBEBRER (&)

FERR (&)

RZEZZEFR_F—-NF=A
=t+—H BZRKER EHNEE
REWE KM EARE BB E R YE

BREENHENT:
Contract Trade Contract
assets  receivables assets

Lifetime ECL Lifetime Lifetime
(not credit- ECL (credit- ECL (credit-
impaired) impaired) impaired) Total
EREERE ERRUEN SNEERA
BHES RERSBES BHES
FEBR SEER FEBR
(BREERE) (FEHE) (EEHE) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TEL TEL TEL TEL THL TEL
As at 31 March 2018 RZB-NF
under HKAS 39 ZA=1+-HRE
r’éﬁ T I 583095 - - - - - -
Adjustment upon [EFE BN B £
application of HKFRS 9 ORI IF it B & 1 537 1,427 424 450 2,839
As at 1 April 2018 RZE-NFMA-H
(restated) ( f:é:E 51) 1 537 1,427 424 450 2,839
Changes due to ?—/\i MA—H
financial instruments EE AEREMIAESE
recognised as at VEE):
1 April 2018:
~ Impairment reversed —BEERE () (536) (715) (242) (281) (1,725)
— Impairment recognised ~ — B HERRE - - 32 6 = 38
New financial assets %HFET% S MEREE
originated or purchased 1,179 900 1,055 920 - 4,054
As at 31 March 2019 RZB-NF
=H=+-H 1,179 901 1,799 1,108 219 5,206
As at 1 April 2019 RZE-NEMA-H 1,179 901 1,799 1,108 219 5,206
Changes due to RZZE-NENA—A
financial instruments RASMIAESE
recognised as at HEE:
1 April 2019:
- Transfer to credit- ~BREENE
impaired = (12) (354) 12 354 S
- Reversal as a result —-HE-EHBAR
of the disposal of a BY e
subsidiary - - (82) - - 82
- Impairment reversed —BEERE 877) (884) (776) - = (2,537)
— Impairment recognised BHEZRE 29 = = 2,497 4,032 6,558
New financial assets %ﬁ? ETE% S MEBEE
originated or purchased 936 256 162 - - 1,354
Exchange adjustments 5 A% = - - - - =
As at 31 March 2020 RZBZEF
=A=t+-H 1,267 261 749 3,617 4,605 10,499

* Less than HK$1,000

* 1K 741,000 7T

BRI EEERERA R
—E-SEEH
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables, contract assets and loan receivables
are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to

engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables, contract assets and
loan receivables are presented as net impairment losses
within operating loss. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against the same line item.

At 31 March 2020 and 2019, the Group assessed the
12-month ECL of the other receivables and amount due from
a related party and considered that the ECL allowance for

these receivables is immaterial.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2020 Annual Report
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3.1
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3 MEERBEEE (&)

3.1 HB¥EBREE (&)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements and its compliance with debt
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from
banks and other financial institutions to meet their liquidity
requirements in the short and long term. Management
believes there is no significant liquidity risk as the Group has
sufficient committed facilities to fund their operations.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of each reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current rates at the end of each reporting period) and
the earliest date the Group may be required to pay:

REESER

AEBNBRASEHNEERF LAY
MRBEEHFR REBBRONE
M UHERAREERZANR S
A RMEIRIT R A & BB EUS T
RHEEES WENEEHEES
RBELFR-BEREMRE ARE
SEERENEAERERHEER
NES BHRBEARDESER -

TRALMAEENEHABENSHRE
HIRHBRTATQREIBER - THRETA
AFRBLRE (BIEEAETHONE
H(BERZE)NBREHRNNH
MEFAEHF BN RAEEAX
NHEFERBE:

On

demand or Between Between

within one and two and
one year two years five years Total

RERX —F (i3
H—FR EmE Z0E st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TET

At 31 March 2020 RZB-EE=A=1+—H

Trade and other payables B 5 RE MR ERR 90,806 - - 90,806
Amount due to a former subsidiary &~ — & R i B A B 508 10,641 - - 10,641
Amount due to a related party BN —ZEERFE 14,776 - - 14,776
Loan from a related party ZRBERER 146,810 - - 146,810
Lease liabilties HERE 25,176 12,550 123 37,849
288,209 12,550 123 300,882

BRI E R R ERAT

—E_ZEER i
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MBRABRERE (M)
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 31 B¥EKREZE (&)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESRR (&)
On
demand or Between Between
within one and two and
one year two years five years Total
RER —F 4
H—ER EWEF ZRF Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHT THT TR
At 31 March 2019 R-E-NE=ZA=+—H
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMER 92,772 = = 92,772
Amount due to a former subsidiary &< — Al B 2 Al 58 10,641 - = 10,641
Loan from a related party —LHERER 148,500 - = 148,500
Finance lease liabilities REABEAR 165 81 80 326
Borrowings (excluding finance BE(TERERERERE)
lease liabilities) 25 - - 25
252,103 81 80 252,264
3.2 Capital management 32 EXEE

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders, to
support the Group’s stability and growth; to earn a margin
commensurate with the level of business and market risks
in the Group’s operations and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, obtain new
borrowings or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as the total interest-bearing liabilities
as at each year end divided by the total equity as at each
year end.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3 MEERBEEE (&)

(CONTINUED)
3.2 Capital management (continued) 32 EXEE (&)
The gearing ratios of the Group are as follows: rEBWEEARLENAT:
2020 2019
= I
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Total borrowings BEE 177,728 143,770
Total equity s 301,143 341,682
Gearing ratio BEAGELE 59% 42%
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 AR {EME

The table below analyses the Group’s financial instruments
carried at fair value as at 31 March 2020 and 2019 by level
of the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair
value. Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a
fair value hierarchy as follows:

° Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

° Inputs other than quoted prices included within level
1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2).

° Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

TRIZAEQFEZHERMT AR
ABBHNER 2TR_E_TFK
—E-NAFZAZ+—BAREREA
FEMNENSHTE - BB AR
ERTEERADPBEANT =S
&

o  HRBEXREREREETSN
HECRKERE) (F—M) -

s RE-SZSHMEBEHREIN
BEXRENERE (WER)K
B (BMERITAEY) FTERE
BABIE (B -

o WIHKBABERNMEREE
EMEERBENEARE
(A FATBRBARE) (F=
) e

BN ERERERA R
—g-2rrR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

by insurance company.

banks.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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The fair value of the life insurance policy is determined based
on the cash value of the life insurance policy which is not an
observable input. Management estimates the fair value based
on the latest information of the life insurance policy provided

The fair value of the wealth management products are
determined based on the quoted prices from the relevant

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MEREER (&)
(CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 XFEEMF (&)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£-% ] £=5 @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TET TER TER TEr
As at 31 March 2020 R-E-EE=A=t-H
Assets EE
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABER
through profit or loss SREE
- Listed equity securities -k AESR 4,585 - - 4,585
- Life insurance policy - ASRE - - 2,688 2,688
— Wealth management products -BHER - 17,293 - 17,293
- Unlisted warrants — 3 ERREE - - 2,741 2,741
- Unlisted investment fund —kEmREES - - 338 338
4,585 17,293 5,767 27,645
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& E-% E=H Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL THL
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=+—H
Assets EE
Financial assets at fair value through & A FE: ABEH)
profit or loss SREE
- Life insurance policy - AERE - - 2,630 2,630
- Wealth management products ~ —3E 8 E & - 4,723 = 4,723
- Unlisted warrant —F L MRRESE - - 1,691 1,691
- 4723 4,321 9,044

ABREZNFEDENASRER
SEE (LFFABERGABE)E
E-BRENENRBRARMEHR 2
ABREZEHEMEFTAFE

B EMZ A TETENBEBRTZ
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

3 MEERBEEE (&)

3.3 AV EME ()

The fair value of the unlisted warrants are determined based
on the Black-Scholes model. The significant unobservable
inputs mainly include risk free rate of 0.18% (2019: 2.21%)
(reference to US Treasury curve) and expected volatility of
range from 45.63% (2019: 38.53%) (reference to comparable
listed companies). The fair value increases with the increase
in the risk free rate or expected volatility.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets
is based on quoted market prices at the end of reporting
period. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency,
and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is
the current bid price. These instruments are included in level
1. Instruments included in level 1 comprise primarily equity
investments listed in Hong Kong and US Stock market
classified as trading securities.

The fair value of the unlisted investment fund is determined
based on the net asset value of the investment fund.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for
the year:

FELFTRIRERZ AFETIERAS
m-SRMEAET S TIER
BABBEEZREERRKRFIE18%
(ZZE—hF:221%) (B2REXH
BIER B AR ) R IBHDE IR N T-45.63%
(ZZ—NF:3853%) (K&
AR ETMAR) - ATFEBERR
I 2R 5 78 H 8% 02 182 00 1 4% Hn o

RERMZEEZERMTAZAFE
TR BEMRZ TIZREHE - i
ZHREARSHEHRMER S K
R R TTEEE EERBRE
ERE MREERRRERKEY
BAFRAETZWERS  ZT5
ARRER - AKERKAZEREE
FRER 2 MIZRERRITEAB - Z
ETAFAE R -FABE—ENT
AT Z2ERREEREBRETS L
TOERZBEHHBRARE

FELTREES 2 ATEDREBRE
HEe 7 EEFEEE-

TRENFANE=ZRIEB 2EF:

2020 2019

—E-EF ZT—hF

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FEx FET

Opening balance FHEH 4,321 =

Reclassification on adoption of HRINE B WS ER FIR R

HKFRS 9 EgoibaN ] - 2,603
Purchases during the year FANEE 2,639 1,845

Net fair value change FRATEEY (1,193) (127)
Closing balance FRER 5,767 4,321
BR R 2 g pR G TR A Al

—E_ZEER
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

There were no transfers between levels during the year.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial
position approximate their fair value.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements used in preparing the consolidated
financial statements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates
and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are addressed below.

(@) Impairment of financial assets and
contract assets

The loss allowances for financial assets and contract assets
are based on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 4 E X®iH&stRFIER
AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED) (48)
(b) Progress towards completion of b) BEIRERBEDL
construction works

AEE2ERBRERREEENKE
HNETHEER —BREERNERE
B8 WIRRRETRRERNE NES
on the surveys of work performed to date of the individual PBETIREEHESNEENRAS
TR BERBEESHMMETIIZENMN

The Group recognises its contract over time by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation of the end of the reporting period, measured based

contract of construction works relative to total contract

value. Because of the nature of the activity undertaken
in construction contracts, the date at which the contract
activity is entered into and the date when the activity is
completed usually fall into different accounting period.
The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract

B ANTIIRT M BERETER

B —REN TR HME - AEEH
RELETH R RETEZEAYN
HWaKeE SRR NEEIRR M
Ao BEREETHRNANERNRA

revenue, contract costs and variation orders prepared for N ONE R ) N

each construction contract as the contract progresses.

Management regularly reviews the progress of the contracts

and the corresponding costs of the contract revenue.

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract REBREKETRRT REFT S
revenue, contract costs, variation orders and contract claims EEHMEHNRE EHXNEK EF
prepared for each construction contract as the contract HEREHREMT - BEKRATEER

progresses. Budgeted construction costs are prepared by
the management on the basis of quotations from time to
time provided by the major contractors, suppliers or vendors
involved and the experience of the management. In order
to keep the budget accurate and up-to-date, management
conducts periodic reviews of the budgets of contracts by
comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual amounts
incurred. Such significant estimate may have impact on the
profit recognised in each period.

HEBETR2ZLEABRH HE
BREBETIRENREENLEEE
WERAERMET - RERBELE
BEEH EREHANAEETE
HES HBRRESHENERESEZ
Z 5l o B EAMEF AT 82 4 & B A
REVEFERFE

BREHERERAR
—E-SEEH
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS 5

o

% CHAUWA - RS

AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT BROBEH
INFORMATION
Revenue and other income, gains and losses recognised during the FRl s REMRA - W & BB R
year are as follows: T
2020 2019
—E-EHF —ZE-hEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Foundation works and ancillary services ~ #hE T 12 & it &R 322,828 254,837
Construction wastes handling services BEREYMRIERG 224,687 104,590
Technology services 1ty R 7% 22,963 =
Services income from operation of USDK 4 2 USDK > BR#& W A ( B1aE0))
(Note (1)) 1,565 -
Revenue from contracts with REEFEHNKE
customers 572,043 359,427
Rental income from lease of machinery HERSBEENHES WA 2,556 3,408
Interest income from money lending BEEBFBFERA
business 5,765 2,257
Fair value change on investments BEBRERNTFEEY
in securities
— Realised change —BEERE 162 (137)
— Unrealised change —REREH (10,206) (49
Total revenue Pl 570,320 364,906
Other income, gains and losses HWA - B REER
Interest income F B U A 3,009 1,853
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BERREZ
plant and equipment e 797 179
Written off of property, plant and equipment #ifi$4 ¥ % - B % 518 (44) -
Government grants (Note (i) RIS #Bh (K72 a) 449 =
(Loss)/gain on disposal of HE—RHBARZ
a subsidiary (Note 34) (E#8) Mg (f15234) 7 2
Net losses on change in fair value of BEATEFABSEZEMEE
financial assets at fair value through profit A (B & & 5518 F 58
or loss (429) (56)
Service income ARSI A 1,117 1,415
Others Hitb 86 618
4,978 4,011
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R M R R 51

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(i

OKLink Fintech Limited (“OKLink”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, creates and operates an online platform (“OKLink Platform”) for
the conduct of activities involving the USDK cryptocurrency, an Ethereum-
based virtual asset. Each USDK created represents a digital record of the
USDK holder’s beneficial interest in one US dollar held on trust by Prime
Trust, LLC (“Prime Trust”) for the benefit of the USDK holder. The OKLink
Platform can be used by the USDK users to establish USDK Accounts
for the purposes of () requesting that USDK be issued in exchange
for an equivalent amount of U.S. Dollars provided to Prime Trust as
trustee (“minting”), (i) requesting that Prime Trust provides U.S. Dollars in
exchange for an equivalent amount of USDK, which begins by sending the
USDK to a personal address designated for burning (“burning”), and (iii)

sending and receiving USDK to and/or from USDK Accounts.

In accordance with the terms set out in the contracts with USDK Users,
OKLink, as technology service provider, does not have control of, or liability
for, any products or services that are purchased from third parties by the
USDK Users in using the USDK Services. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, OKLink is not liable to the USDK Users or any third
parties for any losses or issues that may arise from the use of the OKLink
Platform, hence it is considered that the actual or contingent liabilities of
the Group that have arisen from the operation of the OKLink Platform are

immaterial.

There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

5 I

]

Bzt

= HUA -
&

=94
BEF (])

KRR Z2EMWEBRQROKLink Fintech
Limited ([OKLink | ) B2 I & E & ¥ &
(TOKLInkF & 1) LA 1T RUSDKINE &
¥ (—fEAEthereumBER 2 B EE) 2
¥ H5)E 8 o FT Al 2 §IBUSDKIEUSDKIE A
AR AUSDKE B A B @ ARPrime Trust,
LLC ([Prime Trust ] ) MEREA R A 2 —%
THE w2 BlF 8k - OKLinkT & AT 4
USDKF F f 1 3% SLUSDKER 5 LA() B S i F
%17 2 USDKEA 32 #42 1 F Prime Trust (1E5
RRANZETHSESE ([8E])  (HEX
Prime Trusti2 it £ 7T JA % #USDK 2 1% £
(LB BMIETEAER ([H%]) ZEAM
b8 HUSDKZ 5 A tA) » K@ &, &
USDKER /= 2 3% 17 Y HLUSDK »

1R & BUSDK A = & #9 FT #1638 - OKLink (B
B 4l IR %5 R B P ) 3 A 22 5| USDK R B
FAUSDKIREHEFE =B E 2 Ema R K

15 FR OKLInkF & T 7] BE 22 A 2 AT IR R 3k S

Y USDKA Pk (B = A EIEF AT
Ry AEREREZOKLnkF A EE

ZERIIARABELTEK-

BRZSH W BRI BB =T

BN ERERERA R
—g-2rrR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

5 i

&2 HtkA
"R

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts PIREFEHN NS
with customers
2020 2019
—E-F —ZE-AF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FET
Type of services PRI R
Foundation works and ancillary services 2 T2 K il ERTE 322,828 254,837
Construction wastes handling services IRV RIE RS 224,687 104,590
Technology services AT AR 7% 22,963 =
Services income from operation of USDK 4% 2 USDK 2 IR 7% U A 1,565 =
572,043 359,427
Timing of revenue recognition I 25 7R B A
Over time Bi& 5 [ At 572,043 359,427

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

Foundation works and ancillary services and construction
wastes handling services

Such services are recognised as performance obligations satisfied
over time as the Group creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced or the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group as the Group performs, respectively.
Revenue for these works is therefore recognised over time. The
Group measures progress using an output method. Specifically,
progress is based on surveys of the relevant services completed
by the Group to the end of the current reporting period with
reference to certificates issued by customers or payment
applications confirmed by internal surveyor. The directors of the
Company consider that this method faithfully depicts the Group’s
performance towards complete satisfaction of these performance
obligations in these contracts under HKFRS 15.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (continued)

Technology services

Revenue from technology services is recognised over time because
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs. It
is recognised over time using output method, i.e. to recognise
revenue on the basis of direct measurement of the value of goods
or services promised under the contract that best depict the
Group’s performance in transferring control of goods or services.
The contracts on provision of technology services include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the service period
once certain specified milestones are reached.

Services income from operation of USDK

OKLink does not charge the USDK Users any fees or costs for
minting, transferring or burning any USDK but instead is entitled
to receive monthly compensations based on the total USD assets
held in trust in monthly volume tiers depending on the daily closing
balance ledger of trust assets. USDK Users obtain the benefits
of the services carried out by OKLink in minting, transferring and
burning the USDK by holding the USDK in their USDK Accounts
until the USDK is transferred or redeemed. Hence revenue is
recognized over time as the USDK Users simultaneously receive
and consume these benefits provided by OKLink’s performance as
OKLink performs over time.

In respect of providing services relating to sending and receiving
USDK to and/or from USDK Accounts, OKLink does not charge
transaction fees associated with such transfers. The services
carried out by OKLink in transferring USDK to other USDK
Accounts or other Users are not distinct within the context of the
contracts with the USDK Users from the other promised services in
the contracts.

5

Wriz AU A W& B 5
RERSBEH (&)

FREFENNENERE (&)

B i BR %%

R ARTE MR T — B A RER - JRE
BNAEBERNE P RRZREFERE
SEEARM R - RERELER —
BESMARER  BIRANEBETAEERK
REEEZBERFTEREERAWES  ME
R RRARE N ERE kR 2 2
BHRR - ARRERNRE 2 0BEM
RERKR  EERKRREBNEEETATH
BIZRIR ST AME R B A 3R o

&EUSDKZ FRF W A

OKLINKIF £ 5t 85 48 - %3 3% ok $H 2 (E AT USDK
ifi /A USDK A B B (E ] B A sk A AN - HEH
RWERIBER =t EE 2 A S EHER
BrEARREBEAUEATAEEZ
ELEEREITE 2T ATHE - RUSDKHE
oD 2 AT USDKA P B BN EE
USDKEE = 5 5 USDKIf 7 EXOKLink {2 f 8%
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Transaction price allocated to the
remaining performance obligations from
contracts with customers

o

S HAKA KWEREB
"R

BEH (])

TEEEFEHNZHTENER
MR 5 E

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance RN-ZZE—ZEFR-_F-NF=A=+—H
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2020 %@E?%TJ@%@EEE’]X%F (AR ED
and 2019 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as DIER) MTEEERW SR T
follows:
Foundation works
and ancillary services
WEIBREERYE
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within one year —FNR 81,006 292,365
More than one year but not more Be—FETEAMF
than two years - 230,492
81,006 522,857

In addition, construction wastes handling services contracts are not
included in the above analysis as the possible transaction prices
and the ultimate consideration for these contracts will depend on
the occurrence or non-occurrence of future customer usage. In
light of these basis of preparation, the above does not reflect the
expectation of the Group’s performance. The analysis is solely for
compliance with HKFRS 15 disclosure requirement in respect of
transaction price allocated the remaining performance obligations.

Technology service are for periods of one year or less. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these
unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Operating segment information

Management has determined the operating segments based on
the reports reviewed by the directors, the chief operating decision-
maker, that are used to make strategic decisions. The directors
consider the business from a product/service perspective. Principal
activities of the segments are as follows:

(@ Foundation works and ancillary services: Provision of
site formation works, excavation and lateral support,
piling construction, pile caps or footing construction and
reinforced concrete structure works and ancillary services
mainly included hoarding and demolition works and lease of
machinery;

(b) Construction wastes handling services: Provision of
management and operation of public fill reception facilities,
including public fill banks and temporary construction waste
sorting facilities, for construction and demolition materials;

(c)  Technology services: Provision of 1) developing the USDK
smart contract, managing the USDK smart contract to
effect minting and burning of USDK, and 2) technology
development and I.T. infrastructure service;

(d)  Money lending business; and
(e)  Investments in securities.

Segment revenue is measured in a manner consistent with
that in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The directors assess the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of segment results. Unallocated income,
unallocated corporate expenses, finance costs, income tax
expense and other major items that are isolated and non-recurring
in nature are not included in segment results.

Segment assets mainly consist of current assets and non-current
assets as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
position except unallocated bank deposits and balances and cash
and other unallocated assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-
current liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position except current income tax liabilities, deferred tax
liabilities, amount due to a former subsidiary, loan from a related
party, amount due to a related party, borrowings, lease liabilities and
other unallocated liabilities.

5 %ﬁ AU A - U B S
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ERECDREEE FELERRECDEY
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PFEDE R FIERHRWGRE B35
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5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS 5
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT |
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Operating segment information (continued) resBER (&)
Foundation Construction
works and wastes Money
ancillary handling  Technology lending Investments
services services services business in securities Total
BETER EEBY . L .
BERE EERY% Bl R A BEER EHRE @it
HK$’000_ HK$’000_ HK$'000_ HK$’000_ HK$’000_ HK$'000
TER TR BT TR TR TER
Year ended 31 March 2020 HE-Z-%2F
ZAZt-HLEFE
Revenue =3
External revenue HMER M 325,384 224,687 24,528 5,765 (10,044) 570,320
Segment results DHRR 15,948 22,959 9,045 4,841 (10,201) 42,592
Unallocated income XD @Euﬁl)\ 4,978
Unallocated corporate expenses bR NGl 32\ ) (91,407)
Impairment losses on financial assets and % &% éF REHEEZHE
contract assets 518 (5,375)
Finance costs BEKR (9,131)
Loss before income tax BRETEHATEE (58,343)
Income tax expense FERAY (3,259)
Loss for the year FREE (61,602)
Included in segment results are: FADHEEMNER :
Depreciation of property, plant nE- BERRENE
and equipment . . 6,542 4,048 948 - - 11,538
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE = 4,241 - - 4241
Amortisation of intangible assets EREESH - - 1,663 - - 1,663
6,542 4,048 6,852 - - 17,442
At 31 March 2020 R-B-BE=A=1-H
Segment assets HHBE E 173,528 65,001 123,315 102,283 31,549 495,676
Unallocated assets AOBEE 107,539
Total assets BEBE 603,215
Additions to non-current asset: FRDEERE
Segment assets DAWEE 15,603 16,632 18,740 - 95 51,070
Unallocated assets AOREE 99
51,169
Segment liabilities AHERE 53,076 24,621 10,062 - 723 88,482
Unallocated liabilities AAREE 3,934
Amount due to a former subsidiary e — R RIH TE Al 10,641
Loan from a related party —EHEFEN 141,750
Amount due to a related party R —R@ER A 14,776
Lease liabilities AEaE 35,978
Current income tax liabilities Eﬂ HMEHAR 3,256
Deferred tax liabilties BRERHIEEE 3,255
Total liabilties BELE

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Operating segment information (continued)

5 lgg HMUA BB Es

RERSBEH (&)

REIBEN (H)

Foundation ~ Construction
works and wastes Money
ancillary handling lending Investments
services serv@ces business in securities Total
WEIRER BERY ‘ ‘
BRERY RERE WEEH BHRE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL THL THL THL THL
Year ended 31 March 2019 BE-Z-hE=A=1+-8
LEE
Revenue W&
External revenue IR ER 258,245 104,590 2,257 (186) 364,906
Segment results DEEE 26,802 2,394 1,481 (194) 30,483
Unallocated income ROERMA 4,011
Unallocated corporate expenses bl NGRS (53,302)
Impairment losses on financial assets and SREERANBEZREER
contract assets (2,367)
Finance costs BERK (6,8689)
Loss before income tax BRETS BRI A (28,043)
Income tax credit EHESR 808
Loss for the year FREE (7,285)
Included in segment reslts are: SIADEEENER -
Depreciation nE 10,985 1,079 - - 12,064
At 31 March 2019 R=B-nE=A=t+-H
Segment assets DHEE 187,173 31,846 182,107 = 401,126
Unallocated assets AOREE 193,532
Total assets EELE 594,658
Additions to non-current asset: REFRDEE:
Segment assets NEEE 2,675 = = = 2,675
Unallocated assets AOMEE 10,816
13,491
Segment liabilities AHEE 54,322 18,456 - - 72,778
Unallocated liabilties ROEEE 19,994
Amount due to a former subsidiary R —RRRBARIRE 10,641
Loan from a related party —ZBEREN 143,438
Borrowings = 332
Current income tax liabilties HEFmEHERE 3,588
Deferred tax liabilities BEHEEE 2,205
Total liabilties BERE 252,976

BB R AR A A
—g-2rrR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS 5
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Operating segment information (continued)

Geographical information

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is
presented based on location of operation is as follows:

HEER

AEEZIRBEEFREERIREENE
EX B ONNE

2020 2019

—T-THF —T—hF

People’s Republic of China (‘PRC”) REEARLAME ([HE]) 22,963 =
Hong Kong B 547,357 364,906
570,320 364,906

Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding

AEBZFERBEE (TEEETCHEER

deferred tax assets) is presented based on the geographical E)ENDNIREEMBMERY:
location of the assets:
2020 2019
—EEF —ZE-hF
PRC H 49,891 7,045
Hong Kong B 43,710 21,418
93,601 28,463
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS
AND LOSSES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Operating segment information (continued)

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total revenue

of the Group are as follows:

Wriz AU A W& B 5
HRSEBEH (&)

REIBEN (H)

FHREIEEFNESR

REMEAE B KR REBR10%HFF IR
AT :

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Customer A2 BEA 79,966 N/A 773 3
Customer B’ ZFEB! 198,380 76,382
Customer C? BPC? 94,295 69,458
Customer D2 EFD? N/A 738 A3 41,084
Customer E2 BFE N/A 38 3 53,663
Customer F? BER 70,164 N/A 7738 3

! Revenue from construction wastes handling services.

d Revenue from foundation works and ancillary services.

8 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total

revenue of the Group.

FINANCE COSTS

! R B R SRR ) BE TR AR 7% O Wi as o
2 REAMETIEREEERBMKE -

8 i FE U s 15 A SR B U el AR BER R IB10% ©

MERE

2020 2019

—EC-EE —E-AF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FER FHET

Interest on finance leases REHER B - 109
Interest on bank overdrafts and RITEZ R

bank borrowings RITEER B 1 9

Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 2,380 S

Interest on loan from a related party —RHBEHERF L 6,750 6,750

9,131 6,868

BRI E R R ERAT
“etgrag 1
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

7 LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 7 BRIARRABIR
2020 2019
SE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
T FBT

Loss before income tax has been arrived & TS AIEEE B (5T A)

at after charging/(crediting): T EIBZIBZER
Auditors’ remuneration ZERT N & 1,150 1,150
Staff costs including directors’ BINA  BiEESHE

emoluments (Note 8) (K7:£8) 92,656 57,633
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BRFEREETE (Hat14)

equipment (Note 14) 15,121 13,721
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE (Mit15)

(Note 15) 22,610 -
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16) $EFEE# (A1:£16) 1,663 =
Operating lease rental on premises MEZEEHERS - 9,568
Leasing expenses HEMX 7,594 =
Written off of trade receivable 2 5 FE AR TR 8 - 982
Share-based payment expense (Note 8)  LARZ(D AEM Z 5k (H7:28) 10,090 =
Exchange (gain)/loss, net [N (M) BB FE (214) 916
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES,
INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS

8 ERIEFIMZ BHRES
B &

2020 2019

—E-EF ZE—hF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FHT

Salaries and allowances e MoREh 90,227 55,658

Share-based payment expense LARR D B ERR 2 (3 X 10,090 =
Retirement scheme contributions IRIRET B3R

— defined contribution plan —ERRHGTE 2,429 1,975

102,746 57,633

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme in Hong
Kong which complies with the requirements under the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF”) Schemes Ordinance. All assets under the
scheme are held separately from the Group under independently
administered funds. Contributions to the MPF scheme follow the
MPF Schemes Ordinance.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC
are required to participate in a state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the PRC government. The Group is required
to contribute a certain percentage of basic payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to
make the required contributions under the scheme.

AEBRERBUERTES ([8EE])FE
RPINRE EEERE ERMEKE - %
FAEETHMEEENBYESEERE
AEBNEEDFFH - BES A S HFR
RS EIRGIBIT

AEBERTEKZOHBARINEEAZ
S B RTEFENR S RKENGE -
7N 62 1B 78 [F) 7% SR P A U BT 81 1A 1 3 BN B
XHETAEDL  ARMR - AEBEIRK
BAFE 2 —BEERREELAHH

o
N

W

BB R AR A A
—g-2rrR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s

emoluments

The remuneration of each director and the chief executive for
the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 is set out below:

9 EFERIRER

(a)

EERFETRAEME

EEFREBIHARRRE =T
FER-F-AF=A=t+—ALF

BB &5 T

Employer’s
Salaries, contribution
allowances toa
and benefits  Discretionary retirement
Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
e 2R BN
ok RENER MR (EZE @zt
Year ended BE-Z-Z% HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000
31 March 2020 ZRAZt+-HLEFE TER TR TR TR TER
Non-executive directors kHTES
Mr. Xu Mingxing (‘Mr. Xu’) RARKE ([TREAE]D)
(Note () (Hizt)) 583 - - - 583
Mr. Pu Xiaojiang (‘Mr. Pu’) BRLEE (DL
(Note (1) (Hrit) 583 268 - - 851
Executive directors HITESR
Mr. Ren Yunan (“Mr. Ren”) ERBEAE ([F5%4E])
(Chief executive officer) (Note () (1TEREBH) (A3t0) 600 3,268 - 28 3,89
Mr. Cheng Yuk (“Mr. Cheng’) BBEE ([BEE])
(Note (ij) (Hiath) 15 - - 1 16
Mr. Luo Ting (‘Mr. Luo”) BERE(BEE]
(Note (i) (Hiatin) 379 - - 26 405
Mr. Zhu Junkan (‘M. Zhu') REMEE ([REE])
(Note (i) (Hritip) 237 57 - 18 312
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. Jiang Guoliang (‘Mr. Jiang”) BREREE ([BEED
(Note (vj) (Hiat)) 240 - - - 240
Mr. Lee Man Chiu (‘M. Lee’) FXBEE ([ZEAE])
(Note (vij) (Hiitii)) 240 - - - 240
Mr. Chan King Chung BERLsE
(“Mr. Chan K.G.") (Note (i) (MRE B L]
(Hiaty) 30 - - - 30
Mr. Li Zhown (‘M. LT") SEMsEE ([25%4)) 240 - - - 240
3,147 3,593 - 73 6,813
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF 9 EFRMEER (&)

DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (@) EERTFETHAEME

emoluments (continued)

(%)

Employer's
Salaries, contribution
allowances toa
and benefits Discretionary retirement
Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
Bé R RG]
e REMEF [h=pra EEHT it
Year ended HEZT-NE HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31 March 2019 ZR=t+-HIEFE THT TET TR TR THT
Non-executive directors FHTES
Mr. Xu (Note (1)) T E (W) = = = = =
M. Pu (Note (v) BRE (W) S = = - -
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Ren (Chief executive officer) R (THEBE)

(Note () (K1) 437 1,866 26 2,329
Mr. Cheng (Note (i) 85 (M) 120 - 6 126
Mr. Luo (Note (i) BITE (M) 585 188 - 27 800
Mr. Zhu (Note (i) REE (Biti) 585 - - 11 596
Mr. Ip Ying Chau (‘M. Ip”) (Note (i)~ SEFEM%E A (TEE4])

(Hiitiy) 10 150 - 2 162
Independent non-executive BUGTES

directors
Mr. Jiang (Note (1) BEE (M) 140 140
Mr. Lee (Note (vij) FR A (H5Ew)) 180 180
Mr. Chan Chun Yiu Thomas BAREE (IRABEE])

(“Mr. Thomas Chan”) (Note (vi)) (Kt ip) 10 - - - 10
Mr. Chan K.C. (Note (1) BRE RS (HTEE) 190 - - - 190
Mr. Li S 190 - - - 190

2,447 2,204 - 72 4723

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no emoluments were

paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join

or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of

office (2019: Nil). Neither the chief executive nor any of the

directors has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil).

HE-_Z-_ZF=-ZF=+—HItHF
B A S B &R E S AT B
& EA A S B SR iR
RESIERBMBHE (ZE—NF:
m) - HE_T-TF=-A=+—H
LEFE BEZZTHRABXEER
ERREBERERDNEABES (=ZF

—NEE) -

BB R AR A A
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (continued)

Notes:

0] Mr. Ren was appointed as an executive director, the chairman
of the Board of Directors and the chief executive officer of the

Company on 9 July 2018.

(ii) Mr. Cheng and Mr. Chan K.C. were resigned as an executive
director and an independent non-executive director of the

Company on 16 May 2019 respectively.

(iii) Mr. Luo and Mr. Zhu were appointed as executive directors of the
Company on 10 April 2018 and retried as executive directors of the

Company on 23 August 2019.

(iv) Mr. Ip was resigned as an executive director, chairman of the Board
of Directors and chief executive officer of the Company on 30 April
2018.

(v) Mr. Xu and Mr. Pu were appointed as non-executive directors of

the Company on 11 April 2019.

(Vi) Mr. Jiang was appointed as an independent non-executive director

of the Company on 1 September 2018.

(vii) On 30 April 2018, Mr. Lee was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company and Mr. Thomas Chan
was resigned as an independent non-executive director of the

Company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals during the year ended 31
March 2020 include one (2019: one) director and Nil (2019:
one) former director whose emoluments, while he was
incumbent as director, are disclosed above. The emoluments
in respect of the remaining four (2019: four) individuals, which
includes the emoluments of the foregoing Nil (2019: one)
former director after he resigned from his directorships are as
follows:

9 EFEFRER (])

(b)

TEREHFMAL

BE-_ZT-_ZEF=-A=+—HBLF
E REGaFATBE—R (=%
—NEF: —R)EZRENES (2
—NF: —BAEE) BEREL
EERNCTHBEER L -B@BHBRT
e (ZE—-NF: mww_rz 57 B
(HhpiELiEfEs (22—
F: %ﬁﬁ%%)\,ﬁ;Ei%H&?ﬁk
(-4 a7 DR UNNE

2020 2019

—E-EF —NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Salaries and allowances & BOoRRL 9,848 4,926
Discretionary bonuses @'\J 1FIEAL 7,900 608
Retirement scheme contributions IRIRET B3R 72 71
17,820 5,605

The emoluments including the foregoing Nil (2019: one)
former director as disclosed in Note 9(a) fell within the
following bands:

FEEEN AR RE s EME S
(ZE—NEF: —ZHESF) ZHFHN
FUATEE:

Number of individuals

A

2020 2019
—E-EF —T—hF

Emolument bands (in HK$) FHEE (Bx)
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017% 7C £1,500,0007% 7T - &)
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £2,000,0007% 7T 1 1
HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 T £5,500,0007% 7T 2 -
HK$5,500,001 — HK$6,000,000 5,500,001 7T 26,000,000/ 7T 1 -
4

BREHERERAR
—E-SEEH
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

9 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the above highest paid individuals as
(i) an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or (i) as
compensation for loss of office as a director or management
of any members of the Group (2019: Nil).

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

9 EFEFIRER (])

b) TEEEFMAL (&)

BHE-_ZT-ZTEF=A=+—HLF
E -AEEHBERNN LESHIAL
M ERNMAREB K INALR
B &K REN (i) E RN R BRI
BRAAIMESENEEENBERMHE
(Z2—NF:8|)-

10 FR{RIRBEASE  (E%K)

2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Hong Kong profits tax: BEBENEH

— Current income tax —BVERFT IS 2,004 850

— Over-provision in prior years —BEFEBBEEME 8 (88)
Deferred income tax (Note 25) BEFTIS T (K73t25) 1,263 (1,570)
Income tax expense/(credit) FIEHRAY, (E%) 3,259 (808)

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit arising in or
derived from Hong Kong for the year.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million
of profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The two-tiered profits tax rates regime is applicable to one entity
within the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for the year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

11

(CONTINUED)

The taxation on the Group'’s loss before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the Hong Kong profits tax

rate as follows:

10 FR{S iR AR ®
(Ea; X/ (EBR)

7K 4 T4 5 74 B S R O B T SR 4 PR B0
FERBEAEENBHSEY MM ES
-

2020 2019
—E-EF ZZE—hF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Loss before income tax MR PT1S T AT BT 18 (58,343) (28,043)
Calculated at domestic tax rate of 16.5% IR AT &K16.5%5+ &

(2019: 16.5%) (ZE—NF:16.5%) (9,627) (4,627)
Income not subject to tax BART YA (474) (304)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 8] F0Fi FA 2 3,036 2,518
Tax losses not recognised KRIERT AR B 12,244 3,464
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B R R R TR AR 1B

recognised (395) (1,701)
Over-provision in prior years BEFEEARE ®) ®8)
Tax concession HBER (60) (45)
Different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBEEREE 2B AR Z

operating in other jurisdiction TREME (1,622) -
Others Hitb 165 (25)
Income tax expense/(credit) i8R (%) 3,259 (808)

LOSS PER SHARE

(a) Basic loss per share

(b)

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$61,602,000 (2019: HK$27,235,000) and the weighted
average of approximately 5,273,150,000 ordinary shares
(2019: 5,262,000,000 ordinary shares) in issue during the
Year.

Diluted loss per share

For the year ended 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019, the
diluted loss per share is equal to the basic loss per share.
There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue for
the year ended 31 March 2019. The share options is not
included in the calculation of diluted loss per share as they
are anti-dilutive during the year ended 31 March 2020.

11 BREGE
(a) BREAERE

EREANEBDIREBEACFES
A FE {5 548 961,602,000 7T (=
T — N5 1 27,235,000 7T ) & AR F
EREBHTLTBERZNEFHH
#95,273,150,0000% (Z & — AL F :
5,262,000,0000% & 3@ A% ) 51 & o

BREEER

REBE-_ZT-_THF=F=+—HBF—
TE-NEZA=+—"HBIEE K
BEERERNERERNEE -RE
EEZ-AF=ZA=+—HIEFE"
MEC BT ZEEBEE LR - RET
B IREE R R s A B ARAE
P2 RABFRERBE-_Z_-_ZF
—A=+—BIFERAER#EEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZ =T =-TF=A=+—HIFE

12 SUBSIDIARIES 12 B LT

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2020: RIE-_ZF=ZA=+—HZTEWER
AIREWT:
Place of Particulars of
incorporation and issued share Percentage of
Name kind of legal entity Principal activities and place of operation capital interest held
LA AR 34 B
ARER REERRER TEXBREEDY BRTRAFHE FEREEIL
PROgressive Building & Foundation  Hong Kong, limited liability  Provision of foundation engineering works and project Ordinary share 100%
Company Limited company management business in Hong Kong HK$100 (indlirect)
(Formerly known as PROgressive
Foundation Company Limited)
TEBTHEBRAR EE BRARA REBREMETEREA EBR 100%
(AIBRERERRAA) BEREK 100/ 7T (%)
Bright Access (HK) Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Provision of foundation business in Hong Kong Ordinary share 100%
company HK$100 (indlirect)
BE (FB)BRRA EE BRARA REBREMEER EBR 100%
10078 7T (F%)
Chung Shun Construction Limited Hong Kong, limited liability  Provision of construction works, which included foundation  Ordinary share 100%
company works and ancillary services, and heavy duty machines ~ HK$100 (indirect)
business in Hong Kong
BEREFRAF BE BRRA REBREZATRE REMETRREEREUR ERR 100%
ERRBEY 10087 ()
OKG Financial Services Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Money lending business Ordinary share 99% (direct),

(Formerly known as Hong Kong company HK$136,000,000 1% (indirect)
Tamron Group Company Limited)

BREESRREERAT EE BRARA MEER LRk 99% (E#%)
(FIFE [BEREERRE 136,000,000 7T 1% (%)
BRAR])

OKG Global Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited liability  Investment holding Ordinary share 100%

(Formerly known as Leap Global company HK$100 (direct)
Investment Limited)

BHERRFREFRAR A BRAA RERR LER 100%
(RIBAERIREBRRA) 100/ 7T (E%)
OKLink Trust Limited Hong Kong, limited liability  Provision of trust and company services Ordinary share 20% (direct),

(Formerly known as Leap company HK$5,000,000 80% (indirect)
Development Enterprise Limited)
BRERERERAT BB BRAT BHERRATRE EER 20% (E%)
(FIEREBRROEERAR) 5,000,008 7% 80% (%)
OKLink Investment British Virgin Islands, Investments in securities Ordinary share 100%
Holdings Limited limited liability company HK$390,000 (direct)
OKLink Investment RERAHE BRAR FEHRE AR 100%
Holdings Limited 390,000 7 (E#%)
OKLink Fintech Limited Hong Kong, limited liability ~ Technology services Ordinary share 100%
company HK$1,000,000 (indirect)
OKLink Fintech Limited B BRAA B R ERK 100%
1,000,000 7¢ (%)

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2020:
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

MRZE_ZF=A=+—BZFEWEL

(continued) ABBHT: (H&)
Place of Particulars of
incorporation and issued share Percentage of
Name kind of legal entity Principal activities and place of operation capital interest held
AR 3L 4 B

AR EB REERRER TEEBREBLY BRITRAFE FEEE L

Shenzhen OKG Network PRC, limited liability Technology services HK$50,000,000 100%
Technologies Co., Ltd company (has been paid up) (indirect)
(formerly known as Shenzhen
QNYN Network Technologies
Co., Ltd)

MITEHMERRERRERAF B FRAA B R 50,000,000 7T 100%

(AT R T3 — AR RHR (B&R) (A%)
BRAR)

QNYN (Hainan Pilot Free Trade PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB10,000,000 100%
Zone) Network Technologies company (not yet paid up) (indirect)
Co., m

THE-#(EHEER) BB #E FRAF R RRS AR #10,000,0007T 100%
ﬁﬂE g L0 (R%)

Jiangsu QNYN Network PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB10,000,000 100%
Technologies Co., Ltd company (RMB5,000,000 (indirect)

has been paid up)

IEHTH—RBRHRER hE R Bt R AR #10,000,0007C 100%

( AR ¥5,000,0007C (F%)
B#R)

Beijing OKG Network Technologies  PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB20,000,000 100%

Co., Ltd (formerly known as Beijing company (has been paid up) (indirect)
QNYN Network Technologies Co.,
Ltd)

LRBHMEEBEMBERAT  FH BRAA B R AR #20,000,0007C 100%
(AIBIRTHE —HABRE (B#R) (%)
BRAR)

Shanghai QNYN Network PRC, limited liability Technology services RMB20,000,000 100%
Technologies Co., Ltd company (RMBS5,000,000 (indirect)

has been paid up)

LETRH-ZBEHRERAR  HE ARAA Bt R AR #20,000,0007C 100%

( AR #5,000,0007 (F#)
B#R)

Beijing OKG Network information PRC, limited liability Provision of valued-added telecommunications services RMB10,000,000 100%

Co., Ltd (formerly known as company and holding ICP license (not yet paid up) (controlled via
Beijing YNQN Network information contractual
Co., Ltd) arrangements)

TRBNERERERERERAR HE AR RUEEECRERFFERENTREDRER AR #10,000,0007T 100%

(Bt R—ATHEARKES (HAREMN) (BBAOTHEH)

BRRA)

DIVIDENDS

No interim dividend was declared for the year ended 31 March
2020 (2019: Nil).

No final dividend was proposed by the Board for the year ended 31
March 2020 (2019: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND

14 X -BERRH

Furniture,
Machinery fixtures
and Leasehold and office Motor
equipment improvements equipment vehicles Vessel Total
B8 R -#E
KERRE MERZE RBLAERE AE e @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FEL FEL FEL THT THT
Cost D&
At 1 April 2018 RZE—\FHUA—H 82,134 1,778 2,185 22,890 - 108,987
Additions NE 2,111 7,464 1,115 1,082 1,719 13,491
Disposals HE (4,563) - - (1,958) - (6,521)
At 31 March 2019 R-E-A%=A=+—-H 79,682 9,242 3,300 22,014 1,719 115,957
Accumulated depreciation 2EHiE
At 1 April 2018 RZE-\FNA—H 59,318 1,224 1,659 17,766 - 79,967
Charge for the year (Note 7) FRZH (A7) 10,217 1,143 285 1,847 229 13,721
Disposals & (4,199) - - (1,565) - (5,764)
At 31 March 2019 RZZE-NE=R=+—H 65,336 2,367 1,944 18,048 229 87,924
Net book value REFE
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1+—H 14,346 6,875 1,356 3,966 1,490 28,033
Cost P&
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=RA=1+—H 79,682 9,242 3,300 22,014 1,719 115,957
Adjustments upon application of RIERE B B ER
HKFRS 16 F16 a2 HE (3,210) - - (368) - (3,578)
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RZE-NFNA—HB (E3) 76,472 9,242 3,300 21,646 1,719 112,379
Additions NE 14,129 4,510 3,836 15,866 - 38,341
Transfer from right-of-use assets BRAFTHEEEAE 1,950 - - - = 1,950
Written off i - (138) (142) - - (280)
Disposals & (14,683) - - (2,794) - (17,477)
Exchange adjustments EHAE - (6) (138) - - (144)
At 31 March 2020 RZE-ZF=A=1+—H 77,868 13,608 6,856 34,718 1,719 134,769
Accumulated depreciation ZEHiE
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1—H 65,336 2,367 1,944 18,048 229 87,924
Adjustments upon application of RIERE R BEREER
HKFRS 16 E16 Rz HE (2,621) - - ©) - (2,627)
At 1 April 2019 (restated) RZE-NFEA—R (F3)) 62,715 2,367 1,944 18,042 229 85,207
Transfer from right-of-use assets BRAFHEELE 1,740 - - - = 1,740
Charge for the year (Note 7) FAZH (7) 8,343 3,551 750 2,248 229 15,121
Written off i) - (138) (98) - - (236)
Disposals & (13,913) - - (1,930) - (15,843)
Exchange adjustments BN AR - (117) (15) - - (132
At 31 March 2020 R-F_TF=A=1-H 58,885 5,663 2,581 18,360 458 85,047
Net book value REFE
At 31 March 2020 RZEZTF=A=1+—H 18,983 7,945 4,275 16,358 1,261 48,822
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

-

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14 YR -BEREMR ()
EQUlPMENT (CONTINUED)
As at 31 March 2019, the net book value of machinery and RZE—NFZA=+—8 ~EE#ESER
equipment and motor vehicles of the Group include an amount BREARSERMFERERERERER
of approximately HK$589,000 and approximately HK$362,000, B R E E 5 7l 4589,000/% Tt & 47362,000
respectively, in respect of assets held under finance leases. HIT o
Depreciation expense of property, plant and equipment of Y% BB KRBT E R S 4911,5388,00078
approximately HK$11,538,000 (2019: HK$12,064,000) had been 7T (ZZ — NF 112,064,000/ 7T) B 5T A
included in cost of sales. SHE AN o

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 15 i S ERHESAR
LIABILITIES

(a) Amounts recognised in the (a) REEMBERRERERZ2E
consolidated statement of financial 6]
position
The consolidated statement of financial position shows the REMBRARBERATHEESH
following amounts relating to leases: X
At At
31 March 1 April
2020 2019

R-ZB-Z RZZ—h
#=A=+—8 FMA—H

HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FAT
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Office premises PN ES 34,893 58,149
Motor vehicles E 1,265 362
Machinery and equipment W28 & A - 589
36,158 59,100
Lease liabilities HEAE
Non-current FERH 12,047 36,370
Current nE 23,931 22,086
35,978 58,456
BHERERERAT 207
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 15 {&
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) (48

(@) Amounts recognised in the (a)
consolidated statement of financial
position (continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2020, additions to the right-
of-use assets were approximately HK$2,557,000.

The Groups leases various machinery and equipment,
motor vehicles and office premises. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 3 years, but may
have extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on an

)EiE&fﬂﬁiﬁ

REREMBRRRER2E
(&)

BE-_Z-_ZF=A=+—B8LI*F
B FREEEREH2,557,000%8
ﬁo

AEEBER THERERE AER
MamE-HESH—RETHMES
1E3F R LA A ME - HERK
DEEMNERE EGE LEERRN

individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms B B {6 R S R 1 o BR AR A PTHF I &
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any BENRBERIN HEHEITEE
covenants other than the security interests in the leased IfERIZR 5 -
assets that are held by the lessor.
(b) Amounts recognised in the (b) RZEBEEREMEZEKE
consolidated statement of profit or KBERAZTHE
loss and other comprehensive income
2020
—ECEF
HK$’000
FHExT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets CRAEAENTERX
— Machinery and equipment — B R 379
— Motor vehicles —AE 143
— Office premises N/ 22,088
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGENE 2,380
Expenses relating to short-term leases and Ha%G HH?H‘E&EA ToEF=RA=1+—Hx
other leases with remaining lease terms ZRIFERzFHHEA s EmEE
ended on or before 31 March 2020 HEZRAX 7,594
Total amount recognised in profit or loss REZANERNASEE 32,584

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the total cash outflow
for leases was approximately HK$32,452,000.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16 LB E

Speech
emotion
recognition
Money lenders system
licence licence Total
EEEE
HEA =R ES
JE 8 R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
Cost 5%
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and ~ R—ZE—N\EMA—H
[ “E-AFZA=t-BR
ZE-NEMA—H 430 - 430
Additions NE - 8,804 8,804
At 31 March 2020 RZZE_TF=A=+—H 430 8,804 9,234
Accumulated amortisation and BHBERRE
impairment
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 and R —-F—NEWPA—H
1 April 2019 “E-AFZAZ+-BR
ZE-NEMA—H - - -
Amortisation for the year (Note 7) EREY (H7) = 1,663 1,663
At 31 March 2020 R-E-_FTF=-H=+—H - 1,663 1,663
Net book value BREEE
At 31 March 2020 R-—B-B5=A=+-8 430 7,141 7,571
At 31 March 2019 R-ZE-AF=ZA=+—~ 430 = 430

During the year ended 31 March 2020, additions to intangible
assets of approximately HK$8,804,000 represents the
consideration paid to the Institute of Automation, Chinese Academy
of Sciences (“CASIA”) for speech emotion recognition system
licence registered under the name of CASIA pursuant to an
agreement for a term of 3 years.

RBE-_E_TE=A=1+—RHIL=EE"
A B R E 498,804,000/ LB IR K — 19
RE=FOBENTPERZR 38 LHR
Fir (R BRI 28T A )L FeAT ) & T s
EEREENEFERAPERZREE
LT ZRE -

BB R AR A A
—g-2rrR
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16

17

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Amortisation of intangible assets of approximately HK$1,663,000
had been included in cost of sales for the year ended 31 March
2020.

The intangible asset of HK$430,000 represents direct costs
incurred for the acquisition of a money lenders licence with
indefinite useful life and is stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The money lenders licence is considered by the directors of the
Company as having indefinite useful lives because it is expected
that the money lenders licence can be renewed continuously at
minimal cost and it will contribute net cash inflows for the Group
in the foreseeable future. The money lenders licence will not be
amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite. Instead it
will be tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an
indication that it may be impaired.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

16 |ELEE (&)

BE T -_THE=ZF=+—RHIEE &
T & EE# 35 491,663,000/ 7T 2 51 A SH & A
Ko

B2 & FEE430,00078 7T F5 U i B 2[R m] (F
FERMRE AR BRE M E A WA
BT RIRE RSB

ARBEERAME AR EER A A
FH - RIEHRIE AR R A] PASAK B A
BHYRAIBRRBRAAEENFRESR
AMELEBR-EAERFHEERERZ
Bl NEHREAERETHE - AR AHK
BE-REBEAPRKRBARFERE
B S B AR IREITRERIR

17 &M T RS

2020 2019
—E-EF —ZT—hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FET
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEAATTESREE 365,838 457,459
Financial assets at fair value through BEATEFABSENEMEE
profit or loss 27,645 9,044
Total @t 393,483 466,503
Financial liabilities cEAaE
Amortised cost BIHR 293,951 247,183

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

18 ¥/ 5 & H i FE Uk i 3%

2020 2019

—g=®% —T-NF

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FHERT FHET

Trade receivables H P EKERR 65,097 62,590
Less: Provision for impairment losses BB EBERE (3,878) (2,009
61,219 60,581

Loan receivables JEWE R 42,066 34,466
Less: Provision for impairment losses OB EBERE (1,267) (1,179
40,799 33,287

Other receivables, deposits and Hib W GRIE - e RIEFIE

prepayments 26,417 30,542
128,435 124,410

Analysed as: =%

Non-current IERE 1,050 =
Current mE 127,385 124,410
128,435 124,410

Notes: Hat:

(@) Trade receivables are past due when a counterparty has failed to make a (a) EHFHFTEREGNIEBRINRE B
payment when contractually due. The credit period granted to customers BREREE AN RTFTELPNEES—
is 7 to 75 days generally. ®ARTETSH -

(b) The ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on the date of payment (o) AEREBEFPHANEE AN EZABHMNE

certificate issued by customers or invoice date is as follows:

ZRENGRIARNRBR AT :

2020 2019

—E-EF —ZT-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

0-30 days 0£30H 57,470 49,201
31-60 days 31E60H 1,801 4,483
61-90 days 61£E90H 547 287
Over 90 days B iE0H 5,279 8,619
65,097 62,590

As at 31 March 2020, trade receivables of approximately HK$5,279,000
(2019: HK$12,080,000) were past due. Based on past experience and

forward-looking estimates, the amounts are considered as recoverable.

RZE-ZEF=-A=1+—H8 BHEKEXK
495,279,000/ 7t (= — 1.4 : 12,080,000
B BEH e ERBAELERRATEEGE
& AR AR U E

BB R AR A A
—g-2rrR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

() The Group’s loan receivables arise from the money lending business.
The loan receivables are mainly secured by personal guarantee and are
not past due based on contractual maturity date as at 31 March 2020
and 2019. All the loan receivables are entered with contractual maturity
between 1 to 2 years. Loan receivables are interest-bearing at a rate range

from 5% to 17% per annum (2019: from 12% to 20% per annum).

(d) The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain

impaired assets. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES

18 ¥ 5 & H i FE U Al 3%
(&)

Bist: (&)

©  AEEZEEETRERERS BRERK
TEREAERERER-_Z-_TFR=-FT
—NWFZA=+—HRBANIHBHRE
HerARRETIR - EMFNRNHRAT
3o R E KR FF RN FE%E1T% (= F
—NF  FFENF12%E20% ) 518 -

@ EBIREMEKEFIAEGERTTEEE

WEAE - AEEY B EAEAES
7R

19 EVRERGSHAR

2020 2019
—E-EHF —ZE-hF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBT FET
Contract assets BEHEE 109,783 92,760
Less: Provision for impairment losses B R EEEEE (5,354) (2,018)
104,429 90,742
Contract liabilities EHaE 1,610 =

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s right to
consideration for work completed and not billed because the rights
are conditioned on factors other than passage of time. The contract
assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

19 CONTRACT ASSETS AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

Included in contract assets comprises retention receivables of
approximately HK$53,359,000 as at 31 March 2020 (2019:
HK$40,701,000), after recognition of impairment loss of
approximately HK$494,000 (2019: HK$931,000), the carrying
amount of retention receivables was approximately HK$52,865,000
(2019: HK$39,770,000).

Retention receivables represented the monies withheld by
customers of contract works fully recoverable within 1 to 2
years from the date of completion of construction contracts, in
accordance with the terms specified in the relevant contracts.
Generally, upon satisfactory completion of contract work as set out
in the contract, partial of the retention money of such contract work
will be released to the Group, while the remaining will be released to
the Group upon the expiration of the defects liability period.

The retention receivables, before recognition of impairment loss,
would be settled, based on the expiry of the defect liability period,
at the end of the reporting period as follow:

SHRERSHAR
(#)

HARNEERBEREER-_ZE-_ZF=
A=+— BB KRB <L #53,359,000% 7T
— T — 440,701,000 7T ) * R HER
RUE 18 #9494,0008 7T (—Z B — L4
931,000 T) %% EWIRB L EEE AL
52,865,000/ 7T ( == — 1.4 : 39,770,000
/%TE)

J'EHM%‘”$%§)5¢D B H TIZHE 7]

EEANTHRARE-—EMFARES

I8 MR EMNBRBEWRE - —RME RN

é%@ﬁﬁ%ﬁz AR TIREMTTHE B0 E

BHNTIREREBSHERTAREE  farES
KRR EHE RS RN T ARE-

ERRE S NBEBEBERR  $R®E
HIRERREE EHERERN  #7/T :

2020 2019
—E-EF ZE-hF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET FET
Within one year —FR 23,914 23,768
After one year —F1& 29,445 16,933
53,359 40,701

Details of contract liabilities are as follows: BHBEFBET:
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Contract liabilities arising from: BHEEEELR:

Technology services Bt AR 75 1,610 =

The increase in contract liabilities in 2020 was mainly due to short-
term advances received in relation to the provision of technology
services.

“E-THERYMBMEEMTIE E BRI
B BRI RS 2 8 BB SR AT B

BREHERERAR
—E-SEEH
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FHARGZ &R

5

20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 20 &4
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS -

i

2020 2019
e i
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FiET
Listed securities held for trading: BEHEN LEMES:
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, — BB LTRAES  ZHRE
at quoted price 1,650 -
— Equity securities listed outside Hong — BRI LETRAFS  BHRE
Kong, at quoted price 2,935 -
Life insurance policy (Note a) ANBRE (Hfita) 2,688 2,630
Wealth management products (Note b) B ER (Hitb) 17,293 4,723
Unlisted warrants (Note ¢ & d) REMRIREE (HiFckad) 2,741 1,691
Unlisted investment fund (Note e) FELEMIRERES (Hite) 338 -
27,645 9,044

Notes:

Under the life insurance policy (the “Policy”), the beneficiary and
policy holder is the Group and the total insured sum is US$750,000
(approximately HK$5,887,000). The Group paid an upfront premium for
the Policy of approximately US$326,000 (approximately HK$2,556,000)
and may surrender any time and receive cash based on the cash value of
the Policy at the date of withdrawal, which is calculated by the insurer. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the cash value of the Policy
provided by the insurance company is the best approximation of its fair
value, which is categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The Policy was pledged to secure the bank borrowings of the Group is
summarised in Note 24.

Wealth management products represent investments in short-term
financial products issued by banks in the PRC. The wealth management
products at 31 March 2020 and 2019 were redeemed by May 2020 and
2019 respectively. The change in fair value up to date of redemption was
insignificant.

On 24 January 2019, the Group and an unrelated entity (the “Borrower”)
entered into agreements whereby: i) the Group would extend to the
Borrower a loan with a principal amount of HK$23,500,000; and ii) for
a consideration of HK$1, the Borrower would grant to the Group a right
to subscribe for certain convertible preferred shares of the Borrower (the
“Warrant”).

The loan bears interest at 12% per annum and interest is payable monthly.
The loan may be redeemed by the Group at any time three months after
the date of the loan agreement or, if not early-redeemed, repayable by the
Borrower on 25 January 2020. The loan has been repaid by the Borrower
during the year ended 31 March 2020.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2020 Annual Report
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BEASRE ([RE]) IHEARREH
B ANBAREEREIREEA750,000% 7T (4
5,887,000/ 7T ) © A £ B LR & X 1 AT HAR
# 49326,0003 7T ( #72,556,0007% 7T ) & AT BE
RERRBENRLBHZRERSEAEK
BRE (EHRBRARMNE) ARBES
RE RBRAFABEZRERSEENEA
TEz&ENE (ZRESERATEBR
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REBEAUBERAEE ZRITEE R
FE24ME At -

BHMERERFRENRITETZEHERE
MZBE - NZE_TER=T—NEFE=A
=T —HZBRHMERAIR-_ZT_TFR=
T-NFRAAKBER -BHEBEL A AFE
BEWTEK-

RZE—AF—A-+mB AEEE—FRH
BEEER ([EEAD) T HE i )R
£ B A EE AR A ST A23,500,000%8
TR EF Ri)fEEABUAREIETRANE
EELETNREEGEEANSE T RRELR
(TRBHEE]) -

ZEFIREFERI12%HE - RFBIRA L -
ZEFABHASEERER GEASHE=M@A
R E - sk T IRRIEE - BBREEA
W-E-_ZTFE—-AB-_+HAEMN -EREH
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20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(CONTINUED)

Note: (continued)

(©

(continued)

The Warrant entitles the Group to subscribe for certain convertible
preferred shares of the Borrower at a price of US$3.952 per share. The
total subscription for the convertible preferred shares is not to exceed
one-third of the loan plus any accrued but unpaid interest. The Warrant
will expire on the earlier of: i) the date of the closing of the first firm
commitment, underwritten public offering to the general public of the
ordinary shares of the Borrower where the valuation of the Borrower is no
less than a certain value; or ii) 23 January 2022.

The loan had a fair value of approximately HK$21,655,000 and the stand-
alone Warrant had a fair value of approximately HK$1,845,000 at the date
of initial recognition.

On 25 September 2019, the Group and the Borrower entered into new
agreements whereby: i) the Group would extend to the Borrower a loan
with a principal amount of HK$23,500,000; and i) for a consideration of
HK$1, the Borrower would grant to the Group a right to subscribe for an
additional Warrant.

The loan bears interest at 6% per annum and interest is payable monthly.
The loan may be redeemed by the Group at any time after the Borrower
has received a new round of financing of not less than US$20 million or, if
not early-redeemed, repayable by the Borrower on 25 September 2020.
Subject to a certain period advanced notice provided by the borrower,
the Group may also request redemption for certain days following the
drawdown date.

The Warrant entitles the Group to subscribe for certain preferred shares
of the Borrower at a price of US$3.57 per share. The total subscription
for the preferred shares is not to exceed one-third of the loan plus any
accrued but unpaid interest. The Warrant will expire on the earlier of: i)
the date of the closing of the first firm commitment, underwritten public
offering to the general public of the ordinary shares of the Borrower where
the valuation of the Borrower is no less than a certain value; or i) 25
September 2022.

The loan had a fair value of approximately HK$21,251,000 and the stand-
alone Warrant had a fair value of approximately HK$2,249,000 at the date
of initial recognition.

The fair value is based on the net asset value of the investment fund as of
the end of the reporting period.

The Company would subscribe for further US$950,000 (approximately
HK$7,410,000) of the fund.

B

Liig

c

20 BOFEHARGZ M
= (§#8)

F (48D

(%)

RREFEE T AE B #ENIZSR3.952% T
ZEEABEEAZE TARBKRELR-R
BB ARABE I BEZERZ =5
Z— DT FEEH B AR A FI B - SRARHE 2B S
R)EAREAFARARARBSEEAY
BRHB LB (WEBEAGETDOREE
8) : ki) = —F—-A=+=8(UKE
ERE)EM-

BERAFERNBERB 84 /21,655,000
P TC RB A R HE S R AR A1,845,0007%
7TE o

R-E-AFAA-Z+HRA AEEBAEE
ANFTSL e IR )V AEEEREEAR
H 7K & 78 423,500,000/ T 2 Bk RiNEE
ARG ARE1ETT RS BT L FIRE RS

— 1D RARERE -

ZERIEFRIR6%:T B - kA B A KT
ZERUTBEAEENEE AT KEIF —HR
& 20,000,000 ST A& A Al B B - 5%,
M ERIER  AIHEEARZZSZZFA
AZ+ARAEM -REEARE—THRH
RAGBAMBERT NEB I AT A IZE A H
BHETARNERER -

REEER T ARBERENIZERI.57RTZ
ERABEEAZETEER -RBEELR
BETFBBZERZ =0 2 — IMERER
ERZATFE - BIRAEEFE R ) EIRIEE &
HRARBARBEGEATBROELAY
(HEBABETIREEE)  Hi)—F ==
FARAZ+RB (UARFERE)EW-

ERDFERIARTER B H4521,251,000
BT RIB LR AR E AT E XD 752,249,00078

ﬁo
ATENBEREREBAREES Y AR
SEEEH -

N A SN RIEE £950,000% 7T (49
7,410,000 7T) °

BN ERERERA R
—g-2rrR
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21 PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT/BANK
DEPOSITS AND BALANCES AND

CASH

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had a pledged bank deposit of
approximately HK$6,753,000 (2019: HK$6,611,000) which carry
interest rate at 2.4% (2019: 1.9%) per annum. The bank deposit
was pledged to secure the banking facilities granted to the Group.

21 1

i
&

|MITER
RERLLA

/BT
&

R-E-TEZR=+—H AEEHEER
FERR24% (ZE—NF:1.9%)HEZE
AR IR 1T 17 20 496,753,000 T (—ZE— A,
F:6,611,00078 7T ) © $R1TIF R E M LA

RAEEEKRITER-

2020 2019
—EDEF —ZE-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cash at banks RITH® 176,596 221,362
Deposits at banks RITER 62,561 111,107
Cash on hand FHRe 414 26
239,571 332,495
By maturity: EREE S8
Bank balances RITHEER 176,596 221,362
Deposits at banks HRITIFK
— non-pledged fixed deposits maturing -R=EARIE 2
within three months T TR 61,061 111,107
— non-pledged fixed deposits maturing -R=EA%KEEZ
over three months EARTEHTFR 1,500 =
239,157 332,469

The carrying amount of deposits and bank balances and cash were

RITERREHRARR S ZREEK T

denominated in the following currencies: B EHE:
2020 2019
—E-%F —F-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBT FHET
HKS BIT 227,105 319,353
RMB AR 4,275 13,027
Us$ ET 7,770 115
SGD T 421 -
239,571 332,495
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT/BANK
DEPOSITS AND BALANCES AND
CASH (CONTINUED)

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for the other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

SHARE CAPITAL

21 E'.Eﬁﬁ?‘r#%k/ﬁ
RERERHURBRE ( i‘-)

ARBTEEHABASEMER AW R
BB A INEE IR GG REETEBE
BREGCEIINEXBHRITHEARELRS
Hib G -

22 g &

Number of
shares Share capital
BRoHA S
HK$'000
FAET
Authorised: ERE
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, RZFE-—NFNHA—H"
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, —E-NAF=ZA=+—8"
ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each ZE-NEFNA—AR
—E-ETF=A=+—H
SR EE0.005% T 2 E A% 20,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRER
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019 RZE—-N\FW™A—AH-
and 1 April 2019 ZE-NF=RA=+—8HK
—NFWMA—H 5,262,000,000 26,310
Issue of ordinary shares upon exercise of  R{T{EIEIRER T2 L@k (L)
share options (Note) 63,870,000 319
At 31 March 2020 RZEZTF=A=+—H 5,325,870,000 26,629
Note: Kz
During the year ended 31 March 2020, 63,870,000 share options were exercised BE_Z-_ZF=-A=Z+—HLEFERN ERHEE

at a subscription price of HK$0.205 per share, resulting in the issue of 63,870,000
new shares at par value of HK$0.005 each for a total cash consideration of
approximately HK$13,093,000. Approximately HK$12,774,000 representing the
difference between the subscription price and the par value was added to share
premium. In addition, approximately HK$2,811,000 representing that portion of
the share-based payments reserve in relation to the exercise of the share options
during the year ended 31 March 2020, was transferred from the share-based

payments reserve to share premium account.

FhRO. 205,% JLA7£63,870,00017 i I B BUR E A
%% 1763,870,0000% & % [ 10.0057%8 7T 2 TR {5 - B
S HRIBHEH4913,003,000/8 7T - REBEEEL M
B RE4912,774,000% T A BRAD 5 B o b N - B 7R
HE-_T-_TF=-A=+—BLEFETEBRES
&E’J;%B D UARRD R E T 2 R 492,811,000
THARN BERZ R EEEBRERG HER-

BREHERERAR
—E-SEEH
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year ended 31 March 2020 HE T -TF=-A=+—BHILFE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 12 August 2015 as to attract
and retain the best available personnel and to provide additional
incentive to the eligible participants under the Scheme.

Under the Scheme, the directors of the Company may at their
absolute discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme,
grant options to any employees (full-time or part-time), directors,
substantial shareholders, consultants or advisors, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or
service providers of the Group, to subscribe for shares of the
Company. The eligibility of any participants to the grant of any
options shall be determined by the directors from time to time on
the basis of the directors’ opinion as to their contribution to the
development and growth of the Group.

The aggregate number of the Company’s shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share options
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the Company’s
shares in issue from time to time. No options may be granted under
the Scheme or any other share options schemes of the Company
if this will result in the limit being exceeded. The maximum number
of shares issuable upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
as from the adoption date must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of all the shares in issue upon the date on which the shares are
listed and permitted to be dealt in the Stock Exchange. The 10%
limit may be refreshed at any time by obtaining approval of the
Company’s shareholders in general meeting provided that the total
number of Company’s shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any other
share options schemes of the Company must not exceed 10% of
the Company’s shares in issue as at the date of approval of the
refreshed limit.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

23 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(CONTINUED)

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Scheme or any other share
option schemes of the Company in any 12-month period up to
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue. Where any further grant of options to a participant under the
Scheme would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted to such participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant
representing in aggregate over 1% of the shares in issue, such
further grant must be separately approved by shareholders of the
Company in general meseting with such participant and his/her close
associates abstaining from voting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates
must be approved by the independent non-executive directors of
the Company (excluding any independent non-executive director
who is the grantee). Where any share options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive director
of the Company, or any of their respective close associates would
result in the total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including
options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company to such
person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue and having an aggregate value in excess of
HK$5 million must be approved by the Company’s shareholders
at the general meeting of the Company, with voting to be taken by
way of poll.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

23 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

(CONTINUED)

The offer of a grant of share options might be accepted in writing
within 7 days from the date of the offer. An option may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during
a period as the directors may determine which shall not exceed
ten years from the date of grant subject to the provisions of early
termination thereof. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of the grant of an option with a remittance in favour
of the Company within such time as may be specified in the offer
(which shall not be later than 7 days from the date of the offer).

The subscription price shall be a price solely determined by the
board of directors of the Company and notified to a participant
and shall be at least the highest of: () the closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the offer date, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing prices of the Company’s shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business
days immediately preceding the date; and (i) the nominal value of
the Company’s share on the offer date.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on 12 August 2015, subject to early termination
provisions contained in the Scheme.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

23 SHARE OPTION SCHEME 23 MERxHEEt R (4R)
(CONTINUED)
The following tables disclose movements in the Company’s share TREBARQRBERETEETERER
options under the Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 HEZZ-_ZF=-A=-+—HIEFEZ#
March 2020: g

Number of share options

BREHE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
Exercise at 1 April during the during the during the during the
Date of grant price  Exercisable period 2019 year year year year
RZB-NF
mMA—-B
RERH TRE TTES i RATE FREL FRTHE FREY FRERTE
Mr. Cheng - current employee 18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.10.2019 - 17.10.2020 - 2,000,000 (1,500,000) - 500,000
of the Group (former
executive director)
BrE-FEERES —E-N0E 0205t Z—E-NFETATN\BE
(RITES) +A+/NB ZZZZETA1+H
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.01.2020 - 17.10.2020 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
—Z-NE 0.205%5 7T ¥-A+NEBE
+A+NR —Z-25+A++A
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.04.2020 - 17.10.2020 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
—ZE-NEF 0.205% 7T FWATNBE
+A+NR “EF+A+tA
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.07.2020 - 17.10.2020 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000
—T-hF 02058 —E-ETFE+A+N\BZE
TATNR ZZ-ZETATER
Current employees of the 18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.10.2019 - 17.10.2020 - 63,625,000  (39,790,000) - 23,835,000
Group
AEERES —E-NF 0205t Z—E-NFETATN\BE
+A+/NB ZE-ZF+A+ER
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.01.2020 - 17.10.2020 - 63,625,000  (22,580,000) - 41,045,000
—T-hF 02057 —Z-FF-F+/\BE
TATNR “Z-TETATER
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.04.2020 - 17.10.2020 - 63,625,000 - - 63,625,000
—E-NF 02057 = FWATNBE
+A+/NB ZZZZETA++H
18.10.2019 HK$0.205  18.07.2020 - 17.10.2020 - 63,625,000 - - 63,625,000
—Z-NE 0.205%5 7T FtA+NEE
+A+NR —Z-25+A++A
Total - 262,500,000  (63,870,000) - 198,630,000
At
Exercisable at 31 March 2020 67,380,000
ARZZZTFE=A=1—H
(514
Weighted average exercise - HK$0.205 HK$0.205 - HK$0.205
price
MEFHTEE - 0.205/ 7T 0.205% 7T |- 0.205% 7T

B E A RA A
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

23 SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(CONTINUED)

The fair value of the options determined at the date of grant

using the Binomial option pricing model was approximately
HK$11,475,000 on the date of grant of share options on 18
October 2019.

The following assumptions were used to calculate the fair values of

23 MERRHERT & (#8)

RELRBERA —BAREEEENET
ZERERNEREREBSR (ZE—F+
A+N\B)z2RFEE#11,475,0007%8 7T

UTEBRAREBERERNEL RS (=F

share options at the date of grant on 18 October 2019: —NE+A+TNB)Z2ATFE:
18 October
2019
—E-NF
+A+NE
Grant date stock price B H B HARE 0.200
Exercise price 1T1EE 0.205
Expected volatility (Note a) TEHR R (MsEa) 57.98%
Dividend vyield IR Bz & 0%
Life to expiration (Note b) [Em EF E (B 5ED) 1 year or less
1EHIAT
Risk-free interest rate (Note c) R = (e 1.77%
Employee turnover rate (Note d) EEmAE (F:Ed) 5.25%
Early exercise multiplier REITEEBE 2.20

Notes: 3T -

@

Estimated based on the normalised historical volatility of the Group’s share

price over the previous year.

Being the period of 1 year or less commencing on the date of grant based

on the contractual terms of the share options.

Being the yield of HKD Hong Kong Sovereign Curve with a maturity life

equal to the life to expiration on the valuation dates.

Being the employee turnover rate published by The Hong Kong Institute of

Human Resource Management.

The Binominal option pricing model has been used to estimate

the fair value of the options. The variables and assumptions used

in computing the fair value of the share options are based on

the independent professional valuers’ best estimate. Changes in

variables and assumptions may result in changes in the fair value of

the options.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

23 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

24

(CONTINUED)

The Group recognised the total expense of approximately
HK$10,090,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020 (2019: Nil) in
relation to share options granted by the Company.

No share options were granted during the year ended 31 March

2019 and there were no share option outstanding as at 31 March

23 MERRHERT & (48)

BE_Z_TF=A=+—HILFE" K
EEBARAREZERERRAT LY
10,090,000 L (ZE—NF :TFET) °

REBE-_E-—AE=A=1+—RHILEE"
MERDTAERE MR- NLF=A

2019. =+ —BMERRITEERE-
BORROWINGS 24 &
2020 2019
—E-%F —FNF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Non-current JEFE
Finance lease liabilities (Note ¢) BmEMREARE (Witc) - 153
Current mE
Bank borrowings (Notes a and b) RITIEE (Mitakb) - 25
Finance lease liabilities (Note c) RMEMERE (Wite) - 154
- 179
Total borrowings BERLE - 332

Notes: Hiat
(@) Bank borrowings (@) RITEE
The bank borrowings are classified as current liabilities according to the REBBGFAAGEMBEBREESRY
HK Interpretation 5, Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification BHREZZH - EEAHASIHEKRIEER
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand HCTEHEHZ 7E BRITEEIEAR
Clause issued by the HKICPA. According to the repayment schedule, the B E - REBEREHE  RITEEERSM
bank borrowings are repayable as follows: SE
2020 2019
—E-TF —T-AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FBx FAT
Within 1 year —&£R = 25
(b) The carrying amount of the bank borrowings is denominated in US$. (o) RITIEERMIREBENETE

BB R AR A A
—g-2rrR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

24 &8 (#])

Biat: (&)

24 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

Finance lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the

lessors in the event of default.

At the end of lease term of certain finance leases the Group has the option
to purchase the leased asset at a price deemed to be a bargain purchase

option.

Certain machinery and equipment was under finance leases in the form
of sale and leaseback arrangements. There was no disposal gain or loss
recognised for the transactions as the fair value was not significantly

different to the carrying value of the relevant machinery and equipment.

(©

MEEEEE

HEABARER EENBATHESE
BN IREEHAEA -

RETRAEENHERR AEEATEE
Ui RmBERERERENERBEREEE
Eo

ETHBERREBEREAEAHERRER
PEETT - N ER SR RREN AT EER
EELESERDF S ERZ HHRHE
W sk B 18 o

2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
FHET
Gross finance lease liabilities — minimum lease payments Rt &R E & E42% — HEMAE A 3E

Within 1 year —£R" 165
Between 1 and 2 years —EMFE 81
Between 2 and 5 years MERF 80
326
Future finance charges on finance leases BMEARERRKRTEER (19)
Present value of finance lease liabilities MEEEBERE 307

The present value of finance lease liabilities is as follows: RMEHEAENHEA#RIIMNT
2019
—E-NF
HK$’000
FHET
Within 1 year —FR 154
Between 1 and 2 years —EWF 75
Between 2 and 5 years MERF 78
307
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24 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e MK EREMIEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

24 &8 (#])

Notes: (continued) HieE: (&)
© Finance lease liabilities (continued) © BEHEARE (B
As at 31 March 2019, the finance leases are secured by the Group’s T—-HE=ZA=+—R g&EHBEEUKR
machinery and equipment with an aggregate net book value of 'EIEEE@}{EEA,Z’]E)SQ 0007 T Hy M 28 K7 28
approximately HK$589,000 and motor vehicles with an aggregate net B R BREFE S ££49362,0008 TR/ TEE
book value of approximately HK$362,000. I o
The carrying amounts of all finance lease liabilites are denominated in FEmMEHNEaENEREEY IS ITHE.
HKS.
(d) The interest rates per annum of borrowings are as follows: (o) EENENRDT
2020 2019
—E-TF —E-NE
Bank overdrafts RITEX N/A T3E A 3.38%
Bank borrowings RITEE N/A T3 4.75%
Finance lease liabilities MEHEAR N/A REFA  4.38% toE 5.35%
© Banking facilities (including a performance bond of approximately @  RITEE (BEELRXL13,000,000%7T)

HK$13,000,000) are secured/guaranteed by:

0] Pledge of life insurance of approximately HK$2,630,000 as at 31

B OIS TR R

@ RZB-AF=ZA=+—H ERA

March 2019; 1R #92,630,00078 7T;
(ii) Personal guarantee given by a director of a subsidiary as at 31 (i) R-B_FER_F-NAFZ=A
March 2020 and 2019; =t+—H 'BHWJ%LET§$&‘HJ'E’\]1E
AR

(iii) Pledged bank deposit of approximately HK$6,753,000 (2019:
HK$6,611,000) as at 31 March 2020;

(iv) A property held by a company controlled by a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March 2020 and 2019; and

(v) Corporate guarantee given by the Group as at 31 March 2019.

(iii RZZEZZEF=FA=+—H B#EH
$RITIER 496,753,000 7T (—E— N,
:6,611,000/7T) ;

vy RZE-ZFER= %fnii A
=t+—H mARAETHER
FEHIMDRMEAENYE K

v) RZB-NAF=ZA=+—H 4&EH
BB EEER-

BREHERERAR
—E-SEEH
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

25 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/
(LIABILITIES)

The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements
during the year are as follows:

25 BREREEE (&F)

FA REEEMBARNKERNELEHIAEE
E/(BE)NEKRBD REEBHIT :

Depreciation ECL
allowances provision Total

BHEE
nERE EERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) EEHBEE/ (8f) TET AT T
At 1 April 2018 RZE-N\FNA—H (3,550) 438 (3,112)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 70) FTABE (Hfa10) 1,163 407 1,570

At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 RZE-AF=B=+—HBK

“T-NEFNA-H (2,387) 845 (1,542)
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss (Note 10) (MBR8) /5t AB& (Hi#10) (2,153) 890 (1,263)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-Z5=ZA=+-H (4,540) 1,735 (2,805)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purpose:

BNGAEFBRRAKRANZS] B TRERE
BEFAGECEE -SAMBRRENELZ
BRIEIRAERR AT -

2020 2019

—E-EHF —ZET-NF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHxT FET

Deferred tax assets FEERIEE E 450 663
Deferred tax liabilities BEIEEE (3,255) (2,205)
(2,805) (1,542)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$63 million (2019: HK$23 million)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised
tax losses are losses of approximately HK$21 million (2019: Nil) that
will expire in 2025. Other losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

226 OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2020 Annual Report

R EBR NEETHEHER T 2
R E)FATIAET 18 49 863,000,000 7T (= F
— JL4F 1 23,000,0005% 7T ) ° F 7 7K A% 78 8
AR g M2 SR + B Sk R B A B IEE R
WRELERIBEE - st AKRBRMIBEIEL
21,000,000 T (ZZE—NE E) KR =
T oRFRH K ESIB ERARAEE o



26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

26 B 5 R H th FE AR X

2020 2019
—g-8F  —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Trade payables B 5 RINRR 55,714 63,134
Accruals and other payables FE T PR N2 Ho i FE < AR X 35,092 29,638
90,806 92,772

Note: Mt -
(@) Payment terms granted by suppliers are generally 15 to 80 days from (a) HEFETHOARER—R T EEREEN

invoice date of the relevant purchases.

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date is as

HEBHEEH5E80H A

REBZZEPNEZERNRFER DTN :

follows:
2020 2019
—2-2F “T-NF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
0 - 30 days 0Z30H 28,750 42,565
31 - 60 days 31&260H 2,072 6,749
61 — 90 days 61£290H 1,276 4,020
Over 90 days B3E90H 23,616 9,800
55,714 63,134

BRI E R R ERAT

—E_ZEER

227



228

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o=y =\
&me

B R R E

For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

27

28

29

AMOUNT DUE TO A FORMER
SUBSIDIARY

The amount due was non-trade in nature, unsecured, non-interest
bearing and has no fixed term of repayments.

AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO A RELATED
PARTY

The amount due from a related party was non-trade in nature,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable in full by 31 July
2020.

The amount due to a related party was non-trade in nature,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable in full by 9 October
2020.

LOAN FROM A RELATED PARTY

Included in loan from a related party is a principal portion of
approximately HK$135,000,000 (2019: HK$135,000,000)
which was unsecured, interest bearing at 5% per annum and
payable within one year and an interest portion of approximately
HK$6,750,000 (2019: HK$8,438,000). The loan has been extended
to 29 December 2020 during the year ended 31 March 2020. The
loan is subject to review at any time and to the lender’s overriding
right of withdrawal and immediate repayment on demand. The
related party is a company controlled by the directors of certain
subsidiaries of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2020
and 2019.

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

30 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 30 FEHERERME
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of loss before income (@) BRETESHATEEERLE (fr
tax to net cash (used in)/generated R)/BEEZBRSFEZEE
from operations
2020 2019
ZBCEE ZE-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR T
Loss before income tax BrETSTRATE 18 (58,343) (28,043)
Adjustments for: BT IERE:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% « BB K & 5 & 15,121 13,721
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENRE 22,610 =
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#E 1,663 =
Written off of property, plant and equipment  #i 85 ¥ % B = MR & 44 =
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE BE KRB W
equipment (797) (179
Loss/(gain) on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMBRRZEE,/ (W) 7 ©
Impairment loss on financial assets and CREERANEE CRERBE
contract assets 5,375 2,367
Net loss on change in fair value of financial ~ RAFEFABEZEREE
assets at fair value through profit or loss NTEZYEETE 429 56
Written off of trade receivables B 5 AR R 8 - 982
Interest income B A (3,009) (1,853)
Interest expense MEHAX 9,131 6,868
Share-based payment expense AR AR 2 HRAX 10,090 =
Operating profit/(loss) before working BEESRBALEREN (BB)
capital changes 2,321 (6,083)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and B 5 K HE U R K
other receivables (M), (4,963) 10,325
Increase in contract assets BHEEEN (19,768) (31,806)
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at BAFEFABRZ
fair value through profit or loss SREE (M, w (4,585) 1,194
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other B 5 R HE M AR
payables CR)/#m (3,170) 46,323
Increase in contract liabilities BHBaEEMN 1,570 =
Net cash (used in)/generated from operations 45 (FTfR) /B4 2B L35 (28,595) 19,953

WHE MR ARAR
Ze-ecem 22
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

30 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities

(b) BMEFBHELE2EBZHER

As at Effect of As at 1 As at

31 March  adoption of April 2019 Non-cash Exchange 31 March

2019  HKFRS 16 (restated)  Cash flows changes adjustments 2020

RpBEBHE R-B-hE

RZZ-N%F REER mE—H RZZBZEE
ZA=Zt+-H #16hz¥E (ZE3) ReRE FRELH ERAZ =ZA=t-8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT TR FTAT FTAT THR THT THT

Loan from a related party —ZEERER (Mita)

(Note a) 143,438 - 143,438 (8,438) 6,750 - 141,750
Amount due to a related party FEfT — & B#E 78 - - - 14,404 - 372 14,776
Bank borrowings BOEE 25 - 25 25) - - -
Lease liabilities (Note b) HERE (M) - 58,456 58,456 (24,858) 4,937 (2,557) 35,978
Finance lease liabilities BEREAR 307 (307) - - - - -
Total liabilties from financing B & EEIEL 2 A BB

activities 143,770 58,149 201,919 (18,917) 11,687 (2,185) 192,504

As at As at
1 April Non-cash 31 March
2018 Cash flows changes 2019
R \E RZF-NF
mA—A Beng FHRe# ZR=1+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TAT FHET FHT
Loan from a related party (Note g) ~ —&@EFER (Hita) 136,688 = 6,750 143,438
Bank borrowings RITIEE 319 (294) = 25
Finance lease liabilties (Note ¢) BEHRERE (M) 4,692 (4,609) 224 307
Total liabilities from financing activities & EEIE L2 & EARE 141,699 (4,903) 6,974 143,770
Notes: /;/71 Er B
(@) Non-cash changes represent accrued interests on the outstanding (@) RS EBIBE R AL BB ERTF B -
principal balance.
(b) Non-cash changes represent addition to lease liabilities and interest (0) FRESEHERENEEENEERREL
arising from lease liabilities. ZHE o
(© Non-cash changes represent purchases of property, plant and (© RS EHIEREREHRELHESYE

equipment under finance lease arrangement.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

COMMITMENTS 31 &k
Operating lease commitments - Group as REMERE-FAKBEFEREAN
lessee A
The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable RIBET AT RE A 2 E AR R B A &
operating leases were payable as follows: EREERNFEHEINAT
2019
—_E-NF
HK$'000
FAT
Within one year —F R 12,854
In the second to fifth years inclusive MERF (BREEEMFE) 6,387
19,241

The Group is the lessee in respect of office premises and
equipment under operating leases. The leases typically run for an
initial period of 1 to 3 years, with an option to renew the leases
when all terms are renegotiated.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control,
jointly control or exert significant influence over the other party
in making financial or operational decisions. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common control or
joint control. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

(@ In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated
financial statements, the Group entered into the following
transaction with its related party in the ordinary course of
business during the year:

32

AEEREEHE TR AYERREHH A
BA-ZEHEBENSEARLS—E=F"
AEREZAY ERKEFREEME K

WESZH

BB RZE A RS B AR
MM B REERRBEHEMTITEEX
FENOAL - HERNIARE S HB AT
B AR R R - BES A REARE

L ERE -

(@ BEAMBMREMMSAFREZE
B RER AEEEERETR
—REBBRPETATRS:

2020 2019
—E-EHF —E-NEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
A company controlled by —ZBARRAEETHEBRRESEH
a director of certain subsidiaries /N
of the Company
— Rental expenses —HeMX - 559
— Repayment of lease liabilities —BEHEaE 614 -

(o)  The emoluments of the directors and senior executives
(representing the key management personnel) during the year
are disclosed in Note 9.

b EBEERFRTBRABR (MEZBEEA
B) R R0 3 BN P OB B

BB R AR A A
—g-2rrR
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33

34

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group, in the ordinary course of its business, is involved
in various claims, suits, investigations, and legal proceedings
that arise from time to time. Although the Group does not
expect that the outcome in any of these legal proceedings,
individually or collectively, will have a material adverse effect on
its financial position or results of operations, litigation is inherently
unpredictable. Therefore, the Group could incur judgements or
enter into settlements of claims that could adversely affect its
operating results or cash flows in a particular period.

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group disposed the
entire equity interests of Win Target Engineering Limited (“Win
Target”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, for cash
considerations of approximately HK$2,980,000 to a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company.

The aggregated net assets of the subsidiary as at the date of
disposal are set out as follows:

33

34

BKRARR

REEEL L BIRRTE SRS
MR BERARRF REAEE
3 7 TEEAE (A3 5 A R T2 P A0 R (BB
AR S H R IR S B R S
ARG - ek 2 Fr s B LATER B
M A EE T e E Y R AR AR
S B AR 95 5 T I B 3 A 4 X (0 2 40
RIME R LA RIS RBER TR E -

H 5 — R B 22 B

BE-_Z-ZF-A=+—RHIFE K&
B LAZR & R {E 492,980,000/ TR AN A Bl &
FHBARZ —RESHERNBRIRER
RE)([BE]  ARABRZ2EWBRAR)Z
2 EPRRAE -

REEBE HEAREEFEAEHRYIW
T

2020
—E-EF
HK$’000
FBT
Net assets disposal of; FrtEEESFE
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E M EBERR 3
Contract assets BHREE 2,663
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTHEH 338
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAER IR (5)
Amount due to the Group FER A& E IR (12)
Net assets BEFE 2,987
2020
—ECEF
HK$’000
FHET
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—MKTEB AR EE
Cash consideration receivable B —RZEER Z2RERE
from a related party (Note 28) (Htzt28) 2,980
Net assets disposal of FrtEEEFE (2,987)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

= — —
34 DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 34 HE—RMMBAT (&)
(CONTINUED)
Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of MHEE—HHBRAREBZRENRRESE
the disposal of a subsidiary: BWEREHZDH:
2020
—E-EF
HK$’000
FERT
Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary disposed of FTHEWBAFIRE MIRESEEY (338)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents ReRBRSEZEBYWER (338)
During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company disposed HEZZ-NF=A=+—HLFE X2
the entire equity interests of Gold Toys Limited, a wholly owned AR — BB E=ZAHERAT 22 EMH
subsidiary of the Company for cash considerations of approximately B A RA)Gold Toys LimitedZ £ Z8A%# - I8 &
HK$400,000 to an independent third party. R AE 4 5400,000 7T
The aggregated net assets of the subsidiary as at the date of REERE - MEBAREEFELBHI W
disposal are set out as follows: N
2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
FHET
Net assets disposal of: PR EEEFE !
Amount due from the Group R AN S B 3R T8 10,641
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMEMAIRR (4,281)
Current income tax liabilities REAFR ST B & (5,962)
Net assets EESE 398

B E A RA A
R grey 233
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

34 DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 34 HE—MHMBEAT ()
(CONTINUED)
2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
FET
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HE—RHME AR
Cash consideration received BUWHRSKRE 400
Net assets disposal of FILEEEFE (398)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEKMEAR KRR 2
Analysis of net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the REE—HNBAREHEZREEESSE
disposal of a subsidiary: BYWFERAZDNT:
2019
—E-NEF
HK$'000
FHT
Cash consideration received BUWHRSKRE 400
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents ReRRESEBUWERA 400

OKG Technology Holdings Limited
2020 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HEZE T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

35 ENFIMBRARR W
28

(a) Statement of financial position (@) BHIEARRER
2020 2019
—EEF —ZET-NF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
it FBT FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries RHTEB R AR 157,832 151,842
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 &AM SRR 678 546
Amounts due from subsidiaries & KT & A 715118 99,475 100,578
Bank deposits and WITHERREHRARRS
balances and cash 68,043 101,850
168,196 202,974
Total assets EE#E 326,028 354,816
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves BERR#E
Share capital N 26,629 26,310
Reserves 2] 35(b) 263,616 315,133
Total equity ST 290,245 341,443
LIABILITIES 8\
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 KA EMAIRER 2,834 1,952
Amount due to a former e — RIS B A R A
subsidiary 10,641 10,641
Amounts due to subsidiaries  FE{ M B A 7 IE 22,308 780
35,783 [eleiae]
Total equity and liabilites HEZFABHESHE 326,028 354,816
Net current assets BREBEE 132,413 189,601
Total assets less current EELAERABER
liabilities 290,245 341,443

ARRZHBERARENR T _ZEFA
—HABEESSERRETE  YHRT
MATHREES:

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2020 and
are signed on its behalf by:

EREXRE HEIAE
Mr. Ren Yunan Mr. Pu Xiaojiang
Director Director
EE EE

BRI EEERBRAE

—E_ZEER 435
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 HZ T -_TF=A=+—HIEFE

35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 35 *’RE]= R ERRFEE
POSITION AND RESERVE B8 (8)
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)
(b) Reserve movement (b) fEEZE
Share- (Accumulated
based losses)/
Share payment Capital Special retained
premium reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
HRGpAER (RHER)/
RABE ZAREE BEXGHE BERE REEF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THT FET FET THET THEx
Balance at 1 April 2018 RZE-NFMA—BNEH 212,067 - 7,922 94,795 7,289 322,073
Loss and total comprehensive FRBBRZEFBEE
loss for the year - - - - (6,940) (6,940
Balance at 31 March 2019 RZZ-NE
ZA=t+—HMEH 212,067 - 7,922 94,795 349 315,133
Balance at 1 April 2019 R-Z-hEmA-BMkH 212,067 = 7,922 94,795 349 315,133
Loss and total comprehensive FREERZABELE
loss for the year - - = = (74,381) (74,381)
Share option expense BRER S - 10,090 - - - 10.090
Exercise of share options TriEiE R 15,585 (2,811) - - - 12,774
Balance at 31 March 2020 RZB-%F
ZA=+—BmMEH 227,652 7,279 7,922 94,795 (74,032) 263,616
Special reserve S RIfRE

Special reserve represents the difference between the fair

value of the shares of a subsidiary of the Company acquired

pursuant to the reorganisation in prior years over the nominal

value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefore.
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Five Years Financial Summary

h Al ISR

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—-HLFE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
BB —E-NF ZE)\F ZT—+F —T—RF
HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FET FHET FET FHET
Revenue Wz 570,320 364,906 298,625 353,038 399,277
Cost of sales $HE KA (527,728) (334,423)  (227,943)  (312,746)  (328,830)
Gross profit EF 42,592 30,4883 70,682 40,292 70,447
Other income, gains and losses ~ E MU A - Yzt K B 18 4,978 4,011 2,740 5,155 892
Fair value change on BREMEATES
investment properties - - - (834) -
Administrative and other THREMEERSE
operating expenses (91,407) (63,302) (88,758) (29,543) (32,562)
Impairment losses on financial CREERANEE
assets and contract assets REEE (5,375) (2,367) = = =
Operating (loss)/profit e (B8)/FE (49,212) 21,175) 34,664 15,070 38,777
Finance costs BMERE (9,131) (6,868) 2,917) (1,037) (1,079)
(Loss)/profit before income tax FRFTEHAI (E5E) /FE (58,343) (28,043) 31,747 14,033 37,698
Income tax (expense)/credit s (%), #e (3,259) 808 (6,379) (5,674) (8,473)
(Loss)/profit for the year R (FHE) AE (61,602) (27,235) 25,368 8,359 29,225
BRI R @R AR AR

—E_ZEER
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Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—-HLEFE

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—E-EF —NF ZE—-NF ZET—+F ZT—RF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FHET FET FAT FAT
Other comprehensive (loss)/ Hiv2m (FE) WA
income
ltem that may be reclassified BEA g EF A EE R
subsequently to profit or l0ss: ZHEE -
Exchange differences arising on ~ EFIEBREL
translation of foreign operations - (2,120) 1,490 = - -
Total comprehensive ERE@E (BER)/
(loss)/income for the year LON-t | (63,722) (25,745) 25,368 8,359 29,225
(Loss)/profit and total RATEE AEMSL
comprehensive (loss)/ (E#]) /FMBER
income attributable to 2 (BB WA
owners of the Company g (63,722) (25,745) 25,368 8,359 29,225
(Restated)
(FE=E3))
Basic and diluted (loss)/ SREAREE (BB)/
earnings per share (HK cent) B (B (1.17) (0.52) 0.48 0.17 0.67

The comparative earnings per share in prior years are restated to take

into account of the effect of the share subdivision on 24 April 2017

retrospectively as if they have taken place since the beginning of the

comparative year.
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Five Years Financial Summary

hFEMFIGE
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZBZRE —_T-NE ZT-N\F T—+F ZT-RF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHT FTET FTET FHT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment IENET L 48,822 28,033 29,020 62,718 62,261
Investment properties BREME - - - 21,300 =
Intangible assets BREE 7,571 430 430 430 =
Right-of-use assets HREEE 36,158 = = = =
Prepayment BRI RIE 1,050 = = = =
Deferred tax assets ERERIBEE 450 663 = = =
94,051 29,126 29,450 84,448 62,261
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables YR e 127,385 124,410 169,187 152,829 119,105
Contract assets BWEE 104,429 90,742 = = =
Gross amounts due from EREF&HIE
customers for contract work IR - - 35,022 43,891 26,363
Financial assets at fair value BATEFABRRZ
through profit or loss SREE 27,645 9,044 1,194 82,571 =
Amount due from a related party R — & BE S FUB 2,980 = = = =
Tax recoverable AL BB TR 401 2,230 179 14 -
Pledged bank deposit SERETER 6,753 6,611 6,500 = =
Bank deposits and IRITTE R RS ER A
balances and cash MR & 239,571 332,495 330,638 52,061 50,251
509,164 565,532 543,620 331,366 195,719
Total assets EEH#E 603,215 594,658 573,070 415,814 257,980
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves EXRFHE
Share capital e 26,629 26,310 26,310 26,310 22,880
Reserves & 274,514 315,372 344,118 318,750 143,581
Total equity B AE 301,143 341,682 370,428 345,060 166,461

B E A RA A
R grey 239
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Five Years Financial Summary

hEFEMEIRE
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—E-8f —T-NEFE —ZT-N\F ZET—+tF ZT—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET FET
LIABILITIES =L
Non-current liabilities EREEE
Borrowings B8 - 153 192 4,333 14,046
Lease liabilities HEEE 12,047 = = = =
Deferred tax liabilities ELERBEERE 3,255 2,205 3,550 5,848 5,787
15,302 2,358 3,742 10,181 19,833
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMAERR 90,806 92,772 43,880 29,287 36,405
Contract liabilities AHEE 1,610 = = = =
Gross amounts due to customers  [ENEFEAA TR
for contract work FIEBEE - - 1,981 431 16,544
Amount due to a former subsidiary & — 5 AT Bt B A B FUA 10,641 10,641 = = =
Loan from a related party —HHEEFER 141,750 143,438 136,688 = =
Amount due to a related party e —RBER IR 14,776 = = = =
Borrowings e - 179 4,819 29,888 15,823
Lease liabilities HEERE 23,931 = = = =
Current income tax liabilities ISR B fE 3,256 3,588 11,532 967 2914
286,770 250,618 198,900 60,573 71,686
Total liabilities BEHEE 302,072 252,976 202,642 70,754 91,519
Total equity and liabilities ERkBEAE 603,215 594,658 573,070 415,814 257,980
Net current assets FRBEE 222,394 314,914 344,720 270,793 124,033
Total assets less EEAERABER
current liabilities 316,445 344,040 374,170 355,241 186,294
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